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PREFACE TO THE FOURTH EDITION

IN presenting the fourth cdition of The Face of London, [ again wish
to thank my readers. Owing to the great interest which they have dis-
played towards this work, it has been possible in the Fourth Edition
to correct a number of minor errors notified to me by various
readers. As a general rule, these relate to those particalar districts
of this vast metropolis in which they reside, and with which they
arc naturally more intimatc. An ambitious work like The Face of
London is more pronc to crrors than most others if only because of
the enormous amount of detail recorded in its pages. The texe has
likewisc been brought up to date and, by utilizing the vacant spaces
available at the end of cach chapter, it has been possible to inelude
all the principal changes and improvements which have taken place in
the metropolis between 1931 and 1933.

HAROLD PHILIP CLUNN.
1933.






CONTENTS

PAGE

INTRODUCTION

FIRST WALK

The Hub of the City; the Mansion House, the Royal Exchange, the Bank of
England and the Big Five Banks, the Stock Exchange, Broad Street, and
Threadneedle Street .

SECOND WALK

Cornhill, Leadenhall Street, St. Mary Axe, Houndsditch, Liv. rpool Street,
Blshopsgatc, Gracechurch Street, and Lombard Street .

THIRD WALK

King William Street, London Bridge, Eastcheap, Fenchurch Street, the Port of
London Authority, the Minories, Great Tower Street, Lower Thames Strect, and
the Monument

FOURTH WALK

Queen Victoria Street, Blackfriars Bndgc, New Bridge Street, Farringdon
Street, Ludgate Hill, Old Bailey, St. Paul’s Churchyard Cannon Street, South-
wark Bridge, and Qucen Street, &c. . . . .

FIFTH WALK
Cheapside and its Tributaries, Guildhall, St. Martin’s le Grand, Newgate Street,
Holborn Viaduct, Holborn, Chancery Lane, Temple Bar, and Flect Street

SIXTH WALK

Princes Street, Moorgate, London Wall, Finsbury Circus, Finsbury Square,
Bunhill Ficlds, Chiswell Street, Fore Street, Barbxcan, Aldcrsgatc Street, and
Gresham Street . .

SEVENTH WALK
From Temple Bar to the Law Courts, Strand, Aldwych, Klngsw1y, Lincoln’s
Inn, Great Queen Street, Drury Lane, and Catherine Street

EIGHTH WALK
From Blackfriars along the Victoria Embankment, Northumberland Avenue,
and the Strand to Wellington Sereet . . . . .

NINTH WALK
High Holborn, Bloomsbury, New Oxford Street, Tottenham Court Road,
Euston Road, St. Pancras, King’s Cross, Pentonville, and Clerkenwell . .

TENTH WALK
Charing Cross, Trafalgar Square, Haymarket, Leicester Square, Covent Garden,
Long Acre, St. Martin’s Lane, Soho, and Shaftesbury Avenue

ELEVENTH WALK
Charing Cross to the Mall, Carlton House Tcrracc,Watcrloo Place, Plccadxlly
Circus, Regent Street, Portland Place, and Regent’s Park .

19

31

42

SI

82

93

107

124

141

156



CONTENTS

x
TWELFTH WALK
Piccadilly Circus to Bond Street, Mayfa

PAGE
ir, Hyde Park Corner, Park Lane, Marble

Arch, and Brook Street . . 173
THIRTEENTH WALK ,
Jermyn Street, St. James's Street, Marlborough Gate, St. James's Palace,
Buckingham Palace, St. James’s Park, Constitution Hill, and Pall Mall . . 190
FOURTUEENTH WALK . )
Charing Cross, Whitchall, the Government Buildings, Westminster Bridge,
Houses of Parliament, Westminster Abbey, Dean’s Yard, Westminster School,
Millbark, and Great Smith Street . . 201
FIFTELNTH WALK .
Parliament Square, Victoria Strect, Broadway, Tothill Street, Westminster
Cathedral, Victoria Station, South Belgravia, Buckingham Palace Road,
Birdcage Walk . . . . . . . . 214
SIXTEENTH WALK
St. Giles’s Circus, Oxford Street and Tributary Thoroughfares, Marylcbone,
Edgware Road, Maida Vale, St. John’s Wood, &c. . . . . 228
SEVENTEENTH WALK
From the Bank to Shoreditch, Hoxton, Spitalficlds, Whitechapcl, Bethnal Green,

. . . 246

Mile End, Victoria Park, and Stepney . .

EIGHTEENTH WALK
The Port of London, Shadwell, Limehouse, Isle of Dogs, Poplar, Canning
Town, West Ham, Woolwich, Greenwich, Deptford, and Bermondsey . 259

NINETEENTH WALK
Southwark and Lambeth, including Borough High Strect, St. George's Circus,
Waterloo Station, County Hall, St. Thomas’s Hospital, Lambeth Palace, and

Vauxhall and Kennington 278

TWENTIETH WALK
City Road, Islington, Highbury, Holloway, Muswell Hill, Hornsey, Highgate,

Hampstcad, Camden Town, &c. 297

TWENTY-FIRST WALK
Hyde Park and Kensington Gardens . . . . . . 315

TWENTY-SECOND WALK
Hyde Park Comer, Knightsbridge, Brompton Road, Sloane Street, and

Belgravia 325

TWENTY-THIRD WALK
The Royal Borough of Kensington and its Neighbours . . . 339

TWENTY-FOURTH WALK
Chelsea, Battersea Park, Fulham, Hammersmith, and Shepherd’s Bush . 350

TWENTY-FIFTH WALK
Paddington, Bayswater, Maida Vale, Kilbumn, Willesden, Cricklewood, Hendon,

and Golders Green . . 379



CONTENTS xi

FIRST DRIVE PAGE
A tour of the North-Eastern Suburbs . . . . . 394
SECOND DRIVE

A tour of the Southern Suburbs 409
THIRD DRIVE

A tour of the South-Western Suburbs 427
FOURTH DRIVE

A tour of the North-Western Suburbs . . . . . 414
FIFTH DRIVE

The outlying dormitories of London . . . . . - 458
ADDENDUM . . . . . . . . 482
INDEX OF NAMES . . . . . . . 491

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Fleet Street, with the Law Courts and Church of St. Clement Danes  Frontispiece

FACING PAGE

20

London in 1770
London in 1817 }

The hub of the City in 1851
The hub of the City in 1931}

The Bank buildings in front of the old Royal Exchange in 1837l 26

The new south front of the Bank of England

Excise Office

Old Broad Street in 1831, showmg the church of St. Peter-le-Poor and the }
. . . 28
The collapse of the roadway in Com}nll in August x927

Lcadenhall Sereet in 1831, showing the old East India Housc} 32

Leadenhall Street in 1931

The Sir Paul Pindar tavern and old houses in Bishopsgate demolished in 1890 }

Bishopsgate to-day, showing the east front of Liverpool Street Station . 36

A view of Lombard Street, looking south, showing the recently demolished
banking premises . . . . . .38

Cornhill, looking south, showmg the Royal Exchange and the new Lloyds
Bank . .

Work on the construction of thc new London Brldgc, wlnlc thc tmﬂ' ic con-~
tinued to use the old bridge

The head offices of the Port of London Authority in Trinity Square . . 46

The Pool of London viewed from London Bridge
Work on the northern approach to the new London Bndge, showmg St. 50
Michael’s Church, Crooked Lane, prior to its demolition .



LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

he Roman tessellated pavement near the Poultry in 1869 } 5
of the National Provincial Bank in the Poultry

xn FACING PAGE

The discovery of t
The new premises

The first Blackfriars Bridge, demolished in 1863 . . . . 54
i ’ 1Hotel
The partly constructed Unilever House on the site of De Keyser’s Royal Hote
H.M. the King driving down Ludgate Hill after reopening St. Paul’s )
Cathedral on June 25, 1930 . . . . . S
Ludgare Hill in 1829, prior to the formation of Ludgate Circus .
An exccution day at Newgate in the fifties of the last century } ) 62
The original St. Paul’s School, demolished about 1885
Work on the construction nf Holborn Viaduct in 1867 } ) ' —
Middle Row, Holborn, demolished in 1867
The new head office of the Westminster Bank, in Lothbury ) ] .
Ely Place, Holborn . . . . . .
The rookery of Field Lane, demolished in 1844, showing the Fleet ditch on the
lefe . . . . . . . . . . 6
The garden of Ely House, built by Bishop Arundel in 1388, now covered by 7
Ely Place . . . . . . . .
The new offices of the Daily Telegraph in Fleet Strect 78
The new offices of the Daily Express in Flect Street 80
London Wall in 1800, showing the original Bethlehem Hospital 84
A present-day view of London Wall, looking west } ' :
The Britannic House, Finsbury Circus . .
New buildings lining the south side of Finsbury Square } . - 88
The original City of London School in Milk Street, Cheapside . . 04

The Strand prior to the improvements carried out between 1790 and 1815

The Prince and Princess of Wales driving through Temple Bar on March 7, 1863 o8
Aldwych, looking cast from Kingsway. Bush House on the righe } ?

Work on the construction of Kingsway. View, looking cast from Aldwych,
. . . . . 102

in 1905 . . .
Kingsway as scen from Bush House .

the Savoy Hotel . . 110

The Victoria Embankment, looking east, showing the former Hotel Cecil and
The proposed Shell Mex building on the Victoria Embankment . }

Hungerford Market, demolished about 1863 . . . .
Old Hungerford Suspension Bridge, opened in 1845 and now removed to } 116
Clifton, ncar Bristol . . . . . .

Northumberland House and entrance to the Strand in 1800 8
The disaster to the Cricket on August 27, 1847 ’ ) -

Old houscs on the north side of the Strand, demolished in 1904
The Strand in 1931, looking east from Agar Street } ’ - 120

Brettenham House, Lancaster Place, Strand . . . . . I22



LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS xiii

FAC!
The New Victoria House of the Liverpool and Victoria Fricndly Society mrNG e
Southampton Row . . 126
Traffic congestion in High Holbom, lookmg west from ngsway

The St. Giles's Rookery, mostly demolished about 1846
New Oxford Street, looking cast from St. Giles’s Circus } 128
The Midland Grand Hotel in Euston Road
Sadler’s Wells Theatre in 1830 } 132
The Wellcome Research Institution .
The new Lambeth Bridge looking towards Thames House } 134
Trafalgar Square, Sunday, November 13, 1887 \
The proposed offices of the Union of South Africa in Trafalgar Squarc J 42
The Haymarket Opera House, afterwards Her Majesty’s Theatre, erected in

1790 . . 144
The Carlton Hotel and His Majcsty s Thcatrc, rebuilt in 1895 }
The tower of the new Masonic Temple, as scen from Long Acre .
Old Compton Street, looking east, showing the Prince Edward Theatre } 152
Old Carlton Housc, pulled down in 1828 . 8
Waterloo Place, looking towards Piccadilly Circus } : : ) =I5

The old Regent Street Quadrant prior to the removal of the colonnade in

1848 . .
Crowds waiting to grcct the ng and Quccn durmg their drive down chcnt b 162

Street on June 23, 1927

A view of the Quadrant, Regent Street .

King George V and Queen Mary drlvmg through the new chent Strcct 164
on June 23, 1927 .

Piccadilly Circus .

Broadcasting House, Langham Place } : : : : : - 170

The Westminster Bank, Piccadilly Branch p

The Straits of Bond Street . , : : : : - 17

The new Devonshire House . . . . . . 178

A corner of Paris in London. The Ritz Hotel, Plccadllly 8

A traffic block in Park Lane in 1864 . ’ . : - 182

Dorchester House, pulled down in 1929 . g

The Dorchester Hotel, opened in April, 1931 } ’ : : - I

St. James’s Street, looking south from Piccadilly .

The Board of Education and Mmlstry of Health Offices viewed from New 192
Bridge Street . . .

The castern front of Buckingham Palace in 1831 ,

The castern front of Buckingham Palace to-day : : : - 194

The Home and Colonial Offices, from St. James’s Park , 20

A present-day view of Westminster Bridge ’ ’ - 204

The first Westminster Bridge, demolished in 1861

Another view of the old Westminster Bndgc, showmg the Abbcy and 206
‘Westminster Hall about 1830 . . .



xiv LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FACING PAGE
Flood lighting at Westminster in 1931 } ) a0
Gothic houses forming the entrance to Dean's Yard Westminster

Flood lighting at Thames House, Millbank .

212

Victoria Street, showing buildings in course of erection in 1854 .
A bird’s-eye view of Parliament Street and Whitehall about 1860, showinga ¢ 216

Royal Procession to open Parliament
The Head Offices of the Underground Railway at Broadway, Westminster . 218

New Victoria Picture Theatre, Vauxhall Bridge Road
The proposed terminal station of Coastal Coaches, Ltd., in Buckmgham 224

Palace Road and Elizabeth Street .

Oxford Street, looking cast . } .
Great Portland Street, looking south : : . . - 232

Murylebone Gardens in 1790 . 216
Orchard Court, on the cast side of Portman Squarc ; : : - 23

Chiltern Court, Marylebone Road }
Maida Vale, looking north : : . : : - 240

Abbey House, Upper Baker Street . . . . . . . 244

Christ Church, Spitalficlds
Commercial Strcct,Whntcchapcl ’ 250
Whitechapel High Street .
Whitechapel Mount in 1801, from a drawmg } : 234
Bethnal Green Road (from a photograph taken in 1905
The lake in Victoria Park . . . ) , 256
The London Docks about 1831 .
Whaling boats in the West India Dock in 1806 } 260
Salmon Lane and Limehouse Church
Limchouse Causeway . } : 264
Building the Great Eastern steamship at Millwall in 1857 . . . . 266
A bird’s-cye view of the Royal Albert and ng Gcorgc V Docks
Barking Road, Canning Town } 268
Greenwich Hospital, from the Isle of Dogs, about 1840
Rotherhithe, from the Thames, about 1840 } 272
Work on the southern approach to London Bridge . }

280

The spot where Captain Braidwood was killed in the Tooley Strcct fire of 1861

The ruins of Winchester Palace, Southwark, about 1800 .
Work on the construction of the new London Bridge, viewed from Southw;\rk ! 282
about 1825 . . .

The London County Council dwcllmgs in Tabard Street }

Kennington Gate on Derby Day in 1828 . . - 286
Waterloo Station

The County Hall } * : : - 290
Old Lambeth Bridge .

Vauxhall Gardens about 1800 } : : : : . : - 202



LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS xv

Colebrooke Row, Islington

} FACING PAGE
Islington Green in 1780 298
Highbury Barn tea-gardens about 1820

Mare Street, Hackney, in 1731 } 302
Archway Road, Highgate, in 1820

Highgate Village about 1820 . } : : : : : - 306
Heath Street, Hampstead .

A restful corner of Hampstead Hcath } : : : : - 310
Chalk Farm Tavern about 1800 .

The Carreras Cigarette Factory, Mormngton Crcsccnt } ) : -2
The mob tearing down the railings of Hydc Park in 1866 P
The Lansbury Lido, Hyde Park } ’ ’ -3
Queen Victoria opening the Great Exhibition of 1851 in Hydc Park

Recruits drilling in Hyde Park in 1914 . } - 320
The site of Albert Gate in 1840 .

Parkside, anhtsbrldgc, lookmg west, pnot to thc w1dcn1ng camcd out in 326

1002 .
The Halfway House, Kensington Road demohshed in 1846 o
Pavilion House, near Sloane Street, demolished about 1877 } ) : -3
Brompton Road in 1902 1
Brompton Road in 1931 ’ : : : ’ : : : -3
Kensington House, built by Albert Grant, and demolished in 1883 } 142
Kensington High Street in course of rebuilding . : -3

The last of Phillimore Terrace, demolished in 1931 148
The International Exhibition of 1862. Main entrance ’ : : : '

A bird's-eye view of the museums and colleges of South Kensington . . 354

The Rotunda, Old Ranelagh Gardcns, demolished in 1804 360
Cheyne Walk about 1800 . . . } ' ’ ’

Cycling in Battersea Park in 1895 368
Cremorne Gardens, abolished in 1877 : : : : : :
Hammersmith Broadway . 374
The Thames at Hammersmith : : : ’ * : :
Olympia, Hammersmith Road . . . . . . . 376
The Court of Honour, White City, in 1908 380
Train’s strect railway. The Bayswater line near the Marble Arch in 1861 ’ ’

The Paddington Canal about 1820 438
Golders Green Road . , . . . . . .

Shoreditch High Street, lookmg north .
London Fields . ] . . . . . . 39

Tottenham Cross and High Road . l 400
Epping High Street and Parish Church ) ) ’ ’ '

A bird’s-eye view of Epping Forest, looking north . . . . 402



xvi LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS
A shopping centre of Dagenham . l ) FACIN? p:gg
Modern factories frontmg the North Clrcular Road at chdon

Tranquil Vale, Blackheath . . . 412
Dulwich village } ) ’ ) ’

The Crystal Palace ) ) ) ) . . ) . 420
North End, Croydon

Chiswick Chuich e
Strand on the Green } : : . . . . .

The Market Place, Kingston . 434
Hamptou Court Palace, from the Home Park }

The Palm House, Kew Gardens . 6
The Star and Garter Home for Disabled Soldlcrs and S:ulors, Rlchmond Hill } 43
Ealing Broudway

Uxbridge High Street } 444

Harrow-on-the-Hill . o
British Empire Exhibition, Wcmblcy, 1924 } ) ) : - 45

Edgware
High Barnet } : : . . . . . . . . 456

Eton College Chapel from Barnspool Brldgc
Windsor Castle from the Thames } ’ ) ) ) - 460

Guildford High Strect }

The Town Hall, Reigate 464
King’s Road, Brighton .

The Pantiles, Tunbridge Wells } : .« 470
The Marine Drive, Southend-on-Sea

The Shire Hall, Chelmsford . ’ 474
Bishop’s Stortford }

High Strcet, Hertford 476,
The Market Place, St. Albans

Chalfont St. Giles } : : : . : . - 48



INTRODUCTION

HE following work is an attempt to present, within the limits of
Ta single volume, a bird’s-cye view of the growth, progress, and
development of the world’s most wonderful city. Its main features
have been confined .o the century from 1831 to 1931, but much
information dating farther back has also been included, without which
the historical interest of the book would be considerably smaller.

A work of this kind cannot claim to be original or to remain up to
date for any length of time, having regard to the constant changes v. hich
arc taking place in this mighty city, but no effort has been spared by the
writer to incorporate such features as have not hitherto been chronicled
in works on London. He will always be glad to receive notification
from his readers of any errors which may have crept into his work.

In compiling a work dealing with the entire metropolis and its
suburbs, the problem is to determine the most suitable method of
portraying it in such# way as to render it useful and interesting. After
carcful consideration, the writer has come to the conclusion that a work
of this sort can. pest be presented in the form of a series of walks and
motor drives. The walks are described in the chapters describing the
smaller ~reas in the heart of London, whereas the motor tours are in-
tended to apply to those dealing with the more extensive areas of Greater
London. Then again, so many of London’s daily workers now reside at
a distance of twenty miles or more from the City, that many of the
surrounding towns and villages are assuming the character of outlying
dormitorics. Such being the case, the writer has thought it right to
devote a special chapter to a general survey of those towns which are
within one hour’s journey from the centre of London. This brings in
such places as Windsor, Guildford, Brighton, Tunbridge Wells, South-
end-on-Sea, Chelmsford, St. Albans, and many more.

Owing to the vast amount of material contained in this work, it has
not been found practicable to include a description of the interiors of
our numerous churches, muscums, and other public buildings, but since
these figure in cvery history and guide book of London, the writer has
deemed this quite superfluous. Needless to add, a work of this nature
can only be compiled with the aid of numerous authorities and works
of reference. To all these the writer desires to cxpress his grateful thanks.

A century ago London could properly be termed an oblong-shaped
city with a much greater extent from east to west than from north to
south, but owing to its rapid growth on the south side of the Thames in
more recent times, it now presents more the form of a square with a
maximum length and breadth of twenty miles. Eighteenth-century
London presented the anomaly of a city increasing greatly in size but
almost stationary in population, despite a steady influx of people from
the provinces. It extended already from Hyde Park on the west to Mile
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End and Limchouse on the east. The estimated population in 1700 was
700,000, with no further increase down to 1750. This absence of progress
was largely due to the heavy mortality from typhus and small-pox,
which caused the deaths to cxceed the births, and was further aggravated
by the overcrowding of the poor in huge rookeries as squalid as any
that had existed before the days of the Great Fire of 1666. Other contri-
butory factors were primitive sanitation and the lack of any central
authority to control the districts outside the City.

Medicval London with its frequent visitations of the plaguc is said to
have had a lower death-rate than Georgian London with its constant
ravages of infectious disease. Its magnificent squares and spacious streets
were offsct by the rookerics of Westminster, St. Giles, and Southwark.
Yet even then London was deemed to be extremely well built, the
houses being mostly of brick and the shops of much better appearance
than those commonly scen in any other city in Europe. By 1700 it had
alrcady become the largest city in the world and was said to have been
unexcelled in size by any other city cxcepting ancient Rome. After the
Grecat Fire of 1666, London had a splendid opportunity of laying out
her strects and houses with due regard for domestic comfort, con-
venience, and beauty, but then, as now, private interests were allowed
to stand in the way of London’s future welfare. Thus the enlightened
tradesmen of that age were more concerned with the contents of their
warchouses and shops than with their approaches and appearance. The
buildings werc huddled and packed together like the bales and casks
they contained, without any regard to fresh air and sunlight.

By 1801 the population of London had increased to 865,000, or taking
that of the combined parishes within an cight-mile radius of St. Paul’s
Cathedral, to 1,030,000. Even so, visitors arriving in London by
road were impressed by the immense size of the outer villages and
suburbs, a thing which largely escapes the notice of those arriving by
railway.

Successive years of war, notably those of Napoleon and the recent
World War, have been indirectly responsible for great developments
in the metropolis. Vast resources have been brought into action by the
financial situation then obtaining, and by the creation of paper curren-
cies beyond all parallel, thus enabling individuals to spend much more
moncy than they could otherwise have done. Inaddition, the emergency
operations arising out of such wars have compelled the Governments
of the day, as well as the various trading and commercial companies,
to cmploy a larger number of people in London.

Thus between 1801 and 1831 the growth of London was remarkable,
increasing from 865,000 to 1,474,000, or including the suburbs within
the cight-mile radius, from 1,030,000 to 1,776,000, or nearly 75 per cent.
in thirty years. That London could grow with such rapidity before ever
the first railway or rapid mcans of transit had been invented, was a
phenomenon unparalleled even in the annals of ancient Rome. By the
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time the first railway entered the metropolis, London had actually
doubled its population within the short period of thirty-five years,
and had further increased by 1841 to 1,870,000, and including the outer
district, to 2,235,000.

A writerin theMonthlyMagazine for February1811asserted that within
the preceding forty years a thousand houses had been added each year
to the metropolis, this increasc being partly due to the number of retired
people and civil scrvants quartered there. Between 1821 and 1831
London grew with such amazing rapidity that Paddington, Marylebone,
and St. Pancras doubled their populations within those few ycars;
almost endless lines of new houscs were then crected. To quotc a re-
mark made at that time, Kennington, Camberwell, Hackney, Bethnal
Green, Stoke Newington, Highbury, Chelsea, Knightsbridge, and even
Kensington, were making haste to join London. In this year of grace
1931 it is places three times the distance of these inner districts from the
City, such as Bromley, Downham, Eltham, Dagenham, Romford,
Enfield, Barnet, Edgware, Southall, Hounslow, Kingston, and Croydon,
that are making haste to join, and cven the distant towns of Watford
and Caterham, over fiftcen miles from the City, are rapidly becoming
joined to the great province of houses by continuous lincs of straggling
suburban villas and large private residences.

The reign of George IV, justly termed the Augustan age of London,
did scarcely less for the metropolis than was boasted by the Emperor
Augustus when he declared that he found Rome built of brick, and
left it of marble. Richer and more varied architecture and park-like
scenery replaced shabby houses and cow-sheds, and fine new roads were
constructed, inviting favourable comparison cither with those of
ancient Rome or the best which have been since constructed in or around
this great metropolis. Certainly our grandfathers must be accorded their
share of the credit for the great progress which has taken place since
the dawn of the nineteenth century. The splendid wide streets of
Bloomsbury, Belgravia, and St. George’s-in-the-Fields show that they
greatly appreciated the blessings of fresh air and fine homes. The wide
roads leading into the centre of London from both the north and south
sides of the Thames, with their rows of well-built houses standing back
in long front gardens, show that they knew how to build fine suburbs
to suit the requirements of their own age.

By 1831 it was not only in architectural beauty and town-planning
that London had improved, but its moral and intellectual progress
had been commensurate with its embellishment. During the previous
forty years the people themselves had altered as much in appearance as
the place itself. Their dress, manners, and morals had improved, and
alrcady the use of machinery had made clothes cheap, resulting in an
improved standard of behaviour and deportment to such an extent that
the Emperor of Russia upon visiting England in 1814 inquired, “Where
are your poor2” Coffee-houses had already done much to raise the

B2
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character of the working classes; formerly artisans or single men had
no better placc than a public house to go for their breakfast. Institu-
tions and Savings Banks had already begun to confer great benefits
upon the working classcs. ‘ o

The introduction of gas-lighting into the streets of 'Lo'ndon carly in
the nineteenth century greatly lessened the danger to its inhabitants of
going out after dark. Mr. Hughson, writing in 1817, asscrts that owing
to the vigilance and exertions of Mr. Matthew Wood, then Lord
Mayor of London, the City had been entirely clcared of common
prostitutes and that the officers and their watchmen had been cgmpcllcd
to do their duty so thoroughly that according to the latest official report
thicves then appeared afraid to enter the City. But then Mr. Hughson
was undoubtedly an optimist. He cricd victory too soon, for now in
this year of grace 1931 we arc confronted with the motor bandit, the
bag snatcher, and the problem of Hyde Park after dark. Unfortunately
crime can hardly be said to have diminished in proportion to the
material improvement of the populace. On the contrary, its scope
has been greatly enlarged owing to the spread of modern inventions,
or to quotc the French proverb, ‘Plus ¢a change plus c’est la méme
chose.”

Before the creation of the Metropolitan Police Force in 1829, the
policing of the metropolis at night-time was chicfly entrusted to elderly
men, mostly hired at a small weekly wage by the different parishes, and
provided with a greatcoat, staff, and rattle. Each watchman had a
regular beat which it was his duty to perambulate several times in the
hour, and ludicrous though it may now scem, to proclaim aloud the
time and state of the weather. The entire force of watchmen, including
the patrols and inspectors, did not exceed 4,000, whercas to-day the
Metropolitan Police Force numbers 25,000.

Writing in 1833, Mr. ]. Britton, F.S.A., author of The Original
Picture of London, says:

“We don’t deny that there are various classes of sharpers and imposters
in London, but as their places of rendezvous are generally gaming
houses, brothels, and amongst the occasional crowds on public occa-
sions, thesc may be fairly avoided by any stranger. He should also
forbear to carry much moncy in his pocket and at places of public resort
he should resist the apparently polite and kind attentions of unknown
persons, guard against intoxication, the company of the frail sisterhood,
retire to his home after twelve o’clock at nighe, and he will then be
likely to avoid personal dangers and be freed from impositions. When
flats voluntarily place themselves in the way of sharps, the latter will
readily transpose them into naturals. If fools obtrude themsclves into
the company of knaves, they have no right to complain of being
cheated.’

The writer of these words added that he had lived in London for
forty-seven years, had traversed the streets by day and night, frequented
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all its public places and thus mixed with various classes of society, and
had never been robbed or suffered any personal injury.

The passing of the new Police Act produced the most beneficial
effect upon the morals of the metropolis. The frightful scenes of bestial
drunkenness no longer desccrated the Sabbath, and no longer rendered
the public highways impassable to the well-conducted, nor were the
slumbers of the tircd citizens disturbed by the boisterous blackguardism
of the drunken and dissolute. Stcaling door-knockers and ringing bells
ceased to be laughed at as fashionable frolics, and the fear of the tread-
mill proved the best cure for thosc outbursts of aristocratic wit.

Until after 1860 heavy sentences of three years” penal servitude were
imposed upon women shoplifters and other people for smaller offences.
Whilst vindictive punishment out of all proportion to the crime com-
mitted makes criminals rather than reforms them, the trivial sentences
now imposed by our magistrates for shoplifting has led to a great
increase amongst women in that form of crime. An outbreak of
robberics with violence, known as ‘garotting’, which broke out in
London in 1862 was ruthlessly suppressed by flogging. Similar punish-
ment meted out in our own day to the bag snatcher might well produce
an cqually beneficial result.

Though London was generally admitted cven then to be the finest
city in the world, it was rcmarked by the leading authoritics in 1831
that a review of the recent buildings erccted between Buckingham
Palace on the west and the Custom House on the east caused one to
lament the many failures which they displayed. In some respects
London was behind the other great cities of Europe, notably in the
matter of hotel accommodation, which less than a century ago was
said to be inferior to all others with the exception of Constantinople.
Though London possessed a few high-class family hotels in the West
End, it was not until the fifties and sixties of the last century, when such
hotels as the Westminster Palace, the Great Western, the Langham, and
the leading railway hotels were crected, that the supply became equal to
the demand. Toll-gates persisted in London for long after they had been
abolished in some other countries, and remained as an unmitigated
nuisance to the free circulation of the traffic until 1868. The very
objectionable window-tax also remained in force until well after 1850,
despite the most strenuous cfforts to get it repealed, and burials still
took place in the crowded churchyards in the centre of London to the
great detriment of the public health. Public executions at Newgate
were not abolished until 1868.

In respect of its sanitation, London was probably superior, even a
century ago, to most other great citics, having regard to the backward
state of affairs which prevailed everywhere. Even so, it was very
defective from a present-day standpoint. Before the construction of the
new main drainage system in 1859, the stench on the river between
Westminster Bridge and Blackwall was abominable when hot weather
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sctin. The giganticimprovementin the sanitation of London is reflected
in the death-rate, which has dropped from 31 in the thousand in 1831
to less than 10 in the thousand in 1931. The main drainage system now
covers about 159 square miles and comprises 400 mil;s of main storm
relief, intercepting and outfall sewers, eleven pumping stations, two
sewage precipitation stations, and five sludge v.csscls. . .

Notwithstanding the success of the carlier railways laid down in the
north of England, London was slow to adopt the new method of transit,
and it was not until 1836 that the first linc was opened between London
and Greenwich. Previous to that time some 600 coaches and other con-
veyances brought 50,000 toilers daily into the city from all parts of the
metropolis. By 1845 the rage for railway speculation had become so
great that there were more strangers in London than there had been at
any time since the Coronation of Queen Victoria. Many of these were
witnesses in attendance for the purpose of giving cvidence before the
special Parliamentary Committees, together with numerous solicitors
and agents. However, many bogus railway companies were formed
which never materialized as honest concerns and the general public
declined to meet the calls due on allotment which could not successfully
be enforced by law.

Omnibuses were first introduced into the streets of London by
Shillibeer in 1829, and by 1853 their numbers had increased to 3,000,
cach carrying 300 passengers daily or 2,000 per week, or an aggregate
of 300 million a ycar. In 1856 various small omnibus companics were
absorbed by the French General Omnibus Company of London, the
management of which was afterwards taken over by an English Board
of Directors. About 1849 the so-called knife-board type of omnibus
came into gencral use on the streets of London. Stairs not yet having
been evolved, passengers riding outside had to climb to the roof by a
serics of iron rungs on the right of the door. The knife-board was a
central scat running longitudinally the length of the roof and divided
into two by a low vertical partition so that the outside passengers sat
back to back with their feet against skirting-boards fixed to the edges
of the roof. No sclf-respecting woman was ever seen on the knife-board
unless the vehicle was specially chartered for a picnic or outing, upon
which occasions a ladder would be provided for their decent ascension,
during which all males looked the other way. The floor inside the
buses was usually covered with a thick layer of straw, dry and clean
cvery morning, but in wet weather damp, dirty, and smelly for the rest
of the day. The first omnibuses to be provided with stairs were those
introduced by the Metropolitan Railway about 1864 between Portland
Road Station and Piccadilly Circus in connexion with their trains.

In 1834 Mr. ]. A. Hansom of Birmingham invented the curious cab
named after him, and in 1842 the Reynolds improved patent safety-
cab was first put on the streets of London. It was designed to remedy the
objection made to the driver sitting in front of the passenger so as to
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obstruct his view. The modern style of hansom cab was the invention
of Sir J. Clifton Robinson, who was well known in connexion with
the development of tramways, and was first placed on the streets
in 1887.

Despite the ever-increasing congestion of traffic existing in every
great city at the present day, that of London was even greater in the
forties and fifties of last century. For the benefit of those Londoners
who question the accuracy of this statement, we cannot do better
than quote the following article from the Illustrated London News of
31 October 1846:

‘Great as are the inconveniences which have arisen with the growth
of London, we seem to have little of that courage with which such
difficulties should be grappled with; all our principal thoroughfares have
become too small for the enormous stream of traffic hourly poured
through them. We want new roads, long and wide, establishing perfect
lines of communication between the extremitics, yet the best we can
do is to patch and mend, bit by bit and fearful of the cost of a real grand
improvement, fritter away half a million in a back strect. London we
repeat is not now a city, it has outgrown the population and dimensions
of a capital and has become a nation of itsclf, busier and more populous
than many sovereign states that fill a considerable space on the map of
Europe. What was the old city has become the mere centre of the mass
surrounded for miles in every direction by thickly populated districts.
Their traffic passcs through from point to point in every possible direc-
tion, railways pour in their hourly contributions from every corner of
the kingdom, and from the centre outwards there is a never ccasing
export of men and merchandise, the material trade of nearly two
millions of human beings, the intercourse and activity of an empire, and
the commerce of half a world now run through streets and ways built
nearly two centuries ago, and very badly even for the age that planned
them, or rather built them without any plan at all. The result is that the
streets of London are choked by their ordinary traffic, and the lifc blood
of the huge giant is compelled te run through veins and arterics that
have never expanded since the days and dimensions of its infancy.
What wonder is it that the circulation is an unhcalthy one: that the
quantity carried to each part of the frame is insufficient for the demands
of its bulk and strength, that there is dangerous pressure in the main
channels and morbid disturbance of the current, in all causing daily
stoppages of the vital functions, a kind of diurnal apoplexy which the
ministration of Mr. Daniel Whittle Harvey and his surgeons palliates
slightly but can never prevent. No widening of these channels between
point and point within the great fabric can remove the pressure, at best
it will only redistribute it, leaving it on some points, to concentrate
again on another. The real remedy is the opening of entirely new routes
through the whole mass. The streams of traffic would then be diverted
into parallel lines, and it would be possible to pass through the metro-
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polis in which time is more valuable than any othcr in the world, at
something above the pace of a funeral. Impossible is the first exclama-
tion uttered when anything beyond the scale of ordinary doings is
proposed. But the word is losing its terror, we have disposed of so many
impossibilitics in the most effectual manner that the despairing voices
grow fewer and fainter. We even find men acknowledging that the
obstacles resolve themselves into two, namely the want of money and
the want of will. Of the two, the last is the most formidable, and as to
moncy, let us have the courage to spend a quarter as much in the con-
struction of peace as for the destruction of war and we should find it
casy cnough to obtain.’

Those wisc words were written cighty-five ycars ago, in reference
to the forthcoming construction of the new Cannon Street, but for
all practical purposes they might just as well have been written yester-
day. Many wonderful improvements in the shape of new streets and
the widening of the older ones have been carried out since that time,
but thanks to our English method of doing things by halves, the
advantages derived have been largely offset by the work which has
remained undone. The noble Victoria Embankment and Northumber-
land Avenuc have come into being and afford invaluable relief to the
cnormous traffic of the Strand and Fleet Strect, which have themselves
been greatly widened throughout almost their entire length from Lud-
gate Circus to Trafalgar Square. Victoria Street, Holborn Viaduct, and
Shaftesbury Avenue also figure amongst the great London improve-
ments of the nineteenth century.

The uniformity of Cannon Street is broken by the tiresome bottle-
neck at the western end adjoining St. Paul’s Churchyard, and a similar
obstruction reduces the width of the spacious Queen Victoria Street
opposite the Mansion House Station {rom 80 feet to 55 feet. Kingsway,
the master work of the London County Council, has been constructed
at a cost of /5,000,000, but High Holborn is suffered to remain too
narrow to accommodate four lines of traffic, and thanks to the igno-
minious surrender to faiatics we look like being deprived of the badly
needed construction of a new Watcrloo Bridge, in favour of the
spectacular Charing Cross Bridge at a cost of some £ 12,000,000. Owing
to the absence of any definite plans for the future requirements of Central
London, a splendid opportunity of widening the narrow end of Oxford
Street on the south side, as a result of extensive rebuilding operations
some twenty years ago, was lost, and a sccond opportunity of widening
the north side has more recently been prevented by the ercction of
Messrs. Lyons’s Oxford Corner House.

Instances in which valuable street widenings could have been carried
out in the past owing to rcbuilding could be multiplied indefinitely,
but thanks to private intercsts which have invariably been suffered to
stand in the path pf the more urgent requircments of London, many
golden opportunities of that kind have been lost for ever. In that respect,
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the attitude of London has not altered in any way since the days of Sir
Christopher Wren, whose plans for the improvement of the city were
similarly checkmated by private interests. This difficulty can and should
be overcome by formulating a general scheme for the improvement of
London as a whole, under which every main street which is of in-
sufficient width to accommodate four lines of vehicular traffic would be
scheduled for future widening as and when opportunitics permit. We
want a through road from the Bank to the Marble Arch capable of
taking four lines of traffic for the entire distance. In order to fulfil this
requirement, High Holborn and the narrow end of Oxford Street
should be widened, and likewise Cheapside opposite Bow Church.
A new street should also be constructed at the back of the General Post
Office to connect Holborn Viaduct with a widened Gresham Street, and
Aldgate should be widened between the Minories and the junction of
Cornhill and Leadenhall Street. Other improvements badly needed in-
clude the widening of the narrow end of Tottenham Court Road, and
the construction of a new street from St. Giles’s Circus to connect with
Great Marlborough Street by way of Soho Square. The recent disloca-
tions to the traffic caused by the upheaval of gas mains and water-pipes in
this immediate locality and the absence of any relicf thoroughfare
prove this up to the hilt.

A new and noble Waterloo Bridge should be constructed with
accommodation for six lines of traffic, Piccadilly widened at the westerr.
end by sctting back the railings of the Green Park, the bottle-neck in the
centre of Bond Strect eliminated, Charing Cross widened on the cust
side between Trafalgar Square and Old Scotland Yard in order to bring
it into alinement with the greater width of Whitchall, and Cromwell
Road extended across the West London Railway to conncct it with the
proposed new bridge over the Thames between Fulham and Barnes.

Let such a programme as this be spread over a period of twenty ycars,
and the necessary Act of Parliament obtained to enable these improve-
ments to be carried out. Let us abandon the scheme for Charing Cross
Bridge, involving the colossal expenditure of £ 12,000,000, and instead
devote a similar sum of money to a war to the death on the narrow
streets and bottle-necksin the centre of London which exercise a strangle-
hold on the free circulation of London’s traffic. Until a determined eftort
is made by our local authorities to grapple with this problem, London
is not justified in expecting any practical solution of the traffic difficulty.
Congestion caused by cross traffic presents special difficultics which it
is not within our province to discuss, but congestion caused by narrow
streets and bottle-necks should be eliminated, and can be if the problemis
tackled on practical lines. Then again, the draughe-horse which sets the
pace for all other traffic in our narrow streets is a scandal which ought
not to be tolerated in any main thoroughfare of insufficient width to
accommodate at least four lines of vehicular traffic.

A century ago toil in London was severe and continual, as though



10 EXCESSIVE TOIL OF BYGONE DAYS

men were born only to feed power-looms and to weave cotton until
they died, leaving another gencration to follow the same carcer. In 1846
an attempt was made to bring in a ten hours a day working Bill, but
although it received much support, it failed to mature for many years
afterwards. Despite the enormous wealth which had been amassed by
Great Britain as the result of really hard work, everybody was not rich,
but cverybody was condemned to excessive toil. This applicd to all
excepting thosc who lived on their own private incomes. We were
constantly producing and exporting, so that the wealth of the world
flowed to this country as its natural centre. As a nation we were respected
and enviced, but then it was open to question whether our condition
was rcally so happy as it appeared on the surface. The vaults of the
Bank of England were filled with bullion and the Exchange was in
our favour in every country in Europe, and still we had our work-
houses filled with hungry men, great poverty in our cities, and people
overworked and underpaid. The average expectation of life was
shortened by this universal sacrifice to Mammon, and the wealth thus
created scemed to bring no corresponding happiness with it. As time
went on, it was felt that some limit should be imposed on that power
which dragged cvery class along with such terrible velocity and still
afforded but a bare subsistence to the vast majority in return.

Keen competition enforced the severest labour on those to whom
capital gave occupation, and so long as the employers never even
spared themselves it was futile to suppose that they would spare others.
This was particularly the case with the merchants and traders who never
really enjoyed the case which they could have commanded, but perished
instead in the prime of life. The desirc to make a fortune and to leave
their familics independent was frequently carried to excess, and the
industry which might have been spread over several generations was
condensed into one single lifetime spent in a fever of hustle and excite-
ment in order that their children might live in idleness and squander in
dissipation the wealth so dearly purchased by their fathers. Capitalists
were often annoyed by the superabundance of capital, which made it
very difficult for them to obtain even a moderate rate of intcrest on
loans for sccuritics of any kind.

To-day the pendulum has swung to the other extreme: capital is none
too plentiful and taxation is most onerous. The incentive to the in-
dustrious to save money is largely killed by the large proportion exacted
by the State in the form of heavy taxation. Nevertheless the average
father of our own age is too wisc to commit the fallacy of placing his
family above the necessity of working for their living even if he could.
The State now claims a large proportion of such wealth in the shape of
super-tax and dcath duties, and the income-tax collector can be relied
upon to sc that no undue cncouragement is given to that sort of thing.
This changed order of things seems to have robbed even the most
advanced socialism of its former sting. Wealth to-day is more evenly
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distributed, and the extremes between wealth and poverty which
caused good people to shudder a century ago now seem to be the excep-
tion rather than the rule.

Though the good work of ridding London of its worst slum areas,
such as Clare Market, St. Giles’s, Shoreditch, Bethnal Green, and South-
wark, has progressed steadily during the past fifty years, the dangers
from a sanitary and moral point of view arising from overcrowding
seem to have excited no interest whatever before the dawn of the
nineteenth century. This evil was very pronounced even as far back as
the reign of Queen Elizabeth when a proclamation to that effect was
issucd in 1580. But the anxicty felt was in no way due to sanitary con-
siderations, but on account of the administration of justice and the
provision of food at reasonable prices to meet the increase in population.
Hence people were forbidden to erect any more houses within three
miles of any of the gates of the City of London. Such legislation proving
of no avail in preventing cither the growth of the metropolis or the
overcrowding in its centre, it was not until 1851 that Parliament first
concerned itself with the quality and quantity of accommodatien
provided for the working classes in London. In that ycar Lord Ashley,
later the Earl of Shaftesbury, called public attention to the disgraceful
condition of the dwellings inhabited by the poorer classcs in London
and other grcat cities of the Kingdom. As the result of his efforts two
Acts were passed, which were known as Lord Shaftesbury’s Act and
the Labouring Classes Act, which empowered the local auchorities to
deal with insanitary property. Later in 1868 and 1885 further Acts were
passed which gave much wider powers to the local authorities to deal
with the overcrowding nuisance, including the right to condemn in-
sanitary property or carry out improvements themselves in the event of
the owner neglecting to keep them in a fit state of repair.

Happily the worst slum arcas have now disappeared, but others still
remain to be dealt with in back streets and neighbourhoods which
largely escape the notice of the general public. In addition to the good
work carried out by the London County Council and the various local
authorities, much has been accomplished by private enterprise since the
latter half of the nineteenth century, notably by the Peabody Trust, the
Guinness Trust, cstablished in 1889, and by Sir Sydney Waterlow, who
founded a limited company for the purpose of erecting blocks of work-
men’s dwellings.

But even the provision of excellent houses for the artisan classes will
not suffice to prevent such new neighbourhoods from often degenerat-
ing into new slums. We arec still confronted with the problem of the
individual of slovenly habits who creates new slums wherever he happens
to live. That is a failing which presumably can only be cured by educa-
tion and by public opinion. The man who would turn Becontree or
Dagenham into slums, and whose one and only desire is to reside near
the public-house, justly descrves to be ostracized by his fellow beings.
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Despite their monotonous streets and interminable rows of two-storied
houses, such places as West Ham, Tottenhatp, glnd Earlsfield are a big
improvement on the older working-class districts of Bethnal Green,
Hoxton, and Walworth, but they in turn are now completely eclipsed
by the garden suburbs of Dagenham, East Acton, Downham, Eltham,
and Burnt Oak, crected by the London County Council since the
late war.

In the matter of dress, London business men have ceased to go about
attircd in the heavy black frock-coats and top hats which gave them the
appearancc of undertakers a quarter of a century ago, an_d t'hc sh.ortcr
skirts worn by the ladies are an improvement from a hygienic point of
view, and prove that they are not ashamed to show how the Crcator
mode them. But the middle-class ladies of the nineteenth century,
despite their quaint dress and crinolines, were entitled to our prgfognd
respect inasmuch as they rarely indulged in rouge, powder, lipstick,
and kindred abominations. A generation ago any self-respecting mother
would have blushed for shame to allow her seventeen-ycar-old daughter
to walk through the streets of London looking for all the world as
though she had been picked up out of a bag of flour. The plea of ‘Honi
soit’ cannot be consistently advanced in this casc, but unfortunately
Jezebel has become firmly enthroned in our own day as Queen of
Fashion. In former days thesc tinted Venuses were very rightly ostracized
as “Whited Sepulchres’.

London suffers severcly from the wanton disfigurement of some of
her finest streets and squares by unsightly advertisement hoardings
crected over the entire upper floors of many houses. These are suffered
to mar the appearance of the reconstructed Piccadilly Circus, which
would otherwise be the finest open space of its kind in Europe, also in
the Strand, next door to Somerset Heuse, and facing Bush House and
the noble buildings on the north side of the Strand, and others are to be
seen facing the Law Courts and St. Clement’s Danc Church. Our people
are cmphatic enough in their condemnation of the disfigurement of the
country-side by hidcous hoardings, but here in the most splendid streets
of the metropolis where millions of people seck daily pleasure and
enjoyment, no sort of protest is ever raised against this wanton vandal-
ism, which suggests some third-rate mining town and would not be
tolerated in many another capital city.

In the forty years between 1831 and 1871 Greater London more than
doubled its population, which increased from 1,776,000 to 3,811,000,
and in the following forty years it nearly doubled again, rising by 1911

t0 7,252,000. By 1901 it was 6,581,000. The Great War causcd a slowing
down in the rate of increase in every belligerent capital city of Europe,
so that the population by 1921 had only increased to 7,476,000. The
census of 1931 returns a population of 8,202,818, being an increase
of 722,617 over that of 1921. A considerable decrease has taken placc
in the County of London itsclf, owing to the outward movement
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of the resident population. In the outer districts an enormous amount
of building has taken place since 1921. Entire new towns have sprung
up, such as Dagenham, Wembley, Hendon, Edgware, Downham,
Eltham, St. Helier, and East Acton. Outer London covers an arca of
over 400 squarc miles as against 117 square miles for the County of
London, and its rateable value, which in 1856 was £ 11,284,000 and in
1876 123,111,000, had increased by 1930 to £57,487,000.

Certain other citics can perhaps point to an even more spectacular
growth than London during the past fifty ycars, but then they are cities
of yesterday compared to London and belong essentially to the era of
modern transport, industry, and trade. New York with a population in
1930 of 6,900,000 and upwards of 9,000,000 within a fiftcen-mile radius
of the centre of the city is now perhaps the most highly populated city
in the world, but the metropolis of the United States, a couniry with
ncarly three times as many inhabitants as Great Britain, is bound to race
ahead of London. It might truthfully be said that if London continued
to expand at the same rate as New York during the past ten years, the
older city would be pushed into the sca. Sydney, which has recently
dethroned Glasgow as the second white city of the Empire, has practically
doubled its population within the short period of cighteen years, having
increased from 636,000 in 1911 to 1,239,000 in 1929. The growth of
Berlin, Buenos Ayres, and Melbourne has been almost as remarkable
during the past twenty-five years, and Detroit increased from 500,c00
to 1,000,000 between 1910 and 1920, and to 1,572,000 in 1930. Perhaps
the most spectacular increase ever shown by any one city is that of
Los Angelces, in California, which has grown from $77,000 in 1920 to
1,234,000 in 1930.

If the reign of George IV was termed the Augustan age of London,
history has repeated itself a century later, for the improvements which
have been carried out in London during the reign of our present beloved
monarch King George V and more especially since the late war, make
cven those of the reign of George IV appear trivial by comparison.
George IV was responsible for the construction of Regent Street, but
George V has been privileged to witness its entire rebuilding. Accom-
panied by the Qucen, he drove formally through the new strect on
23 June 1927. Most of the new streets of London were constructed in
the Victorian era, but the present rcign has witnessed the greatest
amount of rcbuilding all over the metropolis that has cver taken place
within so short a period of time since the Great Fire of London.
Aldwych and Kingsway have been completely lined with stately build-
ings, the greater part of the Strand and the whole of Fleet Street have
been widened. King William Street, Moorgate, and Finsbury Circus
have been rebuilt, Leadenhall Street has been widened and rebuile,
Buckingham Palace has been refronted, the County Hall constructed,
and countless splendid new buildings have been erccted in Marylebone
and Kensington. Oxford Street has been mostly rebuilt, and invaded by
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large new stores like Selfridge’s and Gamage’s (the latter of which has
already vanished, though leaving its building behind), and in Mayfair
great and famous residences like Grosvenor House, Dorchester House,
and Devonshire House have given way to huge new hotels and blocks
of flats.

Park Lane is rapidly changing its former character, from a strect of
private residences to one of hotels, shops, and flats, and promiscs in a
few years’ time to rival Regent Street as a world-famous thoroughfare.
Old Mayfair is disappearing and houses have been demolished in Brook
Street for the cxtension of Claridge’s Hotel; Berkeley Square and
Bruton Strect arc being invaded by shops and business premiscs, and the
large corner site comprising nine houses in Berkeley Square and six in
Bruton Street has been sold by Lord Bearsted for the erection of a huge
new hotel by the Canadian Pacific Railway Company. On the large
island site on the east side of Trafalgar Square, originally occupied by
Morley’s Hotel and the Golden Cross Hotel, a very magnificent new
building is in course of crection for the offices of the Union of South
Africa. In Great Queen Strect the stately new Masonic Temple crected
at a cost of /1,000,000, with a tower some 200 feet high, is rapidly
nearing completion and will form a prominent landmark when viewed
from Long Acre.

In the heart of the City great progress is being made with the rebuild-
ing of the Bank of England, the new Lloyds Bank has arisen in Cornhill,
the Midland Bank and the National Provincial Bank in the Poultry, and
the Westminster Bank in Lothbury. At Blackfriars, the new Lever
House is being erected on the large corner site facing the Victoria
Embankment formerly occupied by De Keyser’s Royal Hotel, and
farther west the Hotel Cecil has been razed to the ground within the
bricf space of four months to make way for the splendid new building
of the Shell Mex Company. The new Lambeth Bridge is making steady
progress, and the slums which recently lined the river-front at Millbank
have given way to the magnificent new Imperial Chemical and Thames
Houses, said to be the finest office buildings in Europe. On the opposite
bank of the river a large new building is to be crected by Messrs. W. H.
Smithand Sons, Ltd., the well-known firm of booksellers andnewsagents.

Marylebone Road and Euston Road have been largely rebuilt and
much widened by throwing the long front gardens into the main
thoroughfare, and a similar improvement is shortly to be carried out
in the High Street, Kensington. Splendid new by-pass roads have been

constructed leading out of the metropolis in every dircction. The
majority of the new buildings of London are six stories high as compared
with the four-storied houses of the Georgian era which they have re-
placed. Red brick and stone are the principal materials with which
they have been fronted, but cement has also come into favour to a
limited extent, and most recently several new buildings have been faced
with genuine and imitation black marble.
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Plans for the erection of additional Government buildings on the
south side of Whitehall, worthy of the capital of the Empire, are con-
templated as soon as the state of our national finances will permit. At
Dagenham, on the banks of the river, the large new workshops of the
Ford Motor Company are ncaring completion.

The present reign has also witnessed the construction of the new
offices of the Port of London Authority in Trinity Square, as well as
the King George’s Dock and the new landing-stage at Tilbury erccted
at a cost of /700,000 and opened by the Prime Minister on 16 May
1930. The latest statistics show that the traffic handled in the Port of
London in 1929 was a record, and this at a time when the country was
passing through a period of intense trade depression. The Port of London
Authority cclebrated its twenty-first birthday in 1930.

Speaking at the annual General Mecting of the Underground Rail-
way Companies on 27 February 1930, Lord Ashficld said that

‘London was indeed a remarkable metropolis, for in spitc of the
depression in trade and of the declining birth-rate, it continued to grow
all the time. It had always been the place in which the wealth of the
country was spent, but it was also rapidly becoming the place in which
the wealth of the country is gained. Any one who travelled round
London over the new roads could not fail to be impressed by the blocks
of houses that were springing up on all sides, and by the many factories
which seemed to be completed in the night. He himself was amazed.
One day he passed down an entirely empty road, and then the next
time the builder was at work, and before he had time to realize it, new
suburbs sprang into being, and new industries had been launched. The
average Londoner could scarcely understand the gloomy prognostica-
tions and the pessimistic forecasts which from time to time filled our
newspapers and periodicals.

‘One began to doubt whether those who wrote these accounts of the
state of our country had made a wide enough survey of the facts, and so
far as London was concerned, the available figures bore out the impres-
sion of the casual observer rather than of the closeted writer. The un-
employed in the London area then numbered only 159,534 or about
7 per cent. of the total number of insured workers. For the rest of the
country the figure was over 14 per cent. These figures took little
account of the commerce which was concentrated in London, for thosc
employed in commerce arc outside the scope of the insured trades.
London had become the centre of a larger life having an ever-widening
influence, and against the cost of providing the transport facilities
necessary to maintain this centre must be set many advantages, an in-
tensity of business activity impossible in a small place, a greater liveli-
ness of thought and endcavour which affords scope and opportunity
for the most diverse gifts. In a living London, there could be no
final or complete scheme because London outgrows itself with the

bl
years.
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London hasnot mercly sct the pace in architecture and town-planning,
but the standard of living has greatly improved since the late war. The
artisan classes arc beteer clothed and housed and are provided with
amusements and recreations hitherto undrcamt of. The greatly increased
transport facilitics, and omnibusesfit for lords to travel in, have brought
the country-side almost to our very doors, and opened up a new world
of surroundings which, though but a few miles distant from the centre
of the metropolis, were as remote to the average London worker of
fifty years ago as Switzerland or China. Tube railways have been
extended and the Southern Railway has electrified the whole of the
suburban arca of South London. Let us hope that the other great rail-
way companics will follow their good example. The opening up of
direct and rapid communication between the different parts of London,
as well as the driving of new avenucs through districts previously
monopolized by slums, has had the effect of breaking down the barriers
which divided the richer and the poorcer classes. Not only is wealth
more cvenly distributed at the present day, but more money is in
circulation as a result, and the gin-palace has been dethroned to a
large extent by the cinema, which provides comforts not available in
public houses. In great citics like London, there is constant improve-
ment, preciscly because there is constant discontent, which, if kept
within rcasonable bounds, acts as a driving force in the betterment of
society as a whole.

The threatened evils arising out of the rapid invasion of the country-
side by this vast metropolis, which have caused misgivings since the time
of Queen Elizabeth, have lost their terrors at the present day. The
difficulty is being solved partly by the ever-increasing areas which are
being sccured to the public as open spaces for all time, and partly by
developing the newer suburbs on garden~city lines in place of the inter-
minable rows of dreary streets which were thought good enough for
our grandfathers. The parks and open spaces of Greater London already
occupy some 30,000 acres, or about 10 per cent. of the entire Mctro-
politan arca. Another unique feature of London is its numerous squares,
which are said to occupy 1,200 acres in the centre of the metropolis and
which were styled by von Raumer in 1835, ‘the great and peculiar
beauty of London’. At the present time a movement is on foot to pro-
cure an Act of Parliament restraining the owners of the lands from
building over any of the London squares.

Another unique attraction of London is the great varicty of its
component districts. Whereas the magnificence of other great capitals
is mainly confined to particular quarters, the new grandeur of London
is widely distributed and reveals itself in districts as far away from one
another as the City proper, the West End, Kensington, Marylebone,
and Westminster. This is largely due to the fact that London has been
built up out of a conglomeration of places which were formerly
scparatc towns and villages, but which have retained their ancient
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historical interest and the individuality and attributes of separate towns.
Both Marylebone and Kensington alone excel capitals of Europe and
America in magnificence. ;

The suburbs of London can justly claim to be a hundred years ahead
of those of the majority of the capital citics of the world in respect of
their town-planning, roads, sanitary appointments, and other kindred
blessings of modern civilization. Those of Paris arc commonplace by
comparison, with inferior sanitation and narrow main roads still paved
with atrocious granite blocks. Berlin alone amongst the great capital
citics of Europe can boast of suburbs with town-planning comparable
to those of London. There the chain of rivers, lakes, and forests wiich
almost surrounds the city has been beautified by well-planned garden
suburbs, which give Greater Berlin the appearance of London trans-
ferred to the Norfolk Broads.

With all its shortcomings London is undoubtedly the most magnifi-
cent city in the world and 4 victory of civilization, for the larger it
grows the more attractive it seems to become. Few of us would be
willing to exchange it for any other city. To quote a recent article in
the Morning Post, ‘the ncw and nobler London has grown up silently
and invisibly as an oak increases its girth and stature.” Tastes and
opinions may differ on a question of this sort, but the writer, who is a
much travelled man, thinks that the impression of a particular city
conveyed to the casual visitor is largely influenced by its clear atmosphere
or sunshine. In that respect many other cities have a big advantage over
London, but then, is there another picce of urban scenery in the world
quite so beautiful as Westminster and its Government offices viewed
from St. James’s Park on a fine spring day: If there is a finer city in the
world, surely there ncver was a more interesting, varied, or wonderful
one than London, the cradle of modern civilization. Dr. Johnson, 150
years ago, said that whoever was tired of London was tired of life itself,
and if that assertion was truc in his day, it is doubly truc at the present
time. It scems impossible to be loncly or out of touch with humanity
for any length of time in this most absorbing city, and if you arc feeling
depressed and crave for change and variety, an afternoon’s run up to
Kensington or Hampstead will dispel the gloom and cause you to
forget your troubles.

In conclusion, the author desires to tender his best thanks to Mr.
Theodore Besterman to whom he is indebted for the revision of this
work, and whose intimate knov}ledge of London topography has proved
of great value in discovering errors in his facts. Having regard to the
enormous amount of detailed information contained in this work, some
of which is of a controversial nature, errors are liable to occur, even
though the greatest possible care has been taken to avoid them. The
author alone, of course, is responsible for the views and opinions ex-

pressed in this book. ,






FIRST WALK

THE HUB OF THE CITY; THE MANSION HOUSE, THE

ROYAL EXCHANGE, THE BANK OF ENGLAND, AND

THE BIG FIVE BANKS, THE STOCK EXCHANGE, BROAD
STREET, AND THREADNEEDLE STREET

THE hub of the British metropolis, by which we mean the Royal
Exchange, the Mansion House, the Bank of England, and the open
space formed by the junction of the leading thoroughfares of London,
has been so completely transformed during the past hundred years, that
we purpose devoting the whole of our opening chapter to a general
description and survey of what may aptly be termed the heart of the
British Empire.

A century ago, in 1831, six streets converged upon this great centre
of metropolitan traffic. These were Threadneedle Street, Cornhill,
Lombard Street, Walbrook, the Poultry, and Princes Strect. Owing to
the creation of King William Strcet and Queen Victoria Street since
that time, their number has been increased to cight.

In 1831 the new London Bridge had just been opened with great
ceremony by King William IV and Qucen Adelaide, but as yet King
William Street, designed to connect London Bridge with the Mansion
House, had not yet been completed. To a stranger of that year un-
familiar with the geography of London, a journcy from the Bank of
England to London Bridge may well have presented quite a tircsome
ordeal, since he was compelled to proceed either by way of Lombard
Strect and along Gracechurch Street, or through Walbrook and along
what was then only a very narrow precursor of the present-day Cannon
Street. Only a native of London, possessing an intimate knowledge of
its lanes and its courts, would have been able to shorter: the journey by
making short cuts through Abchurch or Clements Lanes.

As for Queen Victoria Street, it was not until 1869, some thirty-cight
years after the construction of the new London Bridge, that this noble
avenue was opencd for traffic; prior to that time the whole of London’s
west-bound traffic devolved upon Cheapside. East-bound traffic passed
mainly through Cornhill, as it still does at the present day, though of
course the construction of King William Street relieved that thorough-
farc of the traffic bound for London Bridge, which must necessarily
have passed through Cornhill or Lombard Strect in former times.

_ Moorgate Street had not yet come into being, and before the con-
struction of that uscful thoroughfare, which connected Moorfields with
the Bank and was opened about 1840, traffic for Finsbury Square and
City Road had to proceed by way of Coleman Street and London Wall.

The main streets of the City a century ago were mostly paved with
granite blocks. Experimental wood paving had been laid down during

c2
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the forties in cerwain sections of Cheapside, Newgate'StrCCt, and St.
Paul’s Churchyard, but this had proved a failure, and it was not until
many years later that wood paving became general in the streets of
London. o .

Although traffic congestion in the centre of the City 1s.adm1ttcdly a
serious problem in our own day, it was no better, and in actual fact
much worse, in 1831, than it is in this year of grace 1931. That is, of
course, if the most authentic accounts of the state of affairs then pre-
vailing can be accepted at their face value. -

Omnibuses had alrcady started running from Paddington to the City
in 1829, and by 1837 their number had increased to well over 200,
serving various parts of the metropolis. Some 6oo coaches conveyed
well over 50,000 workers daily to and from the City from the outer
residential districts of Marylebone, Paddington, Chelsea, Islington,
Hampstead, Kennington, Clapham, Camberwell, Hackney, Mile End,
and Stepney, all of which places have long since become merged into
this great metropolis. The fares were 6d. for short distances, and 1s.,
1s. 6d., and 2s. for longer journeys to such places as Richmond and
Hford. Those whose incomes did not allow the daily sum of one or two
shillings for conveyance to and from the City met this difficulty by
walking in finc weather and riding only when it was wet, for, of course,
there were no railways.

One writer tells us that heavily laden wagons frequently broke down
in the narrow strects and brought a long line of carriages to a standstill.
Often a donkey-cart laden with firewood obstructed the traffic, followed
by some clegant carriage, behind which would be a heavy dray loaded
with beer barrels, succeeded by an omnibus moving at snail’s pace. This
in turn would be followed by a cabman who had undertaken to convey
his fare east or west to his destination in a given number of minutes,
dodging in and out amongst the narrow openings in the traffic in a
way no onc other than a driver born on the spot would ever have dared
to risk.

Writing in 1829, Mr. Thomas H. Shepherd describes London when
viewed from the point where Cheapside terminates at the Mansion
House and the Bank of England as being characteristic at once of
metropolitan activity, commerce, and opulence, the gay and ever-
moving throng of pedestrians and carriages giving indescribable life
and animation to the scene.

Successive improvements carried out since that time have so enlarged
and altered the hub of the City as to raise it to the dignity of a square or
open space of considerable size. In form it is certainly irregular, but the

samc thing can be said of Piccadilly Circus, which has likewise grown
from small beginnings.

In 1831 the second Royal Exchange, successor to that founded by
Sir Richard Gresham in 1537 which perished in the Great Fire of London,
was still in existence, and in front of it stood two blocks of houses
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known as Bank Buildings. These occupied the open space in front of
the present Royal Exchange, below which is now situated the Bank
Station of the Underground Railways. At the junction of Lombard
Street and Cornhill was the newly erected three-story building of the
Liverpool and London and Globe Insurance Company, considered a
splendid building in its day, but now supcrseded by a much finer and
more lofty cdifice constructed in 1904.

The Mansion House had undergone various alterations, notably the
removal of the superstructure from the roof of the building, and of the
balustrade which formerly adorned the street front, but otherwise it
appeared very much the same as it does at the present day. It was built
on the site of the Stocks-market from the designs of George Dance, the
City Surveyor, the foundation-stone being laid on 25 October 1739. It
is said to have cost £ 71,000. The superstructure, which was removed
about 1840, consisted of two storics designed to provide quarters for
the servants and was nicknamed ‘The Mare’s Nest”. Doubtless it was
regarded as a disfigurement to the building which ought never to have
been crected. The stone balustrade of the stairs, which originally pro-
truded in front of the portico, was also considered an obstruction, and
has long since been removed. The Mansion House itself is substantially
built of Portland stone and is screened by a portico of six fluted Corinthian
columns, but already it has become too small for its present-day require-
ments, and the City Corporation at one time seriously considered the
advisability of pulling it down and erecting a new building on the same
site. Various suggestions that the Mansion House should be transferred
to another site in the City have not met with popular approval, largely
owing to the enormous cost of purchasing the requisite land. Altera-
tions to the interior of the Mansion House arc now being effected at
a cost of £ 50,000.

Should the Mansion House cver be pulled down and a more lofty
building erected on the same site, let us hope that the City Corporation,
notwithstanding the enormous value of the ground upon which it
stands, may sce their way to spare a few feet in order to widen the
roadway at the western extremity of the building, and thus provide
alittle extra space for the traffic at the junction of Queen Victoria Street
and the Poultry. Possibly this might be accomplished by merely
sacrificing the small strip of ground at present occupied by the area and
the Corinthian columns. A proposal to remove one of these columns
next to Queen Victoria Street, which would provide additional space
for the traffic, is being considered by the City Corporation at the present
time.

A description of the first Royal Exchange founded by Sir Richard
Gresham and destroyed in the Great Fire of London in 1666 docs not
come within the province of this work, but the second building erected
in 1669 much resembled the first, excepting that it was larger and more
splendid. Designed by Edward Jerman, one of the City surveyors, the
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foundation-stone was laid by King Charles I on 23 October 1667, and

the edifice, which was fronted with Portland stone, was completed and
opened on 28 Scptember 1669. The cost of the building was /59,000,
with another £7,000 for the enlarged site. It bore a stone tower crected
in the Italian style, which was greatly admired, and so also does the
present Royal Exchange. In the year 1779 the pral E?cchangc
Assurance Corporation and Lloyds made this building their head-
quarters, but later the second Royal Exchange was destroyed by fire.

This occurred on the night of Wednesday, 10 January 1838, when the
firc started from the rooms of Lloyds coftee-house. The conflagration
was magnificent, and amidst the excitement of the populace and the
shouts of the firemen, coupled with the crash of the falling masonry,
the chimes in the tower began to play their popular tune, “There’s nae

luck about the house’. After the destruction of the second Royal
Exchange the merchants had to find a temporary home. The South Sea
House received the members of Lloyds and the Court of the Excise
Office accommodated the general mercantile body, as it had done on
the occasion of the previous fire.

The first stone of the third Royal Exchange was laid on 17 January
1842 by the Prince Consort, during the mayoralty of Alderman
Sir John Price, and the building was opened with great ceremony on
Monday, 28 October 1844, by Queen Victoria, accompanied by the
Prince Consort.

Mcanwhile the ground immediatcly in front of the new Royal
Exchange had been cleared by the removal of the two blocks of build-
ings to the west of the site, in such a way as to provide an uninterrupted
view from the junction of the streets in front of the Mansion House, an
improvement which completely altered the appearance of the heart
of the City. The sale of the first portion of the so~called Bank Buildings
took place on Monday, 19 February 1844, and included the spacious
banking premises of Messrs. Ladbroke and Company, and three other
houscs. The sccond portion included the premises of the old Sun Fire
Office, to-day located in Threadneedle Street, and one of the conditions
attaching to the sale of both these blocks of buildings was that the
buyers should remove the property within 28 days so that the ground
might be cleared by the end of March 1844.

In the space thus cleared was crected Chantrey’s equestrian statue of
the Duke of Wellington. Itis interesting to note that before the calamity
which resulted in the destruction of the second Royal Exchange it was
the intention of the City Corporation to erect this statue in front of the
recently constructed building of the Liverpool and London and Globe
Insurance Company at the junction of Lombard Street and Cornhill.

Of course, the Duke of Wellington himself was one of the principal
guests at the opening ceremony of the new Royal Exchange, and upon
his arrival the band stationed on the portico struck up, ‘Sce the Conquer-
ing Hero comes,” every head being uncovered and bowed low to do
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him reverence. The privilege of seeing onc’s own statue uncovered is
an honour which falls to the lot of very few people, but notwithstanding
this astonishing demonstration of national enthusiasm the Duke retained
his wonted composure, and ascending the portico calmly surveyed his
own statue, and then quietly walked towards the door of the main
entrance. Having no admission ticket, or considering it unnccessary to
produce it, he merely glanced at the closed door, and then at the
official. Thereupon the official, with profound obcisances, ushered His
Grace into the building.

The present Royal Exchange has a length of 300 fect from cast to
west and a width of 175 feet at its castern end, narrowing to 118 icet at
the western end, and is considerably larger than its predecessor. 1t was
built from the designs of William Tite in the very short time of three
years, at a cost of /150,000 and, most wonderful of all, at a figure below
the architect’s estimate. It contains a peal of bells, recast in 1921, which
play English, Scottish, and Irish melodics at 9 and 12 o’clock in the
morning, and at 3 and 6 in the afternoon. The eight Corinthian columns
which adorn the main entrance to the building are 41 feet high and the
tower fronting the north side 177 feet. The steps of the Royal Exchange
are one of the places from which a new sovercign is always proclaimed
on his accession. Closc to the statue of the Duke of Wellington stands
the memorial, designed by Sir Aston Webb, R.A., to London troops
who fell in the Great War of 1914-18, and which takes the form of a
pillar of Portland stonc surmounted by a lion. Lack of space prevents us
from including detailed accounts of the interior of the Royal Exchange
and other famous London buildings, but these will be found in every
guidc to the metropolis.

The space in front of the Royal Exchange also contains the entrance
to the Bank station of the London Underground Railways rebuilt a
few years back, and second only in size and internal splendour to the
more recently constructed station at Piccadilly Circus. The original
station opened in 1900 marked the terminus of the Central London
Railway and was quite a modest affair by comparison with its successor.
This line, which extended from the Bank to Shepherd’s Bush, was
virtually the pioneer of London tube railways and was popularly known
as “The Twopenny Tube’ on account of the uniform fare of twopence
for any distance, which prevailed for several years. It was built between
1896 and 1900, and on account of the enormous volume of street traffic
at this spot the temporary boards which covered the roadway during
the construction of the Bank Station and the nctwork of subways had
to be renewed every day, an operation which was carried out in the
carly hours of the morning. The extension to Liverpool Street was not
opened until August 1912.

Since the removal of Lloyds to their new quarters in Leadenhall
Street in 1928, the rooms formerly occupied by them at the Royal
Exchange have been taken over by the Royal Exchange Assurance
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Company as additional office accommodation. This Company has
occupied the Royal Exchange for the whole period since its foundation
in 1720, and in 1920 celebrated its bicentenary. To commemorate this
event, the Corporation of London presented them with a fresco depict-
ing the burning of the second Royal Exchange in 1838.

Facing the south front of the Royal Exchangein Cornhill is the newly
erected head office of Lloyds Bank, onc of the so-called ‘big five’, con-
structed between 1926 and 1930. It covers an extensive site and has
imposing frontages both to Cornhill and Lombard Street. The building,
which extends for the whole length of Change Alley, rises to an eleva-
tion of eight stories above the level of the street, the two uppermost
being zoncd back a short distance to conform to the regulations govern-
ing the height of buildings permitted to be erected in London. It
occupics the site of the previous head offices of Lloyds Bank, together
with a number of other buildings which were acquired for its extension,
the frontage to Lombard Street being considerably wider than that to
Cornhill.

One of the buildings thus acquired was Birch’s restaurant on the south
side of Cornhill, opposite the Royal Exchange. It was demolished in
1926, having contained till then the oldest shop front of its kind in
London. In bygone days this establishment was much patronized by the
Lord Mayors of London during their years of office. It was established
as a confectioner’s in the time of George I by a Mr. Horton, after whom
came Lucas Birch, whosc son and successor Samuel Birch became Lord
Mayor in 1840. His successors, although of a different family, have
retained the name of Birch. The front of the old shop is preserved in
the Victoria and Albert Museum, and the business has been transferred
to Old Broad Street.

As a result of the deep excavations made for the foundations of the
new Lloyds Bank the roadway in Cornbhill collapsed in August 1927
and had to be closed to traffic for some threc months during repairs.
A portion of the adjoining premises of the Commercial Union Assurance
Company were involved in this catastrophe and, falling down, necessi-
tated the entire reconstruction of that building. The new structure which
has since arisen is of the same elevation and scarcely less imposing than
the ncighbouring Lloyds Bank, and was completed in 1929 in the
record time of eleven months. The collapse of the roadway in Cornhill
was attributed to the loose character of the soil due to the fact that the
Walbrook stream once flowed across this land on its passage to the
Thames.

The space at the back of the Royal Exchange is now of considerable
width, but previous to the destruction of the former Exchange it was
very narrow and was originallyknown as Freeman'’s Alley and Sweeting
Lane. Afterwards its name was changed to Freeman'’s Place, but to-day
it is called Royal Exchange Buildings, after the building of that name
which faces the north side of the Royal Exchange, and forms an im-,
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posing block of buildings erected in 1906; it is fronted with stonc and
contains the offices of the Union Assurance Company and a branch of
the Midland Bank. Quite a handsome building of rather lower clevation
had previously stood on this site. It was erected in 1845 and had a fagade
of fine red brick with Portland cement dressings. Near the corner of
Threadneedle Street, facing the north side of the Royal Exchange, is
the statuc of Mr. George Peabody, an American philanthropisi, occupy-
ing the site of the former parish church of St. Benet Fink, erected by
Sir Christopher Wren in place of an earlier one destroyed in the Great
Fire 0f 1666. It had to be pulled down to make room for the present Roval
Exchange, and its contents were sold by auction on 15 January 1846.

During his lifetime Mr. Peabody gave [£150,000 to the poor of
London and in 1862 founded the Pcabody Trust. He left £ 500,000 for
the trustees of the Peabody Fund to crect dwellings for the working
classes of London. The bronze statuc of Mr. Peabody was unveiled on
23 July 1869 by the late King Edward VII, when Prince of Wales, who
said that for a foreigner to give /500,000 to charity in a country not his
own was unparalleled. Since the still more generous formation of the
Pilgrim Trust, it is so no longer. By 1919 over 15,000 rooms were
owned by the Peabody Trust, providing accommodation for upwards
of 23,000 people. Surely no forcigner ever deserved so well of Londoners
as this great-hearted American who so loved London as to confer all
this benefit upon her poorer inhabitants.

At the back of the Pcabody statue is a most distinctive building of
eight stories erected by the Eagle, Star and British Dominions Insurance
Company. It is of very pleasing appearance and has a second frontage
to Threadneedle Street.

Until as recently as 1854 an unsightly block of buildings formed an
obstruction in Threadneedle Street, nearly opposite Old Broad Street,
and upon their removal the northern half of Threadneedle Street was
opened up from the Royal Exchange to Bishopsgate as it appears at
the present day. The owners of the property required to carry out this
widening claimed about /36,000 compensation, little enough from a
present-day standpoint, but they were only awarded less than £29,000.
During the excavations carried out in connexion with this improvement
in 1854, Roman remains were found close to the site of St. Benet
Fink Church.

Crossing to the other side of Threadneedle Strect we come to the
Bank of England. This establishment was founded in 1694 by Mr.
William Paterson, a Scotsman, and grew out of a loan of /1,200,000
for the public service. The building was designed in 1734 by Mr. George
Sampson, and is typical of many other great British institutions inasmuch
as it has grown from modest beginnings to world-wide importance.
The cast and west wings of the recently demolished building were
added by Sir Robert Taylor between 1766 and 1786, and necessitated
the demolition of the church of St. Christopher, which, together with
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the churchyard, were purchased for the extension. The private resi-
dence and garden of the first governor, Sir John ngblon, occpplcd the
sitc of the present bank. About a century ago various alterations werc
made to the building by Sir John Soane, and the former churchyard
now marks approximately the centre of the new structure. Thc outcr
walls, which have been retained, are devoid of external vx{lndows n
order to provide increased security, and at night the bank is guarded
by a detachment of the Guards and by various watchmen. In 1861
the stone facing of the exterior walls showed evidence of rapid decay
similar to that more recently exhibited by the Houses of Parliament.
To stop this trouble a coating of a newly invented composition was
applicd to the surface of the frontage in Threadnccgllc Street.

The very magnificent new edifice which is rapidly arising within

the confines of the original outer walls of Soane’s building resembles a
raised palace surrounded by a fortress, of which the central portion
attains an clevation of about 100 feet. Begun about 1925, the recon-
struction of the Bank of England, which is hardly expected to be com-
pleted before 1935, is an undertaking which in point of magnitude
descrves to rank with the building of the new Houses of Parliament, as
the greatest event which has taken place in the rebuilding of London
during the last hundred years. The fact that the Bank of England
occupies an island site covering ncarly three acres in the very heart of
the metropolis has provided unlimited scope for the erection of such a
splendid new building. The outer walls, besides furnishing a link with
the past history of London, are eminently suited as a foreground to the
new building.

Facing the east side of the Bank of England at the corner of Thread-
needle Street and Bartholomew Lane is the Sun Fire Office. The original
building was crected as long ago as 1844 after the removal of that com-
pany from their old premises in the Bank Buildings which stood in
front of the old Royal Exchange. Built in the style of an Italian palace,
at that period it was perhaps the finest office building in the city, but
some thirty years ago considerable alterations were carried out and an
extra story added to the building.

Walking along Bartholomew Lane, we came to Lothbury. Here the
Bank of England is overlooked, on its northern side, by the church of
St. Margaret and the new head office of the Westminster Bank, another
member of the big five. It is a towering structure, no less imposing than
the new Midland and Lloyds head offices, and also rises to a height of
seven stories; it has an extensive frontage to Angel Court also. In
between St. Margaret’s Church and the new Westminster Bank is the
tall narrow building of the National Bank of Australia, overlooking
Church Court. Lothbury is said to derive its name from the loathsome
noise made by pewterers and workers in metal.

On the cast side, the Bank of England is bounded by Bartholomew
Lane, and here at the corner of Throgmorton Street is another branch
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of the Westminster Bank, the Sun Fire Office at the corner of Thread-
needle Street already noted, and, in between, the Alliance Assurance
Company with the entrance to Capel Court and the Stock Exchange.
Passing into Throgmorton Strect, crowded by the bare-headed fraternity,
the Stock Exchange is approached from this thoroughfare through
Shorter’s Court. For all the external evidence of the existence of t%lc
Stock Exchange, the average stranger to the metropolis might well be
pardoncd for doubting whether London possessed such an institution at
all. Concealed behind courts and blocks of offices in Throgmorton
Street and Bartholomew Lanc, the only frontage visible to the passer-by
is that on Old Broad Strect, devoted to general offices. It is of low cleva-
tion and compared to the towering modern buildings which line Old
Broad Street at the present day, it bears a distinctly provincial appear-
ance. Any time when the Stock Exchange Company decide upon the
ercction of a larger building, they should possess a valuable property in
Old Broad Street.

Asfor the internal appointments of the Stock Exchange, from second-
hand information the writer learns that they are sumptuous, but know-
ing that any unauthorized person attempting to enter the building has
rarely been scen to come out again unscathed, he has made no attempt
to inspect the interior on his own account. The Stock Exchange, which
originated as the result of the National Debt, had its first home in
Jonathan’s Coffee Housc in Change Alley. The first stonc of the present
hall was laid on 18 May 1801 and the building, which was designed by
Mr. Peacock, was opened in March 180z2. Capel Court, forming one of
the main entrances, derives its name from the former London residence
and place of business of Sir William Capel, Lord Mayor of London
in 1504. Having been found too small for its requirements the Stock
Exchange was enlarged in 1853 and reopened in March 1854. The sum
of £6,000 was spent on additional space and a further /10,000 on the
new edifice. During these alterations, the Committee of the Stock
Exchange hired the so-called Hall of Commerce in Threadneedle
Street, long since pulled down, as temporary accommodation.

Throgmorton Street itself is a very narrow thoroughfarc connecting
Lothbury with Old Broad Street; it has but lictle vehicular traffic and
is given over principally to the Stock Exchange fraternity. It contains
some excellent shops on the north side, and the Throgmorton restaurant,
owned by Messrs. J. Lyons and Co., Ltd., the largest in the City, and
another owned by Slater’s and the Bodega Restaurant Company. It
derives its name from Sir Nicholas Throgmorton, Ambassador to
France in the reign of Queen Elizabeth.

That quarter of the city which is enclosed by Moorgate on the west,
London Wall on the north, Old Broad Street on the east, and Throg-
morton Street on the south, represents the home of the Stock Exchange
brokers. It consists principally of courts and narrow strects leading to
nowhere in particular and down which little or no vehicular traffic ever
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scems to pass, excepting perhaps a few motor-cars which onessces parked
here. It is thronged with stockbrokers and their clerks, all of them
apostles of the hatless brigade, and to wander at random through Angel
Court, Drapers Gardens, Copthall Court, affords all the delights of
wandering through the narrow streets of some ancient University town.
Included in this congerics of streets and alleys is Austin Friars with its
historical old Dutch Church granted to that nation by Edward VI,
and, incidentally, spared in the Great Fire of London. Here also is the
Pinncrs Hall, opening into Great Winchester Street.

Proceeding from Austin Friars into Old Broad Strect we shall obscrve
the tall scructure of the Anglo-South American Bank on the west side
of that strcet, which occupies the site of the church of St. Peter le Poor
demolished in 1912. Nearly opposite is the cqually lofty Gresham House
with its two uppermost stories zoned back from the street. Although
Old Broad Street has been slightly widencd at this point in recent years
these tall buildings have imparted such an American appearance to this
thoroughfare that one might easily imagine it was some canyon in
New York City.

The present Gresham House, which was mostly erected between
1920 and 1922, extends from Old Broad Street through to Bishopsgate,
and stands on the site of the old Excise Office, built in 1768 and removed
to Somerset House in 1848. The Excise Office was pulled down in
March 1854 and during its demolition a Roman tesscllated pavement
was discovered about fifteen feet below the surface near Threadneedle
Strect. The Excise Office stood on the site of the college and ten alms-
houses founded by Sir Thomas Gresham in 1575 and consisted of a
range of handsome stonc buildings fronting Old Broad Street, with
another one of brick in the rear scparated by a large courtyard. The
adjoining Palmerston House, another large block of buildings, also
extends through to Bishopsgate and contains the London Office of the
Cunard Steamship Company, now about to be transferred to their new
building in Leadenhall Street.

A few doors south of Gresham House, opposite the Stock Exchange
building in Old Broad Strcet, is the City of London Club, built in1832-3
with a fagade of a Palladian composition and a Doric order of seven
inter-columns. In a thoroughfare like the old Regent Street it would
look quite well, but here, surrounded by twentieth-century office build-
ings, it looks very dingy and old-fashioned. It stands on the side of the
Broad Street frontage of the old South Sca House destroyed by fire in
1826. But the main building of the South Sea House, which was a
handsome three-story building of brick ornamented with Portland
stone, was situated in Threadncedle Street, and this portion of the
edifice was not damaged by the fire in Old Broad Street. It occupied
approximatcly the sitc of the premises forming a part of the head offices
of the National Provincial Bank in Adams Court, and of the British
Linen Bank in Threadneedle Street.
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Old Broad Street in 1831, showing the church of
St. Peter-le-Poor and the Excise Oftice.

The collapse of the roadway in Cornhill in August, 1927.
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The South Sca House was erected between 1720 and 1727 and was
approached from a gateway leading into a court containing a piazza
formed by Doric pillars. The South Sea Company itself was incor-
porated by Act of Parliament in 1710 to pay £ 10,000,000 due to the
scamen employed in the wars of Queen Annc’s reign, but after the
scandals in speculation which took place in the so-called South Sca
Bubble, the affairs of that Company were reduced to the narrow com-
pass of recovering and distributing the Government dividends on their
stocks. In 1853~4 the South Sea stock was converted and paid off by the
Government, and this site, comprising half an acre of ground, was
disposed of in 1854 for an enormous price.

The main frontage of the head office of the National Provincial
Bank is in Bishopsgate, at the corner of Threadneedle Strcet. It
was erected in 1865 on the site of an ancient hostelry called the ‘Flower
Pot’ and of adjoining houses. In that year the National Provincial
Bank extended its business to London, after having been estab-
lished in the provinces for thirty-three years, as its name implies. The
height of this building is 53 feet, of which 33 feet are accounted for by
the columns, and the roof is adorned by a group of statucs. Here valuable
office space has been sacrificed for ornament, and some day, if the
National Provincial Bank should desire to erect a more lofty cdifice on
this site, they undoubtedly possess an excellent and suitable property.

Turning into Threadneedle Street, a short distance farther east will
bring us to the newly crected establishment of the Westminster Bank
Ltd., scarcely less imposing than the head office of that bank in Loth-
bury. It is a lofty structurc erected in 1925-6, with the upper stories
zoned back some distance from the street, and here also a widening of
the street has recently been carried out by the City Corporation.

On the site of this new building the Hall of Commerce stood until
about 1870. It was erected in 1842 by Mr. Moxhay, a biscuit-maker, at
a cost of £/70,000. Opened with an inaugural banquet two years before
the completion of the present Royal Exchange, it was designed to rival
Lloyds, the Baltic, Garraway’s, and other similar institutions. It contained
a rcading-room and officc accommodation for commission agents,
where they could exhibit their samples. At first the annual subscription
was five guineas but this soon dwindled to £1 10s. 6d.

Before the construction of the Hall of Commerce, a French Protestant
church had occupied this site, and going back to much earlicr times, it
may amuse our readers to learn that according to Mr. David Hughson,
LL.D., this centre of great opulence was once called Pig Street. That
was because the animals belonging to the Hospital of St. Anthony,
which also stood on this site in more remote times, used to run about
this street and be fed by passengers. This incident gave rise to the adage,
‘Following like a Tantony pig’. At the junction of Old Broad Street
and Threadneedle Street is another elegant building crected in 1903 on
the site of the old premises of the Imperial Assurance Office. This latter
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building, which was erected in 1849, was at that time considered the
finest which had been built in the City since the present Royal Exchange
in 1844.

At the south corner of Bishopsgate and Threadneedle Strect, oppo-
site the National Provincial Bank, is another branch of Lloyds
Bank and this marks the site of the church of St. Martin Outwich,
demolished in 1874. At the corner of Finch Lane is the Bank of Australia,
and concealed between another branch of the Midland Bank and the
premises of the Bank of New South Wales on the same side of the strect,
is the entrance to the Merchant Taylors’ Hall, said to be the largest of
any belonging to the City Companies. A few paces farther south will
bring us back again to the Royal Exchange, our starting-point, and this
will conclude the first of our series of walks around the City.

A notable addition to the new buildings crected in the heart of the
city is that of the Alliance Assurance Company in Bartholomew Lane
crected in 1932 and 1933, to which we have referred on page 27.
This new building, which is faced with stone, is nine stories high, with
an clevation of about one hundred feet. It covers a larger site than its
predecessor and includes the site of the former premises of the West-
minster Bank at the corner of Throgmorton Street. Designed by
Messrs. Joscphs and Messts. Mewes and Davis, this fine building consti-
tutes a worthy companion to the adjoining new head offices of the
Westminster Bank in Lothbury and to the new Bank of England.



SECOND WALK

CORNHILL, LEADENHALL STREET, ST. MARY AXE
HOUNDSDITCH, LIVERPOOL STREET, BISHOPSGATE
GRACECHURCH STREET, AND LOMBARD STREET

CORNH]LL at the present day consists mainly of tall modern office
buildings. It derives its name from a corn market held here in olden
times, and a century ago presented a long vista of gloomy dark-bri-k
houses, typical of the Georgian era, never exceeding five stories in
height.

For this reason the Cornhill of 1831 appeared somewhat wider to the
casual observer than does the Cornhill of 1931, and whereas St. Michael’s
Church then towered well above all its neighbours and was a prominent
landmark, to-day it is almost dwarfed by their modern successors.

On the south side, just beyond the Royal Exchange, and leading into
Lombard Street, is Change Alley, now containing principally banking
premises. Here stood until 1866 Garraway’s coffce-house, a celebrated
place for sandwiches, sherry, pale alc, and punch, which had enjoyed an
existence covering 216 ycars. On the first floor was a sale room where
business was transacted between 11.0 a.m. and 12.0 a.m. Thomas Garra-
way was the first man who sold and retailed tea in the City of London
and because of his carc in obtaining the best tca, many noblemen,
merchants, and gentlemen of position resorted daily to his house in
Exchange Alley. Tea was then retailed at from 16s. to sos. per pound.
After an cxistence of nearly 120 years in its last quarters, Garraway’s
finally closed down on 11 August 1866. Its first building was burnt
down in the great fire in Cornhill of March 1748 which started in
Exchange Alley and destroyed nearly a hundred houscs, including the
rival Jonathan’s and Jerusalem coffec-houses, both of them in Exchange
Alley.

Jonathan’s was next door to Garraway’s and was the original
rendezvous of the stockbrokers and jobbers who, ousted from the Royal
Exchange by the merchants in 1698, came here before taking up their
new quarters in Capel Court. It was closed down some years carlier
than Garraway’s. On the site of these two coffee-houses stands Martin’s
Bank, which, like the adjoining head office of Lloyds Bank, has now
been rebuilt, and, with its main frontage to Lombard Street, riscs to a
height of eight storics. Certainly no more than thirty years ago the
City fathers would have been shocked at the very suggestion that such
tall buildings should be erected in these narrow streets, yet notwith-
standing their greatly increased clevation they arc in no way unsightly,
and arc an improvement on the buildings which stood there before.

Returning to Cornhill, at the south-cast corner of the Royal
Exchange is a pump which was placed in its present position on
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6 December 1848. It bears an inscription to the effect that it was first
erected in 1799 by the contributions of the Bank of England, t}_lc East
India Company, and the neighbouring Fire Offices, together with the
bankers and traders of the ward of Cornhill. The well was situated in the
centre of Cornhill, fronting the south entrance to the old Royal
Exchange.

At the west corner of Finch Lane are the offices of the Union Assurance
Company, as already noted, and at the east corner a handsome building
of the Midland Bank. On the opposite side of Cornhill is Birchin Lane,
a corruption of Birchover Lane, named after its first builder and owner.
It was once inhabited by wealthy drapers and city merchants, but the
modern buildings are occupied by banks and insurance offices.

A few paces farther north is St. Michael’s Church, a handsome edifice
with a tall Gothic tower. It was rebuilt in 1721 by Wren after the Great
Fire, and although the original tower was spared from destruction this
also was rebuile by him. Another church rebuilt by Wren is that of
St. Pcter’s Cornhill, situated at the corner of Gracechurch Strect. This

church is approached from Cornhill through St. Peter’s Alley, and here
in 1852 the churchwardens effected a considerable improvement by
demolishing some very unsightly sheds which had encumbered the
graveyard of this parish for 170 years, and enclosing the site with an
iron railing. Until shortly before that time, it was still the burial place
of this parish, but was afterwards laid out as a garden and planted with
trees and shrubs. Opposite St. Peter’s Church, at the corner of Bishops-
gate and Cornhill, is a very handsome building erected by the Union
Bank of Scotland in 1908. Proceeding up Leadenhall Street, so named
from a building bearing a leaden roof which was an unusual feature
in olden times, this thoroughfare has been transformed out of all
recognition since the late war. Very little remains to-day of the build-
ings which lined this strcet at the dawn of the present century, and in
fact it has been twice rebuilt since 1831. The Leadenhall Street of 1900
also revealed a no less wonderful alteration compared to that of the days
of our grandfathers.

At the corner of Bishopsgate is the tall building of the London and
Lancashire Insurance Company, crowned by a stone clock-tower
crected in 1925. The administrative offices of this company, which are
situated on the west side of Chancery Lane, now occupy the site of Old
Scrjcants Inn, demolished in 1910.

On the opposite side of the street is the entrance to Leadenhall Market,
London’s chief poultry-market, which is approached through Whitting-
ton Avenue. In the cighteenth century it was the largest market in
London. In stands on the sitc of the old manor of Leadenhall, formerly
the property of the Nevill family and afterwards bought by Sir Richard
Whittington and acquired by the Corporation of London in 1411. The
market, which dates back to the thirteenth century, was destroyed in
the Great Fire of London. The existing buildings were erected in 1881,
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from designs by Sir H. Jones, at a cost of £99,000, and a further ex-
penditure of /148,000 on new approaches. The remains of what is
supposed to have been a Roman basilica were discovered here in 1880.

At the corer of Whittington Avenue is the new building of the

Friends” Provident Office, erected in 1927. Almost adjoining are the
magnificent new head-quarters of Lloyds, which cxtend for nearly the
whole length of Lime S:rect. The foundation-stonc was laid by King
George on 23 May 1925, who likewisc opencd the new buildings in
1928. The upper stories are zoned back from the street, and the new
offices of the Royal Mail Stcam Packet Company are also located in
these buildings, at the corner of Lime Street. The architect was Sir
Edwin Cooper. They are faced with Portland stone and are greatdly
superior to the late East India Buildings which occupied this site until
1924. These latter were erected in 1866 by Mr. Tite, M.P., and a group
of capitalists, who purchased the site of the old East India House for
£155,000. Down the centre was the so-called East India Avenue devoted
to offices and approached through a gateway from Leadenhall Street.

The former East India House in 1831 was quite the most imposing
building in Leadenhall Street, and also extended nearly the length of
Lime Street, being approached from Leadenhall Street by a stately
entrance beneath a portico of six Ionic columns, supporting a fricze
and two wings surmounted by a balustrade. The interior contained
a grand concert hall, paintings illustrating India, marble statues,
specimens of Indian architecture, a library of Indian literature, and a
good museum of Oriental exhibits. The charter to the East India
Company was granted by Queen Elizabeth on 31 December 1600. After
the Indian Mutiny of 1857 the Government of India was transferred to
the Crown and the East India Company was abolished by the India Act
of 1858. Mr. Weale, writing in 1851, remarks that for a company which
governed 100,000,000 people, maintained armies, and made war with
the greatest Asiatic powers, the East India House was but a humble and
unpretentious cdifice. It was erected in 1800, just 200 ycars after the
incorporation of the Company.

Amongst other remarkable curiosities contained in the muscum was
Tippoo’s organ, representing a tiger devouring a European. The music
produced on turning the handle consisted of shricks from a man, after
every four of which came a growl from the beast. The East India House
was pulled down in 1862, and the contents of its museum were trans-
ferred to the Victoria and Albert Museum.

On the opposite side of Leadenhall Strcet are several tall office build-
ings, including a finc one recently erected for the Midland Bank, the
offices of the New Zealand Steamship Company, and the building
occupied by the Port of Liverpool and Mersey Dock Board. Until 1919
this latter building was the Ship and Turtle Tavern, which had been
rebuilt in 1884; but when it was converted into offices an extra two
stories were added to the building. The Ship and Turtle Tavern was
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once famous for its Masonic banquets and public dinners, and had a
seating capacity of 750, and also a great circular counteraffording clbow-
room during the rush hours for 130 persons. The original tavern was
built in the year 1377 and enlarged in 1735.

A few doors farther cast are the head offices of the Peninsular and
Oriental Steam Navigation Company, erected in 1859, approached
through a courtyard from Leadenhall Street. Designed by Mr. T. E.
Colcutt, on the site of the old King’s Head Tavern, this building, which
is three stories high and is faced with stone, was at that time considered
almost the finest office building in Leadenhall Street. But to-day it looks
old-fashioned and provincial and is completely eclipsed both in height
and magnificence by the adjoining building of the P. and O. Banking
Corporation at the west corner of St. Mary Axe, crected in 1924.
Judging from the unfinished appearance of this latter building, and the
great difference in its clevation compared to the older P. and O. Officcs,
it seems clear that the P. and O. Company intends some day to rebuild
their old premises in the same style and elevation as those of the adjoin-
ing Corporation.

Lime Strect, on the south side of Leadenhall Street, was until the close
of the cighteenth century inhabited by wealthy city merchants. On
the north side of this street, opposite the buildings of Lloyds, is a tower-
ing new block of offices containing the branch establishments of the
Royal Exchange Assurance Company and the Commercial Union
Assurance Company.

At the cast corner of St. Mary Axe, almost opposite Lime Street, is
the church of St. Andrew Undershaft, erected in 1532. A century ago
this thoroughfare was mainly inhabited by Jews, and until the dawn of
the present century remained a shabby street. Its character was com-
pletely changed by the construction of the new Baltic Exchange in
1903 and by the various banks and steamship companies which have
since invaded St. Mary Axe and converted it into a first-class business
thoroughfare. The Baltic Exchange covers the site of the former
Jeffery’s Squarc on the cast side of St. Mary Axe and other buildings.
The foundation-stone was laid on 25 June 1901 by the Lord Mayor, the
Rt. Hon. Frank Green, and the building was opened on 21 April 1903
by the Rt. Hon. Sir Marcus Samuel, Lord Mayor. The architects were
T. H. Smith and W. Wimble.

East of Lime Street on the south side of Leadenhall Street are the
Baltic House crected in 1903 and the New Zealand Chambers, both
situated between Lime Street and Billiter Street. The New Zcaland

Chambers were designed by Sir Norman Shaw in 1900, and are an
ambitious modern imitation of old architecture. Between St. Mary
Axe and the church of St. Catherine Cree on the north side of Leaden-
hall Street, erected in the year 1630, extensive rebuilding operations
have just been carried out, and the lofty new Cunard building has re-
placed a number of shabby old buildings which previously occupied
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the site. The new offices of the Cunard Steamship Company occupy an
area of nearly halfan acre.

Between Billiter Street and Aldgate, immediately opposite to the
church of St. Catherine Cree, is a huge block of offices erected in 1919
by the City of London Real Estate Company. It extends to Fenchurch
Street and contains the head-quarters of the Furness Withy Steamship
Company. Here, in 1914, the City Corporation carried out an extensive
widening of this portion of Leadenhall Street, but a few buildings still
remain to be set back at the corner of Billiter Street in order to complete
the widening of the entire strect. We understand that the City Corpora-
tion cventually intend to complete this great improvement.

Entering Aldgate at the junction of Leadenhall Street and Fenchurch
Strcet we immediately observe that the main thoroughfare between
this corner and the Minories is far too narrow for its requirements.
Being the only convenient approach from the East End to the City, it
would seem that the City Corporation will some day deem it necessary
to widen Aldgate to relieve the enormous volume of traffic passing
through this bottle-neck, cxtending from Leadenhall Screet to the
Minories.

At the corner of Aldgate on the north side of Houndsditch is St.
Botolph’s Church, Aldgate, built by George Dance in 1744, the third
one erccted on this site. During the Great Plague of 1665, this church-
yard was utilized as a plague pit, and for many years afterwards the
mark of this great pit could be seen on the surface, parallel with the
passage by the west wall of the churchyard overlooking Houndsditch.
It was 40 feet long, 16 feet wide, and in some parts 20 fect decp.
Opposite Houndsditch at the corner of Aldgate and the Minorics is the
huge Portsoken House, crected in 1928, nine storics high, and faced
with Portland stone.

Houndsditch, along which we will now proceed, derives its name
from the old fosse which once encircled this quarter of the City and
formed a useful depository for dogs. It is now the centre of the Jewish
business quarter, silent on Saturdays but busy on Sundays, and is also
noteworthy for containing a church at both ends. Both churches are
dedicated to that popular English saint, St. Botolph, the one at the
western end of Houndsditch being called St. Botolph Bishopsgate.

On the north side of Houndsditch, immediately opposite St. Mary
Axe, is the entrance to a court known as Phil’s Buildings, which are
about to be demolished. Here, some years ago, could be witnessed a
daily scene, between four and five o’clock, of small traffic and bustle,
where hundreds of dealers of cast-off clothing used to assemble after
their morning rounds, picking up whatever they could hope to sell
for shillings or pence. The court was flanked by decently built houses,
one or two of which were occupied by persons in the trade. At the
upper end was a lofty gateway near which was the entrance to a public
house bearing the name and arms of a venerable Jewish patriarch of the

D2
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City of London. The visitor to Phil’s Court had to pay the sum of one
penny for admission.

Only a short time back Houndsditch was the Cinderella quarter of
the City, but of late years several fine buildings have been erected here.
These include the establishment of Messrs. Slesser and Sons and of the
Houndsditch Warchouse Company on the south side of the street, the
Staple Housc, and the towering Stone House at the corner of Bishops-
gate, crected on the sitc of the late Devonshire Hotel. Herc a con-
siderable widening has been commenced on the north side of the street.
The fairy godmother has indeed been at work in stately Houndsditch.
Small wonder therefore that a deputation of the most prominent busi-
ness men in Houndsditch in 1927 petitioned the City Corporation to
alter the name of this gready improving thoroughfare. The City
Corporation, however, were wisely unwilling to accede to this request
on the grounds that it would destroy the historical associations attaching
to this thoroughfare. However, the petitioners were so far humoured as
to be transferred from the E. 1 postal district to the more dignified
E.C. 3.

The churchyard of St. Botolph Bishopsgate, almost facing the western
end of Houndsditch, has been converted into a very pleasant public
garden, very popular with city clerks and others during the lunch hour.
A few paces north of St. Botolph’s Church on the west side of Bishops-
gate will bring us to Liverpool Street Station, the city terminus of the
tormer Great Eastern Railway now merged into the London and North
Eastern system.

Opened on 1 November 1875, Liverpool Street Station was then by
far the largest and finest of the great London termini, being ten acres
in area and 200 feet in length. The architectural features of the station
are striking, with lofty frontages designed in the Gothic style giving
access from Liverpool Strect, whercas the east side which extends to
Bishopsgate is fronted by a long range of shops and red-brick buildings.
The station was designed by Mr. Edward Wilson, an engineer, the main-
line departure platforms being approached from Liverpool Strect and
the arrival platforms from Bishopsgate. The booking offices contain
a large mural war memorial flanked by bronze medallions of Captain
Fryatt, and Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson who was assassinated
shortly after unveiling the memorial to the Great Eastern men killed
in the Great War.

The coming of the Great Eastern Railway into Liverpool Street in
1875 was one of the greatest boons conferred upon the travelling public
of London during the nineteenth century. Tic old terminus, which
was originally built by the Eastern Counties Railway, and is now the
goods station of the London and North Eastern Railway, being
situated close to Shoreditch High Street, necessitated a tiresome walk to
the centre of the City. People residing in the eastern suburbs were thus
put to great inconvenience, and moreover Bishopsgate was not then
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By permission of Gladweil"iiras.
The Sir Paul Pindar tavern and old houses in
Bishopsgate demolished in 1890.

Bishopsgate to-day, showing the east front of Liverpool Street Station.
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the fine broad thoroughfare it is at the present day. It has been widened
since that time between Liverpool Street and Shoreditch High Street,
so that the great congestion of traffic which once prevailed in this
crowded thoroughfare has been enormously relieved.

Unlike the more progressive Southern Railway, the London and
North Eastern Railway has not thought fit actively to embark upon any
scheme for the clectrification of its suburban lines. On the railway
tracks just outside Liverpool Street Station is a tircsome bottle-neck
through which six lines run into cighteen platforms, and which precludes
the possibility of any great increase in the number of trains. But »s a
result of the persistent demand for improved travelling facilities, and
taced with the threat of competition from other companics if they do
nothing, the London and North Eastern Railway has invited tenders
for the construction of a tube railway to run underneath the existing
track from Liverpool Street to Ilford. The costis estimated at £ 7,000,000
but no decision has yet been made regarding its construction.

Opposite Widegate Street, leading into Bishopsgate, stood until 1890
the picturesque Tudor house of Sir Paul Pindar, a wealthy merchant in
the days of Queen Elizabeth and James I, and for nine years Ambassador
at Constantinople. It occupied a portion of the sitc now covered by the
long range of shops in front of the cast side of Liverpool Strect Station
and had a large garden in the rear. For something like a century before
its demolition it had been used as a wine shop and tavern.

Broad Street Station, the terminus of the North London Railway,
immediatcly west of Liverpool Street Station, was opened in 1866, and
was another far-reaching improvement. It cnabled the City man wish-
ing to travel to Kingsland, Islington, Camden Town, or Hampstead, to
save a journey of four miles and about twenty minutes in the time so
occupied. Hitherto he had been obliged to make the long detour by
way of Fenchurch Street and Bow, whercas now he was enabled to
travel from the newly opened Broad Strect terminal. This new branch
of the North London Railway was two miles long and had four stations,
namely, Broad Strect, Shoreditch, Haggerston and Dalston Junction,
Kingsland. Here the lines form a fork, that on the west leading to Chalk
Farm and that on the cast to Bow. The ncw line was constructed under
the guidance of Mr. W. Baker, enginecr to the former London and
North Western Railway, at a cost of £1,200,000. Commenced in 1863,
its construction necessitated the demolition of several hundred houses in
Sun Street, Long Alley, and the immediate ncighbourhood. Ten ycars
later many similar courts and alleys were swept away between Broad
Strect and Shoreditch to make room for the splendid Liverpool Street
Station. Bishopsgate Underground Railway station on the opposite
side of Liverpool Street was opened in 1876, in which year the Metro-
politan Railway extended their line from Moorgate to Aldgate.

Old Broad Street, which commences opposite Broad Strcet Station,
is lined at this end by several large blocks of office buildings, notably
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Broad Street House on the east side and Winchester House farther up
on the west side. In Queen Elizabeth’s time Old Broad Street was one
of the most fashionable strects in London, but New Broad Street, which
runs at right angles to Old Broad Strcet between Liverpool Street and
London Wall, was formerly called Petty France, and was built about
1737. The gloomy brown-brick houses which lined both sides of this
street thirty years ago have now given way to handsome modern blocks
of offices, faced with stone.

We return to Bishopsgate through Wormwood Street. Until the late
war this thoroughfare went under the two names of Bishopsgate Street
Within and Bishopsgate Street Without, and the dividing linc was of
course the old City boundary. These two cumbersome titles have now
been altered to plain Bishopsgate for the sake of greater convenience.

Going south we next come to St. Helen’s Place, a cul-de-sac on the
cast side of Bishopsgate, consisting a few years ago of dreary-looking
brown-brick houses, but now completely lined with stately new build-
ings. At the end of this street is a revolving platform erccted for the
convenicnce of motorists, who, by placing their cars on this contrivance,
arc saved the trouble of making the right-about turn when leaving this
strect. At the entrance to St. Helen’s Place from Bishopsgate is the
stately new edifice of the Hudson Bay Company erected in 1925-7.

A short distance farther south on the same side of Bishopsgate i3
Great St. Helen’s, giving access to the Church of St. Helen and to St.
Mary Axc. The church escaped the Great Fire of London, and was
restored in the nineteenth century, and the churchyard itself forms a
very pleasant retreat in the midst of the surrounding turmoil. Here also,
at the entrance from Bishopsgate, stood until about 1904 Crosby Hall,
a specimen of fifteenth-century domestic architecture, and originally
the residence of Sir John Crosby, an Alderman of the City of London
in 1468. It was convertcd into a restaurant in 1862 and taken down in
1905 to make room for the Chartered Bank of India. The building, on
account of its historical associations, was re-crected in Danvers Strect,
Chelsca.

Beyond Great St. Helen’s, oppositc Threadneedle Strect, is the Bank
of Scotland. On the west side of Bishopsgate is the towering edifice of
Hambro’s Bank, built in 1926 and faced with red brick with stone
dressings, and a few doors farther north is the more recently completed
building of Messrs. Marcus Samuel and Company, Ltd. Continuing our
walk beyond Threadneedle Street and across Cornhill, we come to
Gracechurch Street, once known under the name of Gracious Strect. A
fountain known as the Cornhill Standard once stood at this important
traffic junction. On the east side of this street is an entrance into Leaden-
hall Market. Here stood until 1865 the Spread Eagle Inn, one of the
oldest in London, and approached from Gracechurch Street, through a
galleried courtyard. Farther along is a handsome branch of Barclays
Bank at the north corner of Fenchurch Street. The buildings lining the
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west side of Gracechurch Strect are superior to those of the east side, and
include the English, Scottish, and Australian Bank and the more recently
constructed buildings of the Mercantile Bank of India and the Hong
Kong and Shanghai Bank, completed in 1913.

At the south corner of Fenchurch Street and Gracechurch Street
formerlystood the church of St. Benet Gracechurch (from Grasschurch),
so called after a grass-market once held here. It was demolished in 1867
and has been replaced by the very indifferent block of offices called St.
Benet’s Chambers, which has no claim to any architectural beauty and
which one might truthfully assert never justified the destruction of this
fine church.

Turning next into Lombard Street on our right, at the north corner
of Gracechurch Street is the head office of Barclays Bank, one of the
so~called ‘big five’. In Gracechurch Street the building line has been set
back a trifle; but the main frontage of this bank is in Lombard Strect.
This world-famous banking thoroughfare derives its name from the
Lombards, merchants, moncy-lenders, and bankers who settled here
in the twelfth century from the Italian republics of Genoa, Venice, and
Florence. Because of their usurious practices they were ordercd by
Queen Elizabeth to leave the country.

Behind Barclays Bank is the church of All Hallows, rebuilt by Wren
in 1694, and not only concealed from the street but occupying ground
obviously better suited in our own day to business requirements. Some
ycars ago Barclays Bank were said to have offered a large sum of money
to the church authoritics for this most valuable site, but their proposal
was rejected.

On the opposite corner of Gracechurch Street and Lombard Street is
the London Office of the Crédit Lyonnais, a handsome building in the
Italian style faced with Portland stone and crected in 1868 for the City
Offices Company. In that year the approaches to Lombard Street from
Fenchurch Strect were considerably widened and the frontage of
Lombard Street was set back seven {cet. The requisite strip of land was
purchased by the City Commissioners from the ground landlords, the
Fishmongers’ Company, for £8,000. The cost of the building was
£70,000.

At the corner of Clement’s Lane is the head office of the Royal
Insurance Company, rebuilt and enlarged for the third time in 19710.
The first building of this Company was crected in 18567 from the
designs of Mr. John Belcher and was located on the opposite corner to
the existing building. This having soon proved too small, the directors
secured the larger sitc on the south corner at the moderate cost of
£ 45,000 and erected the imposing edifice, also designed by Mr. Belcher,
which stood there until the present more modern building was erccted
in 1910. On the same side of the street is Coutts’s Bank on the site
occupied by Lloyds Coffee House between 1691 and 1785. Nearly
opposite Clement’s Lane is the Church of St. Edmund, King and Martyr,
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also restored by Wren, and occupying a more prominent site than the
ncighbouring church of All Hallows.

The premiscs at the south corner of Birchin Lane occupied by Messrs.
Glyn Mills and Company, Ltd., and recently demolished, formerly
belonged to the discounting house of Messrs. Overend, Gurney and
Company, which created a tremendous panic in the City on Thursday
afternoon, 10 May 1866, by closing its doors. This resulted in a rush
on the leading banks, which were besieged by crowds of excited
depositors.

Before the construction of the new Martin’s and Lloyds Banks, already
referred to in this chapter, a hideous row of tall brown-brick buildings
stood on these sites, fronting Lombard Street, south of Birchin Lane.
The various banks had their trade signs in metal, hanging above the
strect, which perhaps gave it an old-world appearance, but the houses

themselves were morc suggestive of the exterior of some prison or
mausoleum. Doubtless many eminent architects would contend that
they were splendid buildings, but the writer not being a member of
that cstcemed profession is merely judging them from the cffect pro-
duced upon the neighbouring urban scenery.

The church of St. Mary Woolnoth at the corner of Lombard Street
and King William Street was designed by Nicholas Hawksmoor, a
pupil of Sir Christopher Wren, in 1716. If the retention of All Hallows
Church is a sacrifice of good money which might well suffice to build
a dozen churches in the suburbs, what shall we say to this much more
glaring anomaly of the church of St. Mary Woolnoth occupying what
is perhaps the most valuable site in the whole city? Even now, there is an
underground railway station beneath this church, which caused a storm
of protest in 1901. Many fine City churches have been ruthlessly sacri-
ficed in the past, notably St. Benet Gracechurch, opposite the other end
of Lombard Street, without any scrious misgivings. Thercfore why this
extraordinary reluctance to sacrifice St. Mary Woolnoth when the site
must be worth something like £ 1,000,000, a sum with which so many
new churches might be crected clsewhere 2

Lombard Street alone contains no less than three churches, and one
would imaginc that the church of St. Edmund, together with those in
Cornhill and others within 00 yards of the Mansion House, ought to
satisty even the most fervid churchgoers. It is entirely a question of
degree, and if every building with a claim to antiquity is toqbc suffered
to exist for perpetuity, where is the space to be found in course of time
to allow for any future progress in the world:

A hundred and fifty years ago, when the City contained about ten
times its present night population, the churches stood so dense that
when viewed from a distance one could easily distinguish the City
proper from all other parts of the metropolis by their sudden cessation
and violent contrast with their modern successors, which only break the
horizon at wide intervals.
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Before the Reformation the churches and monastic establishments
occupied two-thirds of the entire area within the City walls, so that
adding the space occupicd by the town residences of the bishops and
clergy, all possessing large gardens and often assuming the dimensions
of small palaces, it is difficult to imagine where the dwellings of the
remainder of the inhabitants could have found even standing rcom.

The rebuilding of the extensive banking premises of Messts. Glyn
Mills and Company, Ltd., at the corner of Lombard Street and Birchin
Lane has resulted in a further transformation in the appearance of
Lombard Strect. The new building, which is faced with red brick and
stone and is of the same clevation as the adjoining Martins Bank and
Lloyds Bank, completes the row of new structures now lining the north
side of Lombard Strect from Birchin Lanc to the junction of Lombard
Street and Cornhill.

Another addition to the new buildings on this side of Lombard Street
is the further extension of Barclay’s Bank erccted in 1932 at the corner
of George Yard, facing the side of the church of St. Edmund. The
completed buildings forming the head offices of Barclay’s Bank now
extend from Gracechurch Street to George Yard.



THIRD WALK

KING WILLIAM STREET, LONDON BRIDGE, EAST-

CHEAP, FENCHURCH STREET, THE PORT OFLONDON

AUTHORITY, THE MINORIES, GREAT TOWER STREET
LOWER THAMES STREET, AND THE MONUMENT

KING WILLIAM STREET, connecting the Bank with London Bridge, was
constructed between 1831 and 1835, and forms part of the main
artery connccting South London with Islington through Moorgate and
City Road. It could justly claim to rank next to Regent Street as the
greatest London improvement carried out during the first half of the
nincteenth century. The width and beauty of King William Street at
that period was considered very striking, especially after emerging
from the narrow streets and hilly lanes immediately adjoining. The
making of the new street must have necessitated the demolition of a
large number of houses which stood in its path across Abchurch,
Nicholas, and Clement’s Lancs. Yet compared to the construction of
Regent Street or Kingsway, that of King William Street appears to
have aroused very little public interest, since no details concerning this
great cvent are to be found in any of the numerous histories of London
which have appeared since that time.

Since 1914 practically the entire street has been rebuilt, and it is now
lined with statcly blocks of offices faced with stone as finc as any to be
seen in the City, mostly six storics high. The old buildings, being only
four stories high, gave King William Street the appearance of a much-
wider thoroughfarce than it actually is. Lined with buildings fashioned
in the Nash style of architecture with stucco fronts, if it had been a
shopping street it would have resembled a little Regent Street, and even
the new King William Street rather suggests the modern Regent
Street as it would appear if instead of shops it contained banks and
insurance offices.

On the west side of King William Street are the buildings of the
Scottish Provident Institution, the London Assurance Company, the
Phocnix Assurance Company, the Comptoir National d’Escompte de
Paris, and the larger Stafford House on the corner of Cannon Street.
On the cast side are the London Life Assurance Association, the
Standard Bank of South Africa, and the Australian Mutual Provident
Society, but here the uniformity of the street is spoiled by the old post
office and by St. Mary Woolnoth Church, which form the relics of the
old King William Street. This church, which would be pleasing to the
eye in different surroundings, looks incongruous and out of harmony
with its taller neighbours.

At the junction of Eastcheap and Cannon Street, overlooking the
approach to London Bridge, is the imposing building of the Guardian



Cornhill, looking south, showing the Royal Exchange and the
new Lloyds Bank.

Work on ‘the construction of the new London Bridge, while the traffic
continued to use the old bridge.
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Assurance Company, sometimes called the great white building, nine
stories high and crowned by a dome rising to 160 feet above the street
level. The southern end of King William Street contains the newly
erected Regis House and several lofty buildings, principally occupied
by banks, and also a statue of King William IV immediately in front of
the Guardian Assurance building erccted in December 1844.

On the west side of London Bridge is the Fishmongers Hall, built in
1831-3, and the third to be erected on this site. The first one perished
in the Great Fire in 1666 and the sccond onc was built in 1671. On the
opposite corner is the very much taller Adelaide House, erected between
1921 and 1924, which rises to a height of cight stories above King
William Street and ten stories above the level of the river. The previous
Adclaide House which stood on this site was for many years the head
office of the Pear] Assurance Company now removed to High Holborn,
and was pulled down in 1920. This led to the discovery of one of the
arches of the old London Bridge, which is now prescrved in thic
London Museum.

The new London Bridge, which is 180 feet higher up the river than
the old bridge, was erected under the supervision of Mr. George and
Sir John Rennie from the designs prepared by their illustrious father
Mr. John Rennie. After nearly a century of haggling the old London
Bridge had been almost unanimously condemned as a nuisance to navi-
gation and a reflection upon the architectural character of the City.
Yet it was only removed in the teeth of strong opposition similar to
that displayed in our own time towards the suggested demolition of
Waterloo Bridge. In 1823 an Act of Parliament was at last passed
authorizing the construction of the new bridge together with thenccessary
approaches.

The first pile was driven on 15 March 1824, and the foundation-stone
was laid on 15 June 1825. The new bridge was opened on 1 August
1831 by King William IV, accompanied by Quecen Adelaide. They
were entertained to a banquet by the Lord Mayor and members of the
City Corporation in the pavilion erected on the bridge. With the object
of enabling the watermen and a larger number of people to view the
procession, His Majesty decided to make the journey by water, and
between Somerset House and the stairs of London Bridge both sides of
the Thames were lined with vessels, forming a passage about 150 feet
wide. The total cost of the bridge, including the approaches, was
/2,000,000, and the granite was obtained from Aberdeen, Haytor, and
Pcterhcad.

A proposal to widen the bridge by building out brackets was defeated
in 1854 and again in 1875 and it was not until 1901 that the bridge was
widened from sz feet to 65 feet. The width of the roadway was in-
creased from 36 feet to 39 feet, and each of the sidewalks from 8 feet
to 13 feet. Over 20,000 vehicles and 110,000 foot passengers cross
London Bridge daily, but already in 1811 the old bridge, which was
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only 45 feet wide, was crossed by 6,800 vehicles and 89,600 foot
passengers each day. In 1869 London Bridge was faced with Aberdeen
cubes, but in 1924 wood paving was laid down for the first time.

The church of St. Magnus the Martyr in Lower Thames Street, re-
built by Sir Christopher Wren between 1676 and 1705, and St. Michacl’s,
Cornhill, formerly two prominent landmarks viewed from London
Bridge, have now been practically obliterated from the landscape by the
towering new buildings of King William Street.

Returning to Eastcheap, an interesting building situated at the corner
of Gracechurch Strect is the National Provident Institution opened in
1863 and formerly located in Nicholas Lane. At that period it was
considered one of the finest buildings ever erected for this class of busi-
ness, and was designed by Professor Kerr, who displayed great original-
ity in the details of this fine edifice.

Eastcheap was so named to distinguish it from Westcheap, which was
aftcrwards known as Cheapside. It contains several good office buildings,
notably the St. George’s Housc on the south side of the street close to
Botolph’s Lane. On the north side, at the corner of Rood Lan, is the
Church of St. Margaret Pattens, another of those rebuilt by Sir Chris-
topher Wren after the Great Fire.

In Gracechurch Strect the National Provident Institution is now
completely dwarfed by the towering new building nexe door, cight
stories high, which has just been crected by the City of London Real
Estate Company. On the other side of the road, adjoining the Guardian
Assurance Company’s building, is a huge nine-story edifice which was
originally built for the Commercial Bank of London, one of the ill-
fated Hatry Companies, and now occupied by the Bank of British
West Africa. On account of the wide cxpanse of roadway at this im-
portant traffic junction, these towering buildings present a majestic
appearance when viewed from Eastcheap. Farther up Gracechurch
Street, on the same side of the road, are the British Overseas Bank and
Barclays Dominion, Colonial, and Overseas Bank, whilst on the
opposite side are the London and Eastern Trade Bank and a large branch
of the Midland Bank immediately adjoining.

Turning next into Fenchurch Street, which is said to derive its name
from Foin Church, near an ancient hay-market, we pass the head offices
of the Union Castle Mail Stcamship Company, a short distance up on the
south side and ncarly opposite a row of one-story shops at the corner
of Lime Street. Behind these shops stood the church of St. Dionis
Backchurch, demolished in 1878, the site of which is now covered by
modern buildings.

A generation ago Fenchurch Street was still an ugly thoroughfare
with but few buildings out of the commonplace. But the hand of time
has been busy here, and great improvements have been made. The
centre section of the street, which formed almost a bottle-neck, was
widened between 1901 and 1903 by setting back the building line on the
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north side, and to-day Fenchurch Street cast of Rood Lane is mostly
lined with stately new buildings.

At the west corner of Mincing Lane is a large new edifice containing
a branch of the Westminster Bank. Mincing Lane, leading to Great
Tower Street, is the centre of the tca and rubber trades, and is so named
from some houses in it which belonged to the Minchuns or Nuns of
St.Helen’s. On the east side is the Clothworkers’ Hall, rebuilt in 1860 by
Mr. Angell and approached from Mincing Lane through an iron gate.
The garden of the company is formed by the churchyard of All Hallows
Staining, demolished in 1870 except for the tower which still survives

Farther along on the same side of Mincing Lane are the Commercial
Sale Rooms erected in 1859-60 by Mr. Lewis Glinton, upon land belong-
ing to the Grocers’ Company, specially as offices and sample rooms for
merchants and Colonial firms. It contains 200 offices and extends from
Mincing Lane to an cxit in Great Tower Street. Various other large
blocks of offices in this thoroughfare extend through to Mark Lane on
the east side and to Rood Lanc on the west side, so that you can walk
under cover through a series of long corridors from Mark Lane to Rood
Lane, except that you have to cross the road in Mincing Lanc. The
merchants and their clerks located in these large buildings almost scem
to constitute 2 community of their own, similar to that of the stockbrok-
ing fraternity in Throgmorton Street and neighbourhood. A walk
through this maze of corridors will reveal to the astonished stranger
various restaurants, tea-shops, tobacconists, and hairdressers’ establish-
ments, the existence of which must be quite unknown to the outside
world.

Mark Lane, running parallel to Mincing Lane and originally known
as Mart Lane, is also a busy trading centre for City merchants, and
contains the Corn Exchange, opened in 1747, partly rcbuiltin 1828, and
enlarged by the Corporation of London in 1852 at a cost of £ 5,000.

Returning to Fenchurch Street, at the west corner of Mark Lane is
the London Tavern, famous for City banquets. It was originally called
the King’s Head and here Queen Elizabeth, upon being delivered from
the Tower of London on 10 May 1554, sat down to a hearty meal of
pork and peas, after first offering up thanks at the adjacent church of
All Hallows Staining. In honour of this event it was rechristened the
Queen’s Head, but upon being rebuilt in 1877 its name was again
altered to the London Tavern.

On the opposite side of Fenchurch Street is the Elephant Tavern
which was spared in the Great Fire of London, although everywhere
else around was destroyed. For that reason it provided a valuable refuge
for the homeless citizens of London. It was rcbuilt in 1826 and when
Fenchurch Street was widened in 1901 the front was set back a short
distance to conform to the new building line.

Next to the Elephant Tavern s the former building of theIronmongers’
Hall which was bombed during theWar. It has recently been modern-
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ized and taken over as offices by Messrs. Cory and Son, a large firm of
iron-makers, and the Ironmongers’ Company have moved their head-
quarters to Aldersgate Strect.

At the north corner of Fenchurch Street and Billiter Street are the
fine new head offices of Messrs. Elder, Dempster and Company, and
farther along, ncar the junction of Fenchurch Street and Leadenhall
Street, is the Furness Withy House already noticed in our stroll through
Leadenhall Street.

At the cast corner of London Street, giving access to Fenchurch
Strect Station, is a new building erected in 1925, which is successor to
a house destroyed in the German air raid of July 1917.

Fenchurch Street Station is situated in the most confined part of the
city and was originally the terminus of the London and Blackwall
Railway. Opened in 1836 in order to provide casy access to the East
and West India Docks, it was the first railway constructed in London.
The carriages were propelled by an endless metal wire rope worked by
stationary engines at the Minories and Blackwall, but as this system was
found too expensive and liable to constant interruption from breakage,
it was abandoned in 1849 in favour of ordinary locomotive engines.
The old ones were disposed of by auction and fetched [ 11,710. The
station is of a very plain character, with the booking offices on the
ground floor and the platforms approached from staircases just beyond.
It was enlarged in 1853 but is totally inadequate for its present require-
ments. It is now owned by the London and North Eastern Rail-
way, although one platform is used by the London, Midland and
Scottish Railway, which took over the London, Tilbury and Southend
Railway. For many years past it has been a vigorous source of complaint
that the train service to Southend and the intermcdiate suburbs has
become inadequate. When the former Midland Railway took over this
line in 1911 it was agreed that the line from Fenchurch Street to
Southend should be electrified within five years, but the London, Mid-
land and Scottish Railway scems disinclined to carry out this promise.
Sooner or later competition from other lines will be thrcatened and the
exasperated City residents, if unable to obtain any redress, will eventually
petition the London Underground Railway Company to extend their
line to Southend from Barking. However, as a first instalment the
London, Midland and Scottish Railway are constructing a new track
from Barking to Upminster for the use of the electric trains from
the City.

Beyond London Street is Lloyds Avenue, a new thoroughfare con-
necting Fenchurch Street with Crutched Friars, opened by the Lord
Mayor in 1899 and lined on both sides with handsome blocks of office
buildings. It was constructed on land formerly occupied by the offices
of the old London and India Joint Docks Company. On the south corner
of Lloyds Avenue and Fenchurch Street is the building of Lloyds
Shipping Register. Crutched Friars, now consisting of warehouses, was
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once the residential quarter of the nobility, and in ancient times, the
Monastery of the Friars of the Holy Cross stood on this site. Many
courts and alleys in this immediate ncighbourhood were swept away
between 1910 and 1912 to make room for the new head-quarters of the
Port of London Authority. This magnificent building, designed by
Sir Edwin Cooper, stands on an island site enclosed by Trinity Square,
Secthing Lane, and the two newly constructed thoroughfares called
Pepys Street and Muscovy Street. Constructed between 1912 and
1922, it contains a massive tower rising above a portico of Corinthian
columns overlooking Trinity Square, and the offices are grouped roun:{
a lofty central apartment which has a domed roof of 110 feetin diameter.
The frontage to Secething Lane is more extensive and is faced by a
narrow strip of lawn enclosed by iron railings. The building was opened
by Mr. Lloyd George in October 1922, this being the last public function
carried out by him during his term of officc as Prime Minister. The Act
constituting the Port of London was passed in 1908, Mr. Lloyd George
himselfbeing President of the Board of Trade at that time. The Authority
consists of twenty—cight members, Lord Devonport was clected the
first chairman, and on 31 March 1930 it celebrated its twenty-first
birthday.

When the trade of the Port of London was languishing in the closing
years of the nineteenth century, there was plenty of excuse for pessim-
ism. Then when the newly constituted Authority was faced with a long
and costly list of reconstructions, improvements, and additions con-
sidered necessary if lost trade which had been diverted to Antwerp,
Rotterdam, and Hamburg was to be restored to London, it might well
have been dismayed. But instead of lying down to die, it faced its
tremendous tasks couragcously and confidently. Since then, acres of new
docks and miles of new wharves have been built, the bed of the river
has been decpened from the Tower to the Nore, additional dry docks
have been constructed, and costly new equipment and machinery have
been installed at a cost of /£ 20,000,c00.

On the south side of Trinity Square is a colonnaded memorial erected
to the memory of the merchant scamen and sailors who fell in the Great
War of 1914-18. Trinity Square also contains the hcad-quarters of the
Trinity Brethren, a corporation controlling lighthouses and buoys
round the British Coast, licensing pilots, and supervising navigation.

In Muscovy Street are the offices of the General Stcam Navigation
Company, with the main entrance in Great Tower Street, and at the
western corner of Pepys Street has just been erccted the large new
Walsingham House, which extends through to Crutched Friars. The
adjoining sites are still vacant awaiting the attention of the speculative
builder. The collective result of the extensive building operations carried
out in Lloyds Avenue, Fenchurch Street, and round the Port of London
Authority has been to transform this hitherto squalid section of the
City into a first-class neighbourhood. In Hart Strect and Seething Lane
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is the church of St. Olave, one of the cight survivors of the Great Fire,
and much frequented by Samuel Pepys the diarist. .

Directing our stcps towards Crutched Friars, continued by John
Street, we next come to the Minories, a wide and improving strect
connecting Aldgate with Tower Hill, at the eastern boundary of the
City. A few good buildings have been erected here of late years, the
most imposing of which is the Portsoken House at the corner of
Aldgate, already noted in our previous walk. On account of its con-
venient situation it can only be a matter of time before the City spreads
her mantle of splendour over this important main thoroughfare.

The Royal Min, situated on the east side of Tower Hill, was crected
in 1815 and is the joint work of Mr. Johnson and Sir Robert Smirke.
It is an old-fashioned-looking Government edifice of three storics, the
centre of which is decorated with a pediment and columns with wings.

A detailed description of the Tower of London, the oldest and most
celebrated fortress in Great Britain, docs not come within the scope of
the present work. Suffice to remark that it has done duty as a royal
palace, as a place for assemblies and treaties, as a prison, and to-day,
among other things, is the treasury of the ornaments and jewels of
the Crown.

The Tower Bridge, which is continued by the roadway on the
cast side of Tower Hill, was begun on 22 April 1886, constructed
by the City Corporation at a cost of /1,500,000, and opened on
30 Junc 1894. It contains a raised footway, 142 feet above high water,
rcached by stairs built in the Gothic towers. The twin bascules which
have a span of 200 feet are raised to allow the passage of large vessels,
and a bell is rung when the bridge is about to be opened. The central
span is 200 feet long and those on cither side with chain suspensions
270 feet each. The bridge was designed by Sir Horace Jones and Sir J.
Wolfe Barry. It is 880 feet long and the roadway is 49 feet wide. The
main towers are 120 fect high from the river piers and the abutment
towers are 44 feet high.

On the north side of Tower Hill a great improvement was carried
out some forty years ago by the removal of a block of houses between
Postern Row and what was then called George Street. It was situated
between Cooper’s Row, east of Trinity Square, and the Minorics, and
was formerly a tiresome obstruction to traffic.

At the castern entrance to Great Tower Street is the church of All
Hallows Barking, which is so called not because it had any connexion
with Barking in East London but because it was founded by the nuns
of Barking Abbey. This church was one of those which escaped
destruction in the Great Fire of 1666.

Among the great improvements carried out in this immediate neigh-
bourhood during the latter part of the nineteenth century were the
widening of Great Tower Street from St. Margaret Pattens Church to
Mark Lane, and the construction of Byward Street, which gives access
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to Trinity Square from the corner of Mark Lanc without passing
through the narrow eastern end of Great Tower Street. As a result of the
widening of the western portion of Great Tower Strect, the whole of
the north side is lined with modern buildings, and the greater part of
those on the south side have also been rebuilt in recent years. Thus
Great Tower Strect is practically a new thoroughfare.

Nearly opposite Mincing Lane is St. Dunstan’s Hill, giving access to
the church of St. Dunstan in the East. The tower of this fine cdifice was
the work of Sir Christopher Wren, but the church itself was built by
Mr. David Laing, architect of the Custom House, in 1817.

Passing down St. Dunstan’s Hill into Lower Thames Strect, we shall
next come to the Custom Housc, situated ncarly opposite, and having
an imposing stone frontage to the river. It was crected in 1814-17 from
designs by Mr. David Laing, but was afterwards altered by Sir Robert
Smirke, because the foundations were found to be defective, and the
central parts had to be taken down. No less than five carlier custom
houses erccted on this site were destroyed by fire, the third being that
which perished in the Great Fire of 1666. That built afterwards by
Sir Christopher Wren was destroyed by fire in 1718, and was {ollowed
by another built by Ripley which met with a similar calamity in 1814.

Just west of the Custom House is Billingsgate fish-market, the oldest
in London, dating from about the ninth century, and said to derive irs
name from Belin, a king of the Britons. The City Corporation erected
a market here in 1830, but this was replaced by the existing building
erected in 1877 by Mr. Horace Jones. It is constructed of Portland stone
with yellow-brick dressings between the upper windows.

Opposite Billingsgate fish-market is the Coal Exchange, a handsome
edifice designed by Mr. J. B. Bunning and opened in 1849 by the Prince
Consort, Queen Victoria having been prevented by illness from attend-
ing the ceremony. It contains a decorated circular hall and a tower over
100 feet high. During the excavations for the Coal Exchange the remains
of a Roman villa were discovered about 13 feet below the surface of
Lower Thames Street on a foundation laid upon wooden piles driven
into marshy ground. The opening procession was by water from White-
hall stairs to the Custom House.

Pudding Lane, leading from Lower Thames Street to Eastcheap,
marks the spot which gave birth to the Great Fire of 1666, and Fish
Street Hill running parallel to Pudding Lanc contains the Monument,
a fluted Doric column 202 feet high built in 1671~7 to commemorate
that drcadful event. In 1842 the gallery at the top of the Monument was
railed in to prevent people from committing suicide from that spot.
Fish Strcet Hill was formerly the main thoroughfarc leading to old
London Bridge, and on the west corner at Upper Thames Strect stood
the church of St. Margaret, destroyed in the Great Fire. After the
closing of old London Bridge, the river approach, having become
supcrfluous, was built over and is now covered by Fresh Wharf and the
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towering Adelaide Housc. The construction of Monument Stgcct led to
the demolition of the houscs on the west side of Fish Strect Hill, which
had previously obstructed the view of the Monument, so thqt to—day it
appears rather smaller when seen from the top of the Hill at King
William Street. _
The raised approach to the new London Bridge from King William
Strect necessitated the construction of the two new streets, namely,
Monument Street giving access to Lower Thames Street from the east
side, and Arthur Street immediately opposite leading to Upper Thames
Street from the west side of King WilliamStrect. Bothof thesestreets run
crescent-wise into Upper and Lowcer Thames Streets and contain some
excellent new buildings erected during the last five years. The construc-
tion of King William Strect also necessitated the demolition of St.
Michael’s Church in Crooked Lanc on the south side of Cannon Street.
Rebuilding operations have recently commenced on the south side of
Cannon Street, where a nine-storicd block of shops and officcs, erected
by Mr. J. A. Phillips, has just been completed. This covers thesitc extend-
ing from Miles Lane to Martin’s Lane, but as it is only letting up very
slowly, the demand for new offices in this quarter of the City would
scem to have been fully met for some time to come.
From here a short walk through King William Strect will bring us
back again to our starting-point at the Mansion Housc.



The Pool of London viewed from London Bridge.
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Work on the northern approach to the new London Bridge, showing
St. Micuael’s Church, Crooked Lane, prior to its demolition.




FOURTH WALK

QUEEN VICTORIA STREET, BLACKFRIARS BRIDGE

NEW BRIDGE STREET, FARRINGDON STREET, LUD-

GATE HILL, OLD BAILEY, ST. PAUL’S CHURCHYARD

CANNON STREET, SOUTHWARK BRIDGE, AND
QUEEN STREET, ETC.

UEEN VICTORIA STREET was constructed by the latc Metropolitan

Board of Works as a continuation of the Victoria Embankiaent,
with the object of providing London with a new main artery from the
Mansion House to Charing Cross. One of the most noble thorough-
tares in the City and by far the widest cast of Farringdon Street, it was
the greatest improvement carried out in the City of London during
the ninctcenth century. Not only did it provide invaluable relicf to the
enormous traffic of Cheapside, but it completely altered the appearance
of the centre of the City.

The total length of Queen Victoria Street is not far short of a mile,
or about the same as that of the Strand. It was opened to the public in
scctions, as its construction advanced and the different portions became
available for use. The first portion from the Mansion Housc to Cannon
Street was opened on 18 October 1869, a second portion 200 yards
long from Blackfriars Bridge to St. Andrew’s Hill in January 1871, a
third instalment of 220 yards between St. Andrew’s Hilland St. Bennet's
Hill in May 1871, and the final section between St. Bennet’s Hill and
what was then called New Earl Street, on 4 November 1871.

New Earl Strect was the former name given to that portion of Queen
Victoria Street situated between Trinity Lane and Cannon Street. It is
considerably older than the remainder of Queen Victoria Street, and
here the roadway, being only so feet wide compared with 70 feet in the
other parts of the street, constitutes a tiresome bottle-neck which inter-
feres with the convenience and even more so with the architectural
appearance of Queen Victoria Street. In 1871 it was hoped that this
defect would soon be remedied. But instead of taking the necessary
steps to purchase this offending block of buildings sixty years ago, when
it could doubtless have been obtained upon reasonable terms, the Metro-
politan Board of Works and the City Corporation allowed the “ship to
be spoiled for a ha’p’orth of tar’, and nothing further was donc in the
matter. Possibly the City Corporation may still contemplate carrying
out this badly needed improvement at some remotc time when t.hc
leases of these buildings expire, but we shudder to think of the price
which will have to be paid in order to acquire this cxtra 20 fect of ground
compared with what they would have been called upon to pay sixty
years ago. . '

The completed Queen Victoria Street was opened with a public

E2
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ceremony by the Metropolitan Board of Works on Saturday, 4 Novem-
ber 1871, as we have secn. This took place at 3.30 p.m., when there was
a procession of the officers and members of the Metropolitan Board of
Works and of the City Corporation, headed by Colonel Hogg, Chair-
man of the Board, and the Lord Mayor of London walking arm-in-arm,
the Sheriffs of London and Middlesex, and various London members of
Parliament. In the evening a dinner was given by the Metropolitan
Board of Works to the members of the City Corporation at the now
defunct Albion Hotel in Aldersgate Street.

Work on the construction of Queen Victoria Street was commenced
in 1867, and in Fcbruary 1868 the Metropolitan Board of Works
purchased the old leaschold offices of the Eagle Insurance Company at
the corner of the Poultry and the now defunct Charlotte Row, for
£ 64,000. This property was required in order to effect a junction of
Qucen Victoria Street with the Poultry, and during the demolitions
carried out here in January 1869 the remains of a Roman tesscllated
pavement were discovered close to Walbrook in the path of the new
street. The tesscllated pavement was 17 feet below the surface, and
although 1,400 years old was found to be as fresh and perfect as if it

had left the artist’s hands but yesterday.

In order to enable the gencral public to inspect the pavement, the
work of excavation was suspended for onc week, after which the
Metropolitan Board of Works handed it over to the City Corporation
for presentation to the Guildhall Museum. The pavement ran parallel
with the course of the old Walbrook River, and there were traces of a
building of importance on the west bank. Only two years previously
a similar pavement had been unearthed when digging for the founda-
tions of the former Union Bank, now rebuilt by the National Provincial
Bank of England. During threc days of the week after this discovery,
1o less than 33,000 people were admitted by the Authorities to inspect
these interesting remains.

One of the sites cleared for the new street was the triangular slice of
ground opposite the west side of the Mansion House, now occupied
by the building of the National Safe Deposit Company, erected in 1873.
But in 1869 the Metropolitan Board of Works werc surprised to receive
a deputation of City merchants and bankers asking them to preserve
this piece of ground as an open space. The Board referred them to the
City Corporation as being the proper party to approach on that subject,
as the deputation could scarcely expect the Board to find £200,000, the
value at that time placed upon this picce of land. Nevertheless it remained
vacant until November 1871, when it was let by the Metropolitan Board
of Works for £ 5,500 a year, or equal to one pound a square foot. It
WO(lilld be interesting to learn what this same strip of ground is worth
to-day.

In October 1869 the directors of the Metropolitan Railway wanted
to secure this sitc for the Mansion House terminus of their new line from
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South Kensington, instead of the cxisting site in Cannon Strect. In 1870
the Sclect Committee of the House of Commons gave its decision in
favour of this scheme, but the City Corporation opposed it. They
contended that it would interfere with the completion of the Inner
Circle line. The Metropolitan Railway Company, who had previously
obtained permission to extend their line to Mark Lanc via Cannon
Street, abandoned this scheme, and it was not until 1884 that they actually
completed the Inner Circle. An carlier scheme to connect the proposed
new station at the Mansion House dircctly with the Metropolitan Rail-
way station in Moorgate, by a short line running under Princes Strect,
was also defeated. The result was that the so-called Mansion House
Station was placed in Cannon Street, and people who wanted to travel
to and from the Bank in those days preferred an omnibus to the incon-
venience of having to walk up Queen Victoria Street to the Mansion
House Station. From a present-day standpoint the completion of the
Inner Circle Railway, together with the later construction of the tube
railways, has perhaps proved more beneficial to the requirements of the
metropolis.

Other valuable property which had to be cleared away for the con-
struction of Queen Victoria Street included nearly one half of the
houses in Bucklersbury and practically the whole of Sise Lane a short
distance farther west near Queen Strect. Bucklersbury, which leads
from Cheapside to Walbrook, derives its name from the house of the
Bokelers, an ancient City family, and abuts closc to St. Stephen’s
Church, reconstructed by Sir Christopher Wren after the Great Fire
of 1666. A curious featurc is the narrow old-world bookshop of Messrs.
F. and E. Stoneham, Ltd., which stands like a dwarf in front of the lofty
tower of this church. Sisc Lanc is a corruption of St. Sith’s Lanc, and
is named after the church of St. Benct Sith, also destroyed in the Great
Fire of London.

On the south side of Queen Victoria Street, between Bucklersbury
and Sise Lane, is the Mansion House Chambers, one of the largest
blocks of shops and offices in London, erected in 1872, and containing
about 500 rooms. It extends through to Budge Row at the rear. Until
1875 St. Antholin’s church stood on the comer of Budge Row near
Sise Lane, in which year it was demolished and its parish amalgamated
with St. Mary Aldermary. It was rebuilt by Sir Christopher Wren in
1682, and bore a lofty spire, which showed up to advantage from Queen
Victoria Street. Some fine buildings also line the north side of Queen
Victoria Street between the Poultry and Queen Street, and the vista
is greatly enhanced by the tall Gothic tower of the church of St. Mary
Aldermary in Bow Lane, which also abuts on the north side of Queen
Victoria Street.

By October 1873 Queen Victoria Street was so far completed that
it was in a condition to be handed over to the care of the City Corpora-
tion. By that time only one-twelfth of the surplus land was unlet, and
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that was between St. Bennet’s Hill and Blackfriars Bridge. The total
cost of the construction of the new street was £ 624,000.

In April 1928 an experimental one-way traffic scheme was brought
into operation whereby east-bound traffic proceeded by way of Queen
Street and Cheapside, and west-bound traffic along Queen Victoria
Street. This proved unsatisfactory, and was accordingly abandoned in
the following November.

Westof Cannon Street the buildings which line Queen Victoria Street
are with a few exceptions greatly inferior to thosc cxtending castwards
to the Mansion House, and this is particularly noticeable betwcen
Bread Street and St. Bennet’s Hill. Here may be seen a shabby row of
red-brick buildings far more suggestive of a second-rate suburb than
what one might expect to find in Queen Victoria Street no farther than
400 yards from the Bank of England.

Farther along on the south side are the head-quarters of the Salvation
Army and the Auction Mart. On the north side are the church of
St. Andrew by the Wardrobe, rcbuilt by Sir Christopher Wren after
the Great Fire, the Bible House of the British and Forcign Bible Society,
and the offices of the Telephone Department of the G.P.O. In Knight-
rider Strecet, to the north of Queen Victoria Street, stood until 1867 the
Doctors” Commons or College of the Doctors of Law, which originally
contained the Will Office. Here the doctors once lived together in the
collegiate manner for meals and lodging, and used to dine together
every Court day. It was demolished to make room for Queen Victoria
Strect, which passes directly through the site of the quadrangular garden
of the college. The dislodged Courts were eventually transferred to the
new Law Courts in the Strand.

On account of its ample width and casy accessibility, there can be
little doubt but that Queen Victoria Street in years to come will afford
unrivalled opportunities for the erection of ten-storied blocks of build-
ings with the upper floors zoned back from the strcet. Some day
perhaps it will be the show street of the City.

On the north side, close to Blackfriars Bridge, is The Times News-
paper Office, extending back to Printing House Square, and almost
opposite is the St. Paul’s Station of the Southern Railway, opened
about 1891, and the Underground Railway station. Blackfriars gets
its name from the monastery of the Dominicans or Black Friars,
cstablished by Hubert de Burgh, Earl of Kent, in 1221.

The present Blackfriars Bridge was built by Cubitts at a cost of
£350,000. The foundation-stone was laid by the Lord Mayor of London
on 20 July 1865, and the opening ceremony was performed by Queen
Victoria on 6 November 1869. Originally 80 fect broad, it was widened
between 1907 and 1909 to 110 feet, in order to provide additional space
for the London County Council tramways, which were then extended
from South London across Blackfriars Bridge and along the Victoria
Embankment. To-day it is probably the widest bridge crossing any
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The partly constructed Unilever House on the site of De Keyser’s Royal Hotel.
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river in Great Britain. The first Blackfriars Bridge was crected between
1760 and 1769, and the foundation-stonce, like that of its successor, was
laid by the Lord Mayor of London on 31 October 1760, and this bridge
was opened to the public on 19 November 1769. Tt was 995 fect lon};,
with a roadway 28 feet wide and foot-paths each 7 feet wide. It was
designed by Robert Mylne, and crected at the very moderate cost of
£ 153,000.

Later on the bridge was lowered and the open balustrade removed,
but in 1850 the foundations proved defective, and extensive work had
to be undertaken in order to strengthen some of the piers and stop the
threatened subsidence. In 1863 it was decided to pull it down, and a
temporary wooden bridge was constructed, pending the crection of the
new bridge. A long-drawn-out controversy raged in: 1862 as to whether
the new bridge should be onc of three or of five arches.

The construction of the first Blackfriars Bridge led to the formation
of New Bridge Strect, a fine broad thoroughfare leading from the
Thames to Ludgate Circus. It occupics the site of a portion of the old
Fleet ditch, which after the Great Fire of London was converted into
the so-called Bridewell Dock, and extended from Fleet Street to the
Thames. It was arched over in 1765 to makc room for New Bridge
Street. According to Knight's London, prior to 1756 the approaches to
the Thames on both sides of the Fleet ditch were occupied by a body of
miscrable ruins at the back of Fleet Street on the onc side and Ludgaie
on the other. Many of the narrow courts and alleys in this neighbenr-
hood became the abodes of thicves and criminals, who upon occasion
disposcd of the bodics of their victims by dropping them into the Fleet
ditch under cover of darkness.

Before the construction of the Victoria Embankment the northern
approach to Blackfriars Bridge, which is now a wide sweep cf open
roadway, was through Chatham Place, so named after William Pitt,
Earl of Chatham. This property was required by the Metropolitan
Board of Works for the construction of Queen Victoria Strect, and in
November 1869 they accordingly purchased it from the Bridewell
Hospital for /23,460.

When the first Blackfriars Bridge was built what is now Blackfriars
Road went under the name of Albion Place and only contained a few
buildings, so that the approach to the bridge from the Surrey side of the
river was not a very costly undertaking. It was originally intended to
name Blackfriars Bridge after the great Mr. Pitt.

At the western corner of New Bridge Street and the Victoria Em-
bankment is Lever House, now in course of rcbuilding, and formerly
De Keyser’s Royal Hotel. It was openced on s September 1874 by Sir
Polydore de Keyser, who came to London as a waiter from Belgium
and rose to be Lord Mayor of London. This establishment was very
popular with forcigners, and at one time every guest had to be intro-
duced personally or by letter before he could secure accommodation.
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The hotel, containing 400 rooms, was taken over during the Grc.:;t War,
in 1916, by the Royal Air Force, and was afterwards acquired by
Messrs. Lever Brothers for their London offices. Next door to Lever
House in New Bridge Street is an imposing block of buildings erected
a few years ago for Messrs. Spicer Brothers, paper merchants.

Midway between the Victoria Embankment and Fleet Strect, on the
same side of the road, stood the Bridewell, originally a royal palace
named after a well in the parish of St. Bride’s. It was given by Edward VI
as the first workhouse or House of Correction for vagabonds and idlers,
and was long regarded morc as a hospital than a prison, and merely

attracted an increase of loafers to the capital. It was finally demolished
in June 1863.

On the opposite side of New Bridge Strcet is a handsome new block
of offices, called New Bridge Strect Chambers, and Ludgate Hill
Station, the former terminus of the London, Chatham and Dover Rail-
way, opened on 1 June 1865. Having been found superfluous because
of its proximity to St. Paul’s and Holborn Viaduct Stations, it was
finally closed to passenger traffic by the Southern Railway in 1929. In
front of Ludgate Hill Station isasmall courtyard, over which an ugly row
of red-brick buildings and shops has recently been erected. A widening
of the roadway has been carried out here by the City Corporation.

Ludgate Circus was formed between 1864 and 1875. When the rail-
way bridge was constructed across Ludgate Hill the City Corporation
purchased some ground belonging to the former London, Chatham
and Dover Railway Company for the purpose of constructing a circus
at this busy traffic centre. This enabled the Corporation to construct the
castern side of the circus at a cost of /5,000, and to add seventcen feet
to the width of the roadway. The Metropolitan Board of Works agreed
to contribute half of the money required for this improvement. Later
an opportunity to form the north-west corner of the circus occurred
when St. Bride Street was constructed in 1868, and finally the work
was completed in 1875 by the rebuilding and widening of the south-
west corner of New Bridge Street and Fleet Street. Recently there has
been some talk of creating a larger Ludgate Circus, which would enable
the roundabout traffic system to be brought into operation here, but as
the cost is estimated at the enormous figure of £ 1,700,000, this scheme
is scarcely likely to mature for many ycars to come.

Farringdon Street, leading north from Ludgate Circus, is the widest
strect in the City, and owes this distinction to the fact that the now
invisible Fleet River, long since converted into a sewer, originally
followed the linc of this thoroughfare. It was named after William
Farringdon, a goldsmith and sheriff in 1281. On the west side until 1874
stood the Farringdon Market, built in 1829 at a cost of £80,000. It
occupied one and a half acres of ground on a slope close to Stonecutter
Street, and its situation was deemed most desirable from the standpoint
of its drainage facilities, but it was otherwise quite inadequate for its
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requirements, and was removed to Smithficld in 1874. The Farringdon
Market replaced the earlicr Fleet Market, which stood on the adjacent
site. With the exception of the newly erected Gordon House, none of
the buildings lining the west side of Farringdon Strcet possesses any
architectural merits, nearly all of them being old and ugly.

On the cast side of Farringdon Street is the Congregational Memorial
Hall, opened in 1874 to commemorate the bicentenary of the refusal of
the Act of Uniformity. Some two thousand ministers were ¢jected from
the Church in 1662. It has a frontage to Farringdon Strect of 84 feer, and
abuts upon the arches of the Southern Railway. Up to the plinth tl.e
front is faced with granite, and the remainder with limestone trom the
quarrics of Devonshire. It stands on a part of the sitc of the old Fleet
Prison, a four-story building for debtors which occupicd an extensive
arca. The principal building consisted of four stories called galleries,
nearly sixty yards in extent, in front of which was a large court for
excrcise. The Southern Railway now passes over a part of the site of
the Fleet Prison.

In March 1846 it was pulled down after an existence of nearly cight
centurics. The Fleet Prison was destroyed in the Great Fire on 4 Septem-
ber 1666, when the prisoners were temporarily removed to Caron
House, South Lambeth. After 1641 the Fleet had become a prison for
debtors only, and in 1780 it was again destroyed by firc during the
Riots, when the prisoners were liberated by the mob. It was rebuilt
again immediatcly afterwards. In front of Farringdon Strcct was ai.
arched opening commonly known as “The Grate’ from its crossed iron
doors, above which was inscribed, ‘Pray remember the poor prisoncrs
having no allowance’. A small box was placed at the window-sill to
receive the donations of sympathetic passers-by in the street, whilst the
prisoners called out after them in a pitcous tonc. If a prisoncr did not
wish to go into the common-room with others, for which of course he
paid nothing, he could be accommodated in the lowest story of the
building upon payment of 1s. 3., or upstairs in some better apartments
for the same rent, but sharing them with a fellow prisoner. The latter
could also be got rid of upon payment of 4s. 6d. per week or more,
according to the fullness of the prison. In 1842 the Fleet Prison was
abolished by Act of Parliament, and aftcrwards sold to the Corporation
of London for £25,000. At a meeting of the Court of Common
Council in 1854, it was proposed to construct a new strect from the
Old Bailey to Farringdon Strcet on the site of the late Fleet Prison, but
this scheme failed to mature. In 1845 the London and Birmingham
Railway offered to buy the Fleet Market as a City termunus. -

Seacoal Lane, on the same side of Farringdon Street, leading up into
the Old Bailey, was so named from the fact that barges on the Fleet
River at one tme landed coal here. A noteworthy building on this side
of the strect is Fleetway House, the new head-quarters of the Amalga-
mated Press Ltd., erected in 1925.
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Returning to Ludgate Circus, the first object to attract our notice is
the ornamental bridge of the Southern Railway, which crosses Ludgate
Hill. In May 1863 a petition against this disfigurement of Ludgate Hill,
bearing more than a thousand signatures, was presented to the City
Corporation. Nevertheless they entered into an agreement with the
then London, Chatham and Dover Railway to widen Ludgate Hill to
70 feet at the bottom where now stands Ludgate Circus. The great
difficulty encountered by any altcrnative plan to obviate the necessity
of constructing this railway bridge across Ludgate Hill, was the short
distance from the bank of the Thames to the junction with the Metro-
politan Railway at Farringdon Street. This would have nccessitated a
very steep gradient, and in order to carry the line under Ludgate Hill
it would have had to make a slight detour to reduce the ascent. More-
over, the cost would have been prohibitive, and the scheme would have
involved the destruction of the Apothecaries’ Hall and The Times Print-
ing Office, as well as threatening the foundations of St. Martin’s Church
in Ludgatc Hill, and the Old Bailey Sessions Housc. After all, with all
its defects, the ornamental features of the Ludgate Hill railway bridge
afford a pleasant contrast to the hideous bridge over the Borough High
Street from London Bridge Station. The foundation-stone was laid by
Lord Harris, vice-chairman of the London, Chatham and Dover
Railway, in 1865.

Just above the OId Bailey is the site of the ancient gate of the City
known as Lud Gate, which was demolished in 1760. A century ago
Ludgate Hill was only 47 fcet wide, whereas it is now 6o feet. It then
went under the two names of Ludgate Street from St. Paul’s Church-
yard as far as St. Martin’s Church, and Ludgatc Hill from thence to
New Bridge Strect, but the name of Ludgate Street was altered to
Ludgate Hill by the Mctropolitan Board of Works in 1865. At the
corner of New Bridge Street, before the construction of Ludgate Circus,
was a rather imposing building occupicd by the Albion Fire and Lifc
Insurance Company, but most of the other houses in Ludgate Hill were
of brown brick and typical of the gloomy Georgian architecture of
that period.

The widening of Ludgate Hill was a long and tedious affair, and
occupied from start to finish twenty-nine years. During that period,
covering the years 1863 to 1891, the rateable value of property in Lud-
gate Hill more than doubled, and this great delay resulted in new intercsts
being created, thus producing additional claims for compensation. The
tenants who were called upon to vacate certain premises for the widen-
ing of Ludgate Hill and received handsome compensation, had secured
other premises on the south side of the strect, which ought previously
to have been acquired by the City Corporation for this improvement,
and thus obtained further compensation. But to-day it is no longer so
casy to make money out of the City Corporation and the London
County Council by that method, for notices are now served upon the
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H.M. the King driving down Ludgate Hill after re-opening
St. Paul’s Cathedral on June 25, 1930.

Ludgate Hill in 1829, prior to the formation of Ludgate Circus.
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occupiers gccuring such premiscs intended for demolition, barring any
further claims. In 1878 no fewer than six houses were rebuil, and but
fo.r the pressurc brought to bear upon the Corporation to purchase the
said properties for the widening of Ludgate Hill, this opportunity might
well have been lost for cver. As it was, Ludgatc Hill renained an che-
sore for years, and in 1885 Aldcrman W. P. Treloar presented a petition
from the inhabitants asking for immediate steps to be taken to pull
down the remaining houses. Shopkecpers in Ludgate Hill had suffered
for years, and some of them had gone bankrupt because of the disorder
then existing. This petition bore the signatures of 110 firms, but was
unsuccessful, and it was not until November 1887 that the Corporation
agreed to complete this improvement.

Thus the width of Ludgate Hill was increased from 47 feet to 60 fect
by setting back the entire building line, and the souch side is now lined
with a handsome range of buildings extending from Se. Paul’s Church-
yard to New Bridge Street. Just beyond the railway bridge on chis side
of Ludgate Hill is the famous linoleum establishment of Messrs. Treloar
and Sons, and immediately opposite is La Belle Sauvage Yard, a cul-de-
sac in which is located the well-known publishing house of Messrs.
Casscll and Company, Ltd. From time immemorial La Belle Sauvage
had becn a famous hostelry, having been very popular in the old coach-
ing days. As recently as 1851 it was taken over by a new proprictor,
who renamed it the International Hotel and remodelled it to mect the
demand for improved hotel accommodation at the time of the Great
Exhibition in Hyde Park. It was pulled down in the sixtics, when the
inn yard was rebuilt and very much altered. Originally it consisted of
two yards, the inn occupying the inner one, and the outer court leading
through the present archway into Ludgatc Hill.

Higher up beyond the Old Bailey, on the same side of the street, is the
church of St. Martin’s, Ludgate, with a tall spirc constructed by Sir
Christopher Wren in 1684, which many people consider out of place
here, since it obstructs the view of $t.Panl’s from Ludgate Circus. Others
think that it harmonizesadmirably with the view of the cathedral, and by
contrast adds to the majesty of the dome. The writer thinks that it spoils
the vista from Ludgate Hill even more than the obnoxious railway bridge.

In the Old Bailey is the Central Criminal Court, rebuilt in 1903-6.
Designed by Mr. E. W. Mountford at a cost o.f £250,000, it is
crowned by a copper dome, 195 feet high, as pleasing to the cye, on
a smaller scale, as that of St. Paul’s Cathedral. Old Newgate Prison,
immortalized by Dick Turpin, Jack Sheppard, Claude Duval, and
others famous in the annals of crime, was rebuilt in 1770-83 by George
Dance, son of the architect of the Mansion Housc. The first cxccution
took place here, after the last one had occurred at Tyburn, on
7 November 1783, but after 1868, when public exccutions were
abolished, they took place inside the walls of the prison, and werc
announced to the outside world by a black flag. After 1882 Newgate
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ceased to be used as a prison. The last man to be hanged in front of
Newgate was Michacl Barrett, the Fenian, on 26 May 1868.

On the occasion of a public exccution crowds would flock to New-
gate in the early hours of the morning to sce the stage erccted on which
a real living actor was about to die. The neighbouring coffec-shops and
gin-palaces were thrown open to those who desired to witness this
horrible exhibition away from the crowds below, and pcople would
then rush in and bargain for seats. Upon these occasions, one overheard
cheery crics of ‘Exccllent situation, comfortable room, splendid view’,
as cach rival establishment reccommended its windows or the airy
gallerics on its roof. All night long the workmen would be engaged in
crecting the gloomy scaffold, and the sounds of their hammers and saws
would be drowned in the loud cheers and coarse jests uttered and
responded to by a brutal mob. No expression of pity could be scen on
the countenances of the workmen erccting the scaffold, who laboured
with as much enthusiasm as though they were crecting a mansion for
the Lord Mayor, instead of a place where a doomed man was to plant
his feet for the last time. Neither rain, snow, storm, nor darkness cver
prevented a huge crowd from attending an exccution at Newgate. It
was an cvent which held a great fascination for crooks, and mingling
with the crowd were criminals boasting of their companions who
years before had been imprisoned, transported, or hanged, whilst they
themselves were still at large with all their crimes. It was the most
aristocratic gathering of rascality to be scen anywhere in the world.
Some of those whose hair had whitened recalled the days when criminals
were hung up in a row, which of them had died bascly, and which
bravely, casting scorn on those who met death in sorrow and repentance.

Thus the hardened criminal was made more familiar with death, and
instead of repenting was tempted to go away and take life. Drunkenness,
tighting, profanity, and pocket picking were rampant amongst these
young frequenters of the gallows, and if dissipated women spoke to one
another in terms of pity, it was only the besotted sympathy of an
advanced stage of inebriation. Their crushed bonnets, dirty shawls, and
gowns fastened with a single hook proclaimed to the world that all
their self-respect had long since vanished, and sometimes a fight would
take place between two such women, who tore at each other like wild
animals blinded by their long hair, whilst their bonnets were trodden
underfoot in the crowds.

The dense sca of humanity extended along the Old Bailey and far
up into Giltspur Street. City clerks on their way to the office were often
tempted to linger outside Newgate, and needless to say their late
arrival would result in a strong rebuke from their indignant employers,
and sometimes in dismissal. Many an unfortunate young man started
his downward career from the day he first witnessed an execution.

Returning to Ludgate Hill, we next pass Warwick Lane, which runs
parallel to the Old Bailey, and contains the Stationers” Hall on the west
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side opposite Paternoster Row. It is approached through a court in the
centre of which is a large plane-trce. The old College of Physicians,
which also stood in this street, was pulled down in May 1866. Both ends
of Warwick Lane have been widened by the City Corporation during
the present century. 7

St. Paul’s Churchyard has been mostly rebuilt during the past forty
years, and on the north side boasts several handsome drapery emporiums,
such as Messrs. Hitchcock, Williams and Company, Messrs. Spence and
Company, and Messrs. Nicholson’s at the north-cast corner opposite
Cheapside. That of Messrs. James Spence and Company was specially
demolished in 1897 to crect a huge stand for the Diamond Jubilee of
Qucen Victoria. But the obligation to rebuild the premises again after
the event proved too cxpensive for the promoter of this rash speculation,
with the result that he was ruined.

St. Paul’s Cathedral, the old metropolitan church, was destroyed in
the Great Fire of 1666, after which the ground on which it stood began
to be cleared for a new foundation on 1 May 1674. The first stone of
the new cathedral was laid on 1 June 1675, and divine scrvice was
performed for the first time on 2 December 1697. But the last stone was
not laid until 1710, thirty-five years after the first. The new cathedral,
which cost £750,000, was paid for by a tax on every chaldron of coal.
In the period under review in this work it has been the scene of numer-
ous Thanksgiving scrvices, notably that for the recovery of King
Edward VII, when Prince of Wales, from a scrious illness in 1872, and
from another in October 1902, which delayed his Coronation. A
similar Thanksgiving service took place in July 1929 for the recovery of
King George V after his long and severe illness in 1928-9.

In 1025 the foundations of St. Paul’s Cathedral were discovered to
be in danger, and the pillars supporting the Dome instead of being buile
of solid stone were found to have been originally filled with rubble,
thus producing further risk of instability. Thereupon public subscrip-
tions were invited in order to provide funds for their restoration.
Something like /200,000 was subscribed, and the work put in hand
immecdiatcly. The eastern portion of the cathedral was partitioned off
and closed to the general public to enable the work of restoration to
proceed without interruption. The columns supporting the building
have been strengthened by the process of pumping liquid cement into
them to mix and solidify with the existing loose rubble. The work was
completed by 1930, and the opening ceremony was performed by the
King and Queen on 25 June 1930.

In August 1873 the City Corporation, desiring to widen St. Paul’s
Churchyard, agreed to pay the Dean and Chapter of St. Paul’s Cathedral
£20,000 for a portion of the land on the south side in order to remove
the railings farther back and to widen the roadway. This improvement
was then carried out and the roadway widened to nearly so feet. On the
south side of the Cathedral 8 feet of additional space were thus sccured
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for the traffic. These altcrations were completed in January 1874, and
the old iron railings, which had originally cost £11,200, were .sold by
auction for no more than £349. A formal ceremony dedicating this
improvement took place on 26 January 1874.

Variousattempts to induce the City Corporation to open the roadway
on the north side for vehicular traffic proved unsuccessful, and one st}ch
a petition was rejected in 1874. In January 1879 the City Corporation
invited firms skilled in the art of designing public gardens to send in
plans for the laying out of the grounds to be formed out of the church-
yard of St. Paul’s Cathedral, which up to that time had been paved with
stone.

In October 1878 a new peal of twelve bells was presented to St. Paul’s
Cathedral by the City Corporation, the leading City Companies, and
Lady Burdett-Coutts, at a cost of £2,500. The bells were hung in the
upper story of the north-west tower. Another new bell, known as the
Great Paul, weighing 17 tons, was placed in the south-west tower in
1882. In front of the Cathedral facing Ludgate Hill is a statuc of Qucen
Annc.

St. Paul’s School, removed to Hammersmith Road in 1 884, occupied
the cast side of St. Paul’s Churchyard. Founded in 1509 by Dr. John
Colet, Dean of St. Paul’s, it was rebuilt in 1822 and considerably en-
larged. It was a very handsome building fronted with stone, and con-
sisted of a centre and wings ornamented with a Corinthian colonnade
from the designs of Mr. C. Smith. This sitc is now occupicd by stone-
fronted warchouses and offices backing on to Old Change, but the
roadway is too narrow for the requirements of its traffic. The south side
of St. Paul’s Churchyard is fronted by a handsome range of modern
buildings, occupied mainly by large wholesale drapery establishments
such as Messrs. Pawson and Leaf, and Mossrs. Cook, Sons and Com-
pany. At the north corner of Watling Strcet and Ol Change is the
church of St. Augustine, buile by Sir Christopher Wren in 1682.

Directing our steps along Cannon Street, we now propose to furnish
our readers with a brief description of this important main City
thoroughfare. Without Cannon Street the City would surely appear to
the average Londoner of our own day as an impossibility. Yet Cannon
Street is not yet eighty years old, and even in 1851, if you wanted to
go from St. Paul’s to London Bridge, you cither had to go round by
Cheapside or through the very narrow Watling Street and its con-
tinuation Budge Row, leading into what was then only a short and
narrow edition of Cannon Strect, extending from Budge Row to King
William Street. It is interesting to learn from past records that the con-
struction of Cannon Street was vigorously opposed by City men, who
contended that it would fail to provide any adequate relicf to the great
congestion of traffic prevailing even in those days. The original Cannon
Strect was once named Candlewick Street from the candle-makers who
lived here in olden times, and made candles for the Catholic Church.
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The original S$t. Paul’s School, demolished about 1885.
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Between King William Street and the poirt where Budge Row
joined old Cannon Street, the alterations required to form the new
thoroughfare were confined to the widening of Cannon Street itself by
pulling down the houses on the southern side and rebuilding them on a
greatly improved scale as regards their size and accommodation. This
end of Cannon Street, being straight, now presents a very credic:ble
appearance when compared to the standard of the fifties of the last
century, with sufficient varicty to avoid any appearance of monotony.

But new Cannon Street, strictly speaking, only begins westward from
Budge Row, and here a start was made by the City Corporation on
25 October 1848 by the demolition of the houses on the south side next
to Dowgate Hill and Walbrook. In February 1849 workmen com-
menced pulling down the buildings standing between Budge Row and
the churchyard of St. John Baptist, and in May 1849 the immense mass
of houses bounded by Cloak Lane, Little St. Thomas the Apostle, and
Queen Street was removed, as well as another large cluster between
Dowgate Hill and Watdling Strect. The old burial-ground of St. John
Baptist was covered for the time being with the vast piles ot rubbish,
but was afterwards used to form a portion of the new street. Very little
information concerning the church of St. John Baptist is available in any
histories of London, and it would appear to have been an edifice of
minor importance.

In January 1851 the whole of the houscs on the south side of Cannon
Street proper, extending from Laurence Pountney Hill to Martin Lane,
including the Pewtcrers buildings and the East London Union, were
pulled down, and for this portion of the improvement the City Corpora-
tion voted the sum of //200,000.

Masses of buildings formerly occupied the space between Budge Row
and St. Paul’s Churchyard, and here lancs and narrow streets crossed
cach other in every direction. The clearance of this crowded arca was
at that time regarded as one of the greatest metropolitan improvements
since the Great Firc of London. The tiew warchouses erected on the
south side of the new Cannon Street appeared as stately to that genera-
tion of Londoners as any which have been erccted in the City in our
own time, and morcover they form a good foreground to the vista of
St. Paul’s Cathedral from this spot.

Between Queen Street and St. Paul’s Churchyard the most western
section of Cannon Street was carved out of the former Basing Lane, so
that the north side consisted mainly of old buildings, some of which are
standing to this day. On this account Cannon Strcet narrows consider-
ably between the Cordwainers’ Hall and Old Change, and not only
causcs increascd congestion of traffic at this point, but also spoils the view
of St. Paul’s Cathedral as secn from the other end of Cannon Street.

In April 1852 the workmen employed upon the construction of the
new Cannon Street discovered a Roman tesscllated pavement a short
distance east of Basing Lanc at a depth of ncarly 13 fect below the
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surfacc. Here they also found piles which supported walls of Roman
masonry in the black soil, which was interspersed with horns, bones,
tecth, and tusks of boars, oxen, goats, and other animals as well as
fragments of tiles, urns, and pottery of various descriptions. Cannon
Strect West was formally opened at onc o’clock on 22 May 1854 by the
Chairman, Mr. J. T. Hall, and various other members of the Improve-
ments Committee of the City Corporation. The cost of the new street
from St. Paul’s Cathedral to London Bridge was /800,000, and by
1856 the long line of wholesale warchouses extending from St. Paul’s
Cathedral all along the south side as far as King William Street had
been erccted.

Onc of these great blocks situated between Old Change and Distaff
Lane was originally occupied by the large German firm of Berens,
Blumenberg and Company, dealers in foreign fancy goods of all kinds,
who came to England shortly after the conclusion of the Napoleonic
Woars. Such buildings at that period were an entirely new feature of the
metropolis, and formed a most welcome contrast to the dingy, dark,
and ill-ventilated tencments which had donce duty as warchouses down
to that time. They introduced a new architectural splendour into the
vicinity of St. Paul’s Cathedral morc worthy of that masterpicce of
Sir Christopher Wren than their shabby predecessors. Even to-day they
would look very finc if only their respective owners would condescend,
once every twenty-five years, to have their fronts cleaned or stcam-
brushed, instead of allowing them to turn jet-black like so many
prison walls.

The Cordwainers’ Hall on the north side of Cannon Street, about 100
yards from Old Change, was rebuilt in 1910, and contains a branch of
the Westminster Bank. A widening of the roadway between this build-
ing and St. Paul’s Churchyard would afford a great rclief to the very
tiresome congestion of traffic caused by slow-moving vehicles, and that
greatestof all abominations, the draught-horse, which seems to monopo-
lize the vicinity of St. Paul’s Churchyard.

Southwark Bridge, at the foot of Queen Strect, was rebuilt at a cost
of /375,000, and opened by King George V in 1921. It is adorned at its
north-western corner by an exceedingly handsome new block of build-
ings called the Vintry House, crected in 1928. The original Southwark
Bridge was designed by Sir John Rennie, and was crected by a public
company at a cost of £800,000. The first stone was laid on 23 April
1815, and the bridge publicly opened in April 1819. In 1866 it was
purchased by the City Corporation for £800,000, but had been made
free of tolls on 8 November 1864. In former days unemployed soldiers
used to offer themsclves for hire ncar this bridge, so that any person
wanting strong men for some particular work could always obtain
their services.

Dowgatc Hill farther cast contains the hall of the Skinners’ Company,
and derives its name from a dock or water-gate called Downgate, from



CANNON STREET STATION 65

which point a ferry provided access to the other side of the Thames. It
was widened at the north end in 1865 for the construction of Cannon
Street Station.

In Upper Thames Street, running parallel to Cannon Street, is the
Vintners’ Hall, and at the next corner of Queen Strect is the fine block of
buildings called Thames House, which contains the head offices of the
Oxo Beef Company. On the corner of Lambeth Hill stood the church
of St. Mary Somersct, demolished in 1867. The City Corporation arc
hoping to widen Upper Thames Street some day, and a few houses on
the south side have alrcady been sct back a little.

Cannon Street Station, extending from Dowgate Hill nearly to Bush
Lane, was constructed between 1864 and 1866, when the former South
Eastern Railway extended its lines from London Bridge Station to
Cannon Street and to Charing Cross. Here a large number of houses
had to be cleared away, and a viaduct was built over Upper Thames
Strect for that purpose. The station was designed by Mr. John Hawk-
shaw, F.R.S., assisted by Sir J. W. Barry. No less than twenty-seven
million bricks were used in the erection of the arches under the station,
the length of which is 687 fect, the width 202 feet, and the total heighte
120 feet. The roof of the station forms a segment of a circle. The City
Terminus Hotel fronting Cannon Street was built by Lucas Brothers
from the design of Sir E. M. Barry, who was also the architect of
Charing Cross Hotel. That of Cannon Strect is largely used for public
dinners and company mectings, and contains also cighty-four bedrooms.
This is fewer in proportion to the size of the hotel than that of Charing
Cross, becausc of the large amount of space devoted to the public rooms.
Cannon Street Hotel was opened in 1867, and cost /;100,000. Recently
the hotel has been closed down and converted into offices, but the public
rooms are still udlized for banquets and company meetings.

Continental traffic, which formerly centred on Cannon Street, has,
since the formation of the Southern Railway, been transferred first to
Charing Cross and now to Victoria Station. To-day Cannon Strect is
almost entirely monopolized by the new clectrified suburban services.

Opposite Cannon Strect Station is St. Swithin’s Church, rebuile by
Sir Christopher Wren and containing in its south front the ccle-
brated London Stone which was placed in its present position in 1798
and is popularly supposcd to have becn a Roman milliarium. It is
a large mass nearly buried under the south wall of the church, and
only visible through a circular opening with an iron grillc.

A walk of about 300 yards either through St. Swithin’s Lanc or
Walbrook will bring us back to our starting-point at the Mansion Housc.
St. Swithin’s Lane contains the City Carlton Club, opened in 1879, the
Salters’ Hall and New Court, which is the head-quarters of Messrs.
Rothschild, the bankers, whercas Walbrook contains the City Liberal
Club opened in 1878, and St. Stephen’s Church already noted in this
chapter.
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CHEAPSIDE AND ITS TRIBUTARIES, GUILDHALL, ST.

MARTINS LE GRAND, NEWGATE STREET, HOLBORN

VIADUCT, HOLBORN, CHANCERY LANE, TEMPLE
BAR, AND FLEET STREET

THE POULTRY, which is the castern extension of Cheapside between the
Mansion Housc and Budge Row, still bears the name of the com-
modity once displayed there for sale, and the same thing applies to Milk
Street, [ronmonger Lanc, Wood Street, Honey Lane, and Bread Street,
all of them leading out of Cheapside. Bread Strect was the birthplace
of Milton in 1608. Cheapside, which was once an open market from
end to end, derives its name from the Anglo-Saxon word ‘ceapian’, to
sell or bargain.

Old Jewry, leading into Gresham Street, and dividing Cheapside
from the Poultry, was so named from the Jews who once dwelt there
and who were first brought from Roucn by William the Conqueror
to live there. On the right-hand side are the head-quarters of the City
Police. We might also add that various attempts made during the last
century to absorb that body into the Metropolitan Police proved un-
successful, and that they continue to enjoy in their plenitude the un-
disturbed privilege of sclecting their own “thicf takers’.

A century ago Cheapside had become one of the finest shopping
strects in London, and one writer, describing it in 1851, says that
although far inferior to many which had lately been built in the West
End, it must strike a stranger with amazement. He further adds that
half a dozen houses produced yearly double the income of numbers of
foreign nobles, and that many an old lady and gentleman had retired to
the quict suburbs on the rents derived from a single house standing in
this costly thoroughfare, for most of which two or three hundred pounds
ayear rentwas paid. When these figures arc compared with those obtain-
ing at the present day in Cheapside they can hardly fail to cause mirth.

On the north side of Cheapside, between Old Jewry and Ironmonger
Lane, is the Mercers’ Hall, rebuilt in 1884, of which the old fagade was
preserved and removed to the town hall of Swanage, Dorsetshire, in
1882. At the cast corner of King Street, leading to the Guildhall, is the
building of the Atlas Assurance Company, a handsome edifice in the
Italian style erected in 1835 from designs by Thomas Hopper.

The Guildhall, second only to the Tower in historical interest amongst
City buildings, was begun about 1411, and was partly destroyed in the
Great Fire of London. The Library was founded in 1423, and is main-
tained by the City Corporation as a free library. The walls of the
Guildhall were restored in 1909, and the handsome roof is altogether
modern, dating from 1865. The original oak roof was entirely destroyed
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in the Great Fire, and the main front much damaged. The existing front
was erected by Mr. George Dance in 1789.

For more than 150 years it had been a reproach to the City that its
fine hall had remained disfigured by its ugly flat roof, and its removal
had long been urged by the Court of Common Council as an offence
to architectural taste. In 1864 it was decided to erect a new roof of open
oak with a tapering metal spire in the centre, and this work was carried
out by the Committee of the Corporation with Mr. Kelday as its Chair-
man. The architect was Mr. Horace Jones, and the cost of the work was
£,20,000. The first stone was laid with some ccremony on 22 June 1864,
when the members of the Improvements Committce, including four
of the Aldermen, assembled on the roof. The hall was sufficiently com-
pleted to be used for the Lord Mayor’s banquet on 9 November 1865.
The present Guildhall Library and Muscum were completed in Novem-
ber 1872, and opened free to the public in March 1873, at a cost of
£ 50,000, in addition to /40,000 for the site. The Muscum is on the
ground floor, and the Library on the upper floor.

The church of St. Laurence Jewry, on the cast corner of the Guild-
hall Yard, was rebuile by Sir Christopher Wren in 1671, after the Great
Fire, at a cost of £10,000. Here the Lord Mayor and members of the
Corporation attend service on Michaelmas Day before electing a new
Lord Mayor. In April 1853 burials were ordered in Council to be
discontinued in this churchyard, the primary motive for this reform
having been the fears of the Aldermen for the healch of this district.

King Strect has been dargely rebuilt of late years, and contains some
fine office buildings, and the same thing must be said of Queen Street
directly opposite, where a large new edifice has just been erected for
Barclays Bank on the east corner of Cheapside. Several other important
buildings have been erected in Cheapside since the late war, and very
little now remains of those which lined this street even fifty years ago.
Dingy-looking, brown-brick houses have been replaced by tall and
handsome new buildings, which give Cheapside the appearance of a
new street. Nevertheless it lacks uniformity of width, being 60 feet wide
atits western end, about 55 feet at its eastern end, and only 48 feet in the
centre section oppositc Bow Church. This defect might well have been
remedicd years ago, since most of the buildings opposite Bow Church
are of comparatively recent construction, but that improvement would
appear to have been regarded as unnecessary by the City Corporation.
Close to Bow Church stood until 1929 the premises of Sir John Bennett
and Son, with its famous clock, which used to attract crowds to watch
the hours being struck by the picturesque figures. On this and the
adjoining site new buildings have just been erected.

Bow Church or, properly speaking, the church of St. Mary le Bow,
rebuile by Sir Christopher Wren after the Great Fire, is greatly admired
because of its tall steeple, 235 feet high, which some consider the finest
Renaissance campanile in the world.

E2
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In Milk Street on the opposite side of the road formerly stood the
City of London School, established in 1835, and founded on an income
of £900 a year bequeathed by John Carpenter, town clerk of London in
the rcign of Henry V. This cstablishment was opened in 1837, and
removed to its present site on the Victoria Embankment in 1883.

A few paces farther west on the same side is Wood Street, which
contains a flourishing planc-tree at the corner of Cheapside, marking
the site of the churchyard of St. Peter in Chepe, destroyed in the
Great Fire.

Friday Strcet on the south side of Cheapside, leading into Cannon
Strcet, was partly widened in 1913 by the City Corporation by setting
back the buildings on the west corner of Cheapside, but very recently
the houscs at the east corner, said to have been the oldest in Cheapside,
have also been pulled down. Here a large new building has been erected
for Messrs. Meaker’s, the hosicrs. Another intercsting feature of Friday
Street was the Saracen’s Head Inn, demolished in 1844, one of the oldest
in the City of London, which contained balconiesin front of the principal
floors.

Foster Lane, on the north side, running parallel to St. Martin’s le
Grand, contains the elegant hall of the Goldsmiths’ Company, built by
Philip Hardwicke, R.A., and opened with a splendid banquet on
15 July 1835. Here also is the church of St. Vedast, rebuilt by Sir
Christopher Wren, with a tower constructed in 1695-8. At the west
end of Cheapside is a statue of Sir Robert Pecl, crected in 1851.

At the junction of Cheapside and St. Paul’s Churchyard, an extensive
widening of the roadway was carried out in 1900 by the City Corpora-
tion, thus affording much rclief to the great congestion of traffic which
hitherto prevailed at this busy centre. For many years the City Corpora-
tion had intended constructing a new St. Paul’s Bridge across the
Thames, together with a new street, forming an approach, which was
to have been continued north of Cannon Street by a widening of the
cast side of St. Paul’s Churchyard and St. Martin’s le Grand. Much of
the property needed for this improvement had already been acquired
by the Corporation, but the late war intervened and further progress
was dclayed. Ultimately the scheme for the construction of St. Paul’s
Bridge was abandoned, partly because of the hostility displayed towards
the threatened great increase of traffic through the City, and partly
because of the grave fears entertained for the safety of the foundations

of St. Paul’s Cathedral resulting from the vibration to be expected from
the heavy volume of traffic passing along the east side of the building. It
was also considered that the north- and south-bound traffic of London
would be more suitably accommodated by the construction of a new
bridge at Charing Cross.

In 1926 a considerable widening of St. Martin’s le Grand was carried
out as a result of the demolition of the old General Post Office on the.
cast side of that strcet. Erccted in 1825-9 on the site of the church of
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St. Martin’s le Grand, the old General Post Office was pulled down in
1912-13. It was a large two-story edificc adorned with an lonic portico,
designed by Sir R. Smirke, R.A. Towards the end of the ninetcenth
century an cxtra story was added to this building. For some twelve
years, partly owing to the late war, this site rcinained vacant, until
the present handsome range of buildings was erccted between 1925 and
1927. These contain a branch of the Westminster Bank, the Empiie
Housc, and the new premiscs of Messrs. Courtauld.

To-day the business of the General Post Office is transacted in no less
than cight buildings where onc sufficed a century ago. The post office
system was invented by Mr. ]. Palmer of Bath, and in 1831 letters were
forwarded according to this plan by mail coaches provided with a
well-armed guard travelling at the rate of nine miles an honr, including
stoppages. Houses for the reception of letters were open i every part
of the metropolis before 5.0 p.m., and after that time bellmen collected
the letters for a further hour, receiving a fee of one penny cach. At the
General Post Office, at Lombard Street, and at¢ Charing Cross letters
were received until 7.0 p.m., and from then until 7.30 p.m. a fec of
sixpence was charged, and from 7.30 p.m. the entire postage had to be
paid, together with an extra fee of sixpence. The postage for ordinary
letters not exceeding four ounces was twopence. In London there were
six collections and deliverics of letters daily (Sundays excepted), and
at most places in the country three deliverics a day.

The west block of the General Post Office at the corner of Newgate
Street was erected it 1870-3 at a cost of /450,000, of which dhe site
alone cost £300,000. The north-west block at the corner of Angel
Street was opened in 1894. On this site stood the Bull and Mouth Horel,
a coaching inn rebuile in 1830 and renamed the Queen’s Hotel. The
latest addition to the General Post Office opened in 1910 is known as the
King Edward Building, and occupics a part of the site of the old Bluc-
coat School. Recently an underground railway has been constructed
from the General Post Office to Paddington on the west and to White-
chapel on the cast. The trains arc clectrically driven and automatically
controlled, and this railway is said to relicve strect traffic to the extent
of 1,300 van miles every day. o

Newgate Street contains some excellent modern office bglldmgs,
especially those at the corner of Ivy Lane, and the Greenwich Ll‘nolcum
house at the corner of Warwick Lanc, but otherwise nothing of interest.
It derives its name from the City gate which originally stood at the
west end of this street.

Until 1902 the entrance to Christ’s Hospital was situated on the north
side of Newgate Strcet. This school was crected on the sitc of the Grey
Friars Monastery, and was founded by Edward VI on 26 June 1553, ten
days before his death, as a hospital for poor fatherless children and
foundlings. Later it was gencrally known as the Bluccoat School, from
the dress worn by the boys. The first stone of the late building was laid
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by the Duke of York on 28 April 1825, and the hall publicly qpcncd on
29 May 1829. The architect was Mr. John Shaw, who designed the
church of St. Dunstan’s in the West. In 1902 the school was removed
to its present quarters near Horsham, Sussex. An opport.un,lty of con-
structing a noble avenue through the grounds of Christ’s Hospital,
which remained unsold for several years, was not taken advantage of by
the City Corporation. Such an avenue would have entered Aldersgate
Street, opposite Gresham Street, and thus provided an alternative route
from Holborn Viaduct to the Bank of England.

Paternoster Row, situated between Newgate Street and St. Paul’s
Churchyard, was in olden times a fashionable centre for shopping, and
was frequently rendered almost impassable by the congestion of carriages.
To-day some of the large shops on the north side of St. Paul’s Church-
yard back on to Patcrnoster Row, notably the fine new building of
Messrs. Hitchcock, Williams and Company, Ltd. The north side is
occupicd by some of the larger firms of publishers and by several retail
bookshops.

Between Ivy Lane and Warwick Lane on the north side of Pater-
noster Row stood Newgate Market until 1867, occupying the site of
what is now called Patcrnoster Square, and forming a quadrangle
between Newgate Street and Paternoster Row. It contained a market-
house, and a clock and a bell turret in the centre, and was principally
devoted to the sale of carcasses and butcher’s meat. For many years
Newgate Market was one of the greatest nuisances in the City, as not
only were some 600 sheep and 5o bullocks slaughtered there every day,
but this took place in cellars underneath the shops where the joints were
retailed to the public. The access to these cellars in the houses overlook-
ing the market was by steps, over which a board was placed for the
animal to slide down. But more often it was scized by the butcher
and pitched headlong down into the cellar, where, unable to rise
owing to broken limbs sustained in the fall, it awaited its turn to be
slaughtered.

A very ugly three-story block of buildings now occupies the centre
of Paternoster Square, which is entered on cach side through an arch-
way. If instcad of allowing this sitc to be built over, the City Corpora-
tion had thought fit to acquire this picce of land and convert it into a
pleasant garden with a fountain in the centre for the benefit of City
toilers in their lunch hour, they would indeed have carned the gratitude
of posterity. Ivy Lane derives its name from the ivy-covered houses of
the Prebendarices of St. Paul’s, and is onc of the most picturesque lanes
in the City.

At the end of Giltspur Street opposite the Old Bailey is the large open
space with a small garden in the centre now called New Smithficld,
surrounded principally by the offices of several of the large meat com-
panics, and bounded on the north side by the new Smithfield Meat
Market in Long Lane. It covers an area of over six acres, and until 1868
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contained the old Smithficld Market, at that time the largest cattle-
market in the world. It was long considered an even greater nuisance
by the citizens of London than Newgate Market. It had an annual turn-
over of seven million pounds sterling, and its confined space often gave
rise to scencs of dreadful cruelty. There was accommodation for 2,750
head of cattle, and standing room for 1,250 more, and 1,500 pens {or
sheep, each of which would hold sixteen, thus affording accommodation
for over 24,000 sheep. There were manyslaughter-houses in the imme-
diate vicinity, and great disappointment was felt by City people at the
refusal for a long time of the Corporation of London to do away witl
this market, and in September 1848 they had cven enlarged the market
by purchasing a valuable block of houses on the north-east side of the
Barbican for that purpose.

The market for living animals was cventually removed te Copenhagen
Ficlds, North London, in 1855, and the new market erccted on that site
was begun in 1857. The last market to be held at old Smithfield was on
11 June 1855. The new Central London Meat Market was begun in
1862, and completed in 1868. It is 2 handsome building in the Renais-
sance style, fronted with red brick, and flanked by four corner towers,
covering an arca of 3} acres, 630 feet long and 246 feet wide. It was
designed by Mr. Horace Jones and built at a cost of £200,000. The
extension on the west side, which houses the Metropolitan Poultry
Market, was opcned in January 1875.

Connccting West Smithfield with King Edward Street, and branch-
ing also into Aldersgate Street, is Little Britain, a thoroughfare which
commemorates the mansion of John Duke of Bretagne in the days of
Edward II, and which in the time of the Stuarts was the great centre for
booksellers. In St. Bartholomew’s Close, leading out of Little Britain,
Milton was secreted at the time of the Restoration waiting for his pardon
to be signed under the Act of Oblivion. Bartholomew’s Close was
likewise the birthplace of Hogarth.

Between Giltspur Street and Little Britain is the famous St. Bartholo-
mew’s Hospital, founded by Henry VIII after the dissolution of the
monasterics. The buildings arc approached by a gateway from Smith-
field, and enclosc a large squarc. A part of the site of the old Christ’s
Hospital is now occupied by an extension of St. Bartholomew’s Hospital
opened in 1907, and funds are now being raised for the purpose of re-
building the cntire establishment.

King Edward Street, leading into Newgate Street, and now contain-
ing the western block of the General Post Office, was once called Stink-
ing Lane, owing to the filth which used to accumulate here from the
neighbouring Newgate and Smithficld Markets.

The church of St. Scpulchre at the north-cast corner of Holborn
Viaduct, which has a very handsome perpendicular tower, was damaged
but not destroyed in the Great Fire of London. It is dedicated in honour
of the Holy Sepulchre of Jerusalem, and was restored in 1875. Nearly
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opposite in Giltspur Strect is Pic Corner, marking the spot where the
Great Fire came to a finish in 1666.

We now direct our steps towards Holborn Viaduct. This magnificent

artery was constructed by the City Corporation between 1863 and 1869
to carry the roadway over the valley of the Holebourne part of the
Fleet River. Itis 1,400 feet long and 8o feet wide, including an iron bridge
of 107 fect, which crosses Farringdon Street. With the object of levelling
the ascent from Holborn Bridge to Newgate Street, a new thorough-
fare had alrcady been constructed in 1802, called Skinner Street, which
was named after Alderman Skinner, through whose efforts it had becn
mainly built. It contained some finc buildings which were crected after
the removal of a number of old houses which had to be demolished for
this new street, but many of them remained untenanted for a long time.
Onc of these was a large house, seven stories high, which was erected
as the Imperial and Commercial Hotel at a cost of /25,000, but as it
was not a success, it was afterwards let as offices. This building was
destroyed by fire in 1814, and two houses were crected on its site.

Before Skinner Street was built, onc had to go round by Snow Hill,
which in those days was very narrow, stecp, and dangerous, and ruffians
are said to have amused themselves upon occasion in olden times by
rolling defenceless women down Holborn Hill in barrels.

The demolition of the houses and streets required to make way for
Holborn Viaduct was begun in May 1863, but the first stone of the
Viaduct itself was laid on 3 Junc 1867 by Deputy T. H. Fry, Chairman
of the Improvements Committee of the City Corporation. The central
object of this great London improvement was a statcly viaduct across
the Holborn Valley between Hatton Garden and Newgate Street, with
another strect opening opposite Hatton Garden into the newly formed
Holborn Circus, giving direct access to Ludgate Circus. This led to the
construction of St. Andrew Street, which passes by the back of St.
Andrew’s Church into Shoe Lane, the widening of the latter strect as
far as Stonccutter Street, and from here the construction of another
new street 50 feet wide called St. Bride Street, with casy gradients
leading down to the north-west corner of Ludgate Circus. In order to
give dircct access to Smithficld Market, another new thoroughfare
known as Charterhouse Strect had to be constructed on the north side
of Holborn Circus.

At first the problem which confronted the engincer appeared a simple
one, but on consideration of details the task soon assumed a more
difficult and complex character, particularly as regards the placing of the
numerous sewers, gas and water mains on higher levels. The Viaduct,
being of considerable heighe above the level of the Holborn Valley,
enabled the engincer to subdivide his vaulted passages into stories.
Thus a space was reserved for the areas and vaulted cellars of the houses,
and against these at the top is the subway containing the gas and water
mains, and clectric light cables. Below the subway is a vaulted chamber
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Work on the construction of Holborn Viaduct in 1867.

Middle Row, Holborn, demolislicd in 1867.
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constructed with damp-proof courses through its walls of considerable
depth, at the bottom of which, resting on a concrete bed, is the sewer.
The subways, which arc 11 feet 6 inches high and 7 feet wide, are
constructed of brickwork, excepting where they are carried under the
Southern Railway, where they are of tubular form and constructed
of iron. Including the new strects from Holborn Circus to the Charter-
house and Ludgate Circus, the cost of this wonderful improvement
was £ 2,100,000.

The most ornamental feature of the Viaduct is the cast-iron bridge
across Farringdon Street, on the top of which are pedestals containing
bronze statues represerting Commerce and Agriculture on the south
side, and Scicnce and Fine Arts on the north side. During the clearance
for the new streets nothing of special interest was brought to light, but
frequent discoveries were made of concealed passages for escape, and
nooks for hiding plunder in the squalid houscs of Ficld Lanc and its
unsavoury neighbourhood, the removal of which alone was a great
blessing to this part of London. The construction of St. Andrew Street
necessitated the removal of between 11,000 and 12,000 bodices from the
churchyard of St. Andrew’s, which were transferred to the City cemetery
at llford. Amongst other buildings demolished for the Holborn Viaduct
improvement was the Saracen’s Head Inn at Snow Hill, much frequented
by stage coaches in the pre-railway days.

Holborn Viaduct was formally opened by Queen Victoria on 6
November 1869, the same day as the new Blackfriars Bridge, aid the
procession was cscorted by the 1st Life Guards. The weather on that
day was fine, and the people of London were glad to sce the Queen
once more coming amongst them after a long absence, which they had
felt to be undeserved on their part. It seems that they failed to make
due allowance for the domestic and personal hindrances to her more
frequent appearance in the metropolis. Her Majesty appeared to be in
excellent health and spirits, but she was still in deep mourning for the
Prince Consort, although he had been dead nearly eight years, and all
of her servants still wore a mourning band of crépe on one arm.

At the approach to the Viaduct near St. Scpulchre’s Church, seats
under cover were crected for the guests of the City Corporation, as well
as a pavilion with seating accommodation for 6oo persons. Here a
deputation received Her Majesty, including Mr. Deputy Fry, Chairman
of the Improvements Committce, Alderman Carter, Sir Benjamin
Phillips, and other members of the Common Council. The festivities
included a banquet in the cvening, given by the Lord Mayor and Lady
Mayoress at the Mansion House, in honour of this great event. Some
250 gucsts were entertained, including the members of the Court of
Common Council, the Sheriffs, and other lcading officers of the
Corporation.

To all lovers of the ancient City of London, as distinguished from the
greater metropolis, this cnterprise on the part of the old-fashioned
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Mother Corporation in undertaking such great schemes of public
utility appeared cspecially gratifying. This day of festivities was there-
fore so mapped out as to include a visit to the newly opened Metro-
politan Mcat Market in Smithfield. During the decade from 1861 to
1871 London had been advancing more substantially, if perhaps a trifle
less rapidly, than Paris in the matter of its great strect improvements,
embracing Holborn Viaduct, Queen Victoria Street, and the Victoria
Embankment amongst others. St. Bride Street, which cost /45,000,
was only completed and opencd to the public in November 1871.

In 1863 an alternative scheme to the construction of Holborn Viaduct
was planned by Mr. Bunning, in which it was proposed to raisc the
gencral level of the various roadways, so that instcad of two steep hills,
there would have been four moderate inclines running north, south,
east, and west. This scheme upon examination was found to be too
costly, and thercfore that of Mr. Marrable for the Viaduct was adopted.

Ficld Lane, on the site of Farringdon Road, north of the Viaduct,
was an infamous rookery inhabited by the criminal classes, and con-
sisted mainly of filthy shops which were the head-quarters of petty
larceny. There were old clothes shops, rag merchants, public houses, and
fried-fish shops, many of which were frequented by pickpockets and
thieves who trafficked in dark back parlours. Huge bunches of pocket-
handkerchiefs purchased from pickpockets were displayed in the
shops here.

Opening into Ficld Lane, until pulled down in 1844, was Chick Lane,
which contained a notorious thieves’ lodging-house known as the Red
Lion Tavern, with passages for concealment. At the rear was the Fleet
Ditch over which the wrongdocr used to escape by climbing through
a window and crossing the Ditch by a plank into the opposite collection
of courts and alleys, and which could be quickly removed into the
opposite house in order to delay the progress of the pursuing policeman.

Holborn Viaduct Station on the south side of the road was opened on
1 March 1874 as the new City terminus of the London, Chatham and
Dover Railway, and this improvement necessitated the widening of the
Blackfriars Railway Bridge. The large hotel fronting the Viaduct was
requisitioned for Government service during the late war, and has since
been converted into business premises. It now contains the offices of the
Henley Telegraph Works Company, Ltd. Next door to the Holborn
Viaduct Hotel was another one called the Imperial Hotel, and this also
has been converted into offices and chambers since the late war.

Holborn Viaduct itsclf is principally occupied by motor-cycle manu-
facturers and firms dealing in typewriters. The buildings are of a more
or less uniform height and present a very handsome appearance, but the
only ones calling for special notice are the City Templeand St. Andrew’s
Church on the south side close to Holborn Circus. The City Temple,
erected at a cost of £/35,000, was opened in May 1874, and is capable
of holding 3,000 people. It contains a marble pulpit presented at a cost
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of 300 guincas by the Corporation of London. St. Andrew’s Church at
the comer of Holborn Circus escaped the Great Fire of London, but
was mostly rebuilt by Sir Christopher Wren in 1686.

At the western entrance to the Viaduct is a bronze equestrian statue
of the Prince Consort, unveiled by King Edward VII, when Prince of
Wales, in 1873. It was presented to the City Corporation by a private
gentleman, and was designed by Mr. Bacon, the sculptor.

On the north side of Holborn Circus is Hatton Garden, the head-
quarters of the London diamond merchants, leading to Clerkenwell
Road, and so named from Sir Christopher Hatton, Lord Chancellor
to Queen Elizabeth. It contains some excellent buildings, and several
jewellers” shops, which give this strect quite an opulent appearance,
almost worthy of the West End.

Ely Place, running parallel to Hatton Garden, from the entrance to
Charterhouse Street, marks the site of the old palace of the Bishops of
Ely, and was once entered by a great gateway. It was built by Bishop
Arundel in 1388. Saffron once grew in the garden of Ely House, and
hence the name of Saffron Hill given to an adjoining thoroughfare. To
please Queen Elizabeth, Bishop Cox leased the gatchouse and garden to
Sir Christopher Hatton, who expended a large sum of money upen Ely
Place. Sir Christopher Hatton borrowed the money from Queen
Elizabeth for that purpose, and when the Queen wanted her money
back he died of a broken heart. Bishop Cox was obliged to consent to
the mortgaging of the house and grounds to Sir Christopher Hatton,
until all the money expended upon Ely Place had been repaid, but when
Queen Elizabeth found his successor, Dr. Martin Heton, unwilling to
honour this agreement, she summarily ordered him to comply, failing
which she would unfrock him.

The only remaining relic of old Ely House is the chapel on the west
side of Ely Place, dedicated to St. Etheldreda. Ely Place is outside the
jurisdiction of the ordinary custodians of law and order. The gates of
the lodge are closed at 10.0 p.m. mtil 6.0 a.m., and at closing time the
square is patrolled when the watchman announces, ‘Past ten o’clock,
all’s well’. It scems that the sanctuary rights are so jealously preserved
that no policeman ever sets foot inside this street, and not even at the
adjoining Mitre Tavern running between Ely Place and Hatton Garden
could a person be arrested or be served with a writ.

We turn next into Holborn, which derives its name from the Hole-
bourne section of the Fleet River. This is a very broad thoroughfare
from Holborn Circus as far as Chancery Lanc, and has undergone a
complete transformation during the past thirty years. Until July 1898
Furnival’s Inn stood on the north side. The site is now covered by the
huge edifice of the Prudential Assurance Company. It was named after
Sir William Furnival, who once owned this land, and was an Inn of
Chancery attached to Lincoln’s Inn. Its original buildings were re-
garded as exceedingly stately, having a front by Inigo Jones, but these
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were mostly pulled down in the time of Charles T and entirely rebuilt
in 1808, when it was let to Henry Peto on a building lease of 100 years.
His statue, crected in 1830, stood in the former courtyard. Within
Furnival’s Inn stood Wood’s Hotel, a high-class old-established house
for gentlemen and for families. Dickens wrote the Pickwick Papers whilse
living at Furnival’s Inn.

The old Bell Inn at No. 123, which was rebuilt in 1898, contained
onc of the most picturesque courtyards in England, surrounded by
ticrs of balconied galleries hung with flowers in summer. The rebuilt
Old Bell is sandwiched in between two large modern blocks of build-
ings forming the well-known establishment of Messrs. A. W. Gamage,
Lted., the firm of athletic outfitters. The western block at the corner of
Leather Lane occupies the site of the old Ridler’s Hotel, and on part of
the site of the eastern block stood the Black Bull Hotel. Similar changes
have taken place on the south side of Holborn, and here the most
important building is the large drapery emporium of Messrs. Thomas
Wallis and Company, Ltd., at the corner of Holborn Circus. Farther
west are the stately offices of Messts. Buchanan’s, the whisky manu-
facturers, and a number of other very modern office buildings.

Farther west, opposite Grays Inn Road, is Staples Inn, now the
property of the Prudential Assurance Company, consisting of two
irrcgular quadrangles, and containing a small garden in the south court
with a fountain. It was originally a hostelry of the wool staple, serving
as a kind of custom house, where wool was weighed and dues collected
upon it. In all the hundreds of years since London became a city of
importance it has not been able to sweep its roaring tide over that little
island of quiet. It is associated with Dickens and figures in Edwin Drood.
Here also Dr. Johnson moved on 23 March 1759 from Gough Square
and wrote Rasselas. Close by stood Barnard’s Inn, demolished early in
the present century, the site of which is now occupied by the Mercers’
School. The old hall of this inn is still utilized as a dining-room.

Close to Grays Inn Road is the Holborn Cenotaph, a striking bronze
statue by Albert Toft, forming the War Memorial of the Royal
Fusilicrs. At the junction of Grays Inn Road and Holborn, stone pillars
mark the City boundary.

Just west ot Staples Inn is an imposing nine-story building containing
a branch of the Westminster Bank. It was erected in 1901 for the Birk-
beck Bank, which closed its doors in 1911 after a chequered carcer.
Eventually, after all the assets had been rcalized, the sharcholders re-
ceived 16s. 9d. in the pound. In front of the grimy old buildings which
had previously occupicd this site stood until 1867 a row of old houses
called Middle Row, which abutted on Holborn Bars, thereby greatly
reducing the width of the main street in much the same fashion as
Holywell Street formerly reduced the widch of the Strand and Bozier’s
Court that of Tottenham Court Road. For at least a couple of centuries
Middle Row had been regarded as an obstruction, for already in 1657 it
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s mentioned by Howel in his Perlustration of London as a mighty hind-
rance to Holborn, which, if it were taken down, there would be from
Holborn Conduit to St. Giles one of the fairest rising streets in the world.
Here in a house called the Golden Anchor, Dr. Johnson lodged in 1748.
On Saturday, 31 August 1867, the demolition of Middle Row was
commenced, and a long needed metropolitan improvement thus effected
in this neighbourhood. The new roadway was completed for traffic by
December 1867.

Directing our walk along Chancery Lane, once called New Street,
and then Chancellor’s Lane, this winding thoroughfare still follows very
much the lincs of an old country lane. Nevertheless it wili surprise the
average Londoner of to-day to learn that both of its approaches, from
Holborn on the north, and Flect Strect on the south, were at one time
even narrower than they are at present.

In November 1850 rcbuilding took place at the corner of High
Holborn and Chancery Lane, and the inhabitants, desiring to have this
corner widened, raised a sum of /5,350 by public subscription for that
purpose, a part of which was paid to Mr. Steel, the owner, for surrender-
ing aslice of ground s1 feet long by 7 fect wide. This improvement was
carried out by resolution at a meeting convened by the parish officers at
the request of inhabitants and occupiers of premises within the united
parishes of St. Andrew Holborn and St. George the Martyr in responsc
to a numerously signed petition. The offer made by Mr. Stecl, who was
rebuilding his corner premises at that time, was considered most
reasonable, as it was said that if this splendid opportunity had been
allowed to pass by, the eventual cost of this improvement would have
been £ 40,000.

On the east side of Chancery Lane is the new Record Office, a fine
Tudor building extending to Fetter Lane, and which is the repository of
Statc papers from as far back as the year 1100 to the present day. The
buildings are in the Tudor Gothic style, with tall, deeply embrasured
windows, and were designed by Sir James Pennythorne, and added to
between 1891 and 1900 by Sir John Taylor, with the frontage to
Chancery Lanc, at a cost of /200,000. The new buildings have in-
corporated part of the Rolls Chapel, and covered the site of the court
of the Master of the Rolls. The older scction of the Record Office,
which is in Fetter Lane, was constructed in 1866, prior to which time
the records were stored in the Tower, the Chapter House, and the
Rolls Chapel in Chancery Lane.

Fetter Lane, running parallel to Chancery Lanc on the east side, is
said to derive its name from fewters or beggars which once infested it.

On the west side of Chancery Lane is the building of the Law Society,
formed in 1823 for the purpose of providing a hall for the daily resort of
the profession, a library, reading-room, and fire-proof rooms for deposit-
ing decds and papers. Both Scotland and Ireland had already established
halls and libraries for their barristers before the English Legal profession
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followed suit. In 1825 a sum of /50,000 was raised for that purpose in
shares of 25s., with power to increase the capital to £75,000, and in
1827 the Committee erected the present building. A Royal Charter
of Incorporation was granted on 22 December 1831, and the institution
opened for the use of members on 4 July 1832. Owing to the dis-
advantages occasioned by the joint-stock character of the undertaking,
a new charter was granted on 26 February 1845, merging the individual
liabilities of the earlicr members into the new corporation. A new wing
was opened by King Edward VII in 1904.

On the west side of Chancery Lane, near Fleet Street, where now
stands a branch of the Bank of England, another widening was carried
out in 1855. Two houses, Nos. 130 and 131 at the south-west corner,
now occupicd by a jeweller’s shop, had already been pulled down in
March 1853. These contained projecting windows, overhanging stories,
and gabled fronts, and were nearly 250 years old.

Turning next into Fleet Street, nearly opposite Chancery Lane at the
entrance to the Inner Temple is a hairdresser’s shop with a projecting
upper story built in 1610. On the first floor is a chamber known as
Prince Henry’s Room, once the Council Chamber of the Duchy of
Cornwall. The London County Council and the City Corporation
jointly purchased this building in 1900, when it was about to be
demolished, and restored the premiscs at a cost of £30,000. Next door
is a branch of Barclays Bank, erected on the site previously occupied
by Gosling’s Bank, where Warren Hastings, Clive, and Pope, and many
other notable people kept their accounts. Goslings Bank was absorbed
by Barclays Bank about twenty-five years ago.

A few yards farther west is Childs Bank now acquired by Glyn
Mills and Company, which adjoins the site of the old Temple Bar,
demolished in 1878. The rooms over the Temple Bar used also to be
occupied by Childs Bank, whose premises were adjacent. Childs Bank
held the current accounts of Oliver Cromwell, Nell Gwyn, King
William III, and Queen Mary, and they were the tenanes of the City
Corporation for the rooms over the gateway, for which they paid the
modest rental of £20 per annum. In 1874 it was discovered that the
keystone of the arch was out of the perpendicular, and but for this
misfortune which befell the Temple Bar, the archives which have
revealed so many interesting documents would never in all probability
have come to light. Childs Bank itsclf was demolished in 1879, and
rebuilt a few fect farther back from the old line of frontage.

The Temple Bar, a gateway of Portland stone, designed in 1670 by
Sir Christopher Wren, had long been regarded as an obstruction to
traffic, and already in 1858 the Metropolitan Board of Works passed a
resolution that a communication be sent to the City Corporation to
that cffect. However, it was not pulled down until twenty years later,
after which the present much criticized pillar surmounted by a dragon
was erected in 1880 as a2 memorial of the Temple Bar. Wren’s famous
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gateway was re-crected in 1888 in Theobald’s Park, Waltham Cross, by
its owner, Sir Henry Meux. In 1875 it had been proposed to remove the
old Temple Bar to Hyde Park or the Thames Embankment, but this
scheme failed to mature.

On the north side of Fleet Street, between Chancery Lane and Fetter
Lane, stood the offices of the Crown Insurance Company, a finc building
erected in 1866. It was pulled down in 1922 to make way for the new
premises of the Gresham Life Assurance Company. The church of
St. Dunstan’s in the West, immediately adjoining, was buile by Mr.
Shaw between 1831 and 1833. It contains an imposing tower, and re-
placed an carlier church which was famous for its clock on which two
giants struck the hour.

Nearly opposite is the Cock Tavern, which originally stood at
No. 201 on the north side of the street, and was demolished in 1886
after an existence of more than 300 years. The ancient sign of the Cock
was set up again on the opposite side of the street in the present building,
which was refronted a few years back with a Tudor fagade, and set
back 2 or 3 fect to conform to the new frontage of Fleet Street.

The widening of Flect Street, like that of Ludgate Hill, was a long-
drawn-out undertaking extending over a period of twenty years between
1897 and 1916, during which time practically the entire building line
on the south side was sct back between Ludgate Circus and the Temple
Bar. To-day Fleet Street has a uniform width of 60 feet, the same as that
of Ludgate Hill, and providing accommodation for four lines of traffic.

A start was made on the work in 1897 by rebuilding the three houscs
between Ludgate Circus and Bride Lane, including the Punch Tavern
at the rear. This was followced in 1901 by the widening of the section
between Bride Lane and Salisbury Court. Amongst other buildings
then demolished were the former offices of Punch, situated on the east
corner of St. Bride’s Avenue, and now removed to Bouveric Street. At
the.back of Fleet Strect on the west side of Bride Lane is the Old Bell
Tavern, which unfortunately was not included in the rebuilding of
Fleet Strect. Because of this defect, the strip of land separating the Old
Bell Tavern from Fleet Street is so narrow that only inferior buildings
of a low clevation have been erected on this site, which have completely
disfigured this part of Flect Street. For many years after 1901 progress
was very slow, and only a few isolated buildings were set back to the
new line of frontage. After 1911, when the handsome new building
of the Norwich Union Insurance Society was erected at the west end of
Fleet Street, the pace was accelerated, and by the end of 1916 practically
all of the houses had been set back to the new building line, including
the offices of the Daily Chronicle at the west corner of Salisbury Court.
A few buildings still remained to be brought into conformity with the
amended line of frontage, such as that of the Daily News, and the Cock
Tavern which only affected the width of the pavement, but with the
solitary exception of Mooney’s Irish House, which still protrudes about
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three feet beyond the amended building line, the widening of Fleet
Street has long since been completed. As a result of this great improve-
ment a new vista of St. Dunstan’s Church, hitherto concealed, has been
opened up from Ludgate Circus.

Fleet Street lacks that uniformity in the height of its buildings which
renders Ludgate Hill so pleasing to the eye, but its latest buildings are of
a more imposing character and clevation. Although Flect Street is
to-day the centre of the newspaper industry, it did not start here until
the nineteenth century. The Morning Advertiser came here in 1825 to
No. 127 after an cxistence in the Strand of thirty years, and only one
other paper, namely, the Daily Telegraph, was then published in Fleet
Street itself. The tall and statcly new buildings which have just been
erccted on the north side of Fleet Street for the Daily Telegraph, rising
to 120 feet, and the Daily Express with their upper floors zoned back
from the pavement, make some of the ncighbouring buildings look
very shabby. One wonders what the City fathers of a generation back
would have said to the proposal to erect such lofty structurcs in the
narrow Flect Street of those days. The building next door to the Daily
Telegraph now occupicd by the Liverpool Post was originally the home
of the Standard, which cecased publication during the late war. Other
fine buildings which have been erected of late years include Bouverie
Housc a short distance west of the Daily Telegraph offices, and, on the
south side, the Chronicle House and the adjoining Barclays Bank at the
west corner of Salisbury Court.

Fleet Street is equally famous for itsnumerous taverns, where solicitors
and journalists congregate for luncheon. In the olden days these taverns
and coffee-houses were the Londoners’ rendezvous, and those who
wished to find any particular gentleman commonly inquired not
whether he lived in Fleet Street or Chancery Lane, but whether he
frequented the Grecian or the Rainbow. Some of these taverns have
disappcared of late years as the result of strect improvements and re-
building, and the Rainbow has becn converted into a wine house. In
addition to thosc which we have already noticed, there is Peele’s at the
corner of Fetter Lane, Anderton’s Hotel a few doors farther east, the
Mitre on the opposite side of Fleet Strect in Mitre Court, the Kings and
Keys, and the world-renowned Cheshire Cheese, which is not really in
Fleet Street at all but in Wine Office Court.

A peculiarity of Fleet Street is the long unbroken stretch of buildings
extending from Shoc Lane to Fetter Lane, without any side streets, but
containing a veritable warren of courts and alleys, guaranteed to con-
fuse cven a regular frequenter who might be looking for, say, Johnson’s
Court, Bolt Court, or Gough Square. The house of Dr. Johnson in
Gough Square has recently been purchased by Mr. Cecil Harmsworth,
and handed over by this gentleman as a gift in trust for the nation.
Bouverie Strect and Whitefriars Strect, leading out of Fleet Street on the
south side, arc mainly devoted to the newspaper industry, as well as
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Tudor Street, which houses the Institution of Journalists and the head
offices of the Daily Mail.

A detailed account of the glorics of the Temple, situated between
Fleet Strect and the Victoria Embankment, away from the turmoil of
the City traffic, cannot be included for want ot space within these pages.
This very delightful locality, boasting great antiquity, contains Gothic
halls, interesting old buildings, lawns, dull old quadrangles, trees, and
flower gardens, and the secluded Fountain Court with its rockerics and
flowers. It bears all the appearance of some ancient university town, and
is onc of those pleasant surprises which only London seems able to
reveal to the casual visitor familiar with the leading capital cities of the
world. The Temple Church dates back to the year 1185, and the choir
was finished in 1240. Restorations were carried out between 1839 and
1842 at a cost of £70,000. Charles Lamb was born in Crown Office
Row and Dr. Johnson had rooms in the Inner Temple Lanc, now
covered by the modern Johnson’s Buildings. The Temple Gardens
originally cxtended right down to the river, but are now separatced from
it by the Victoria Embankment.

In Salisbury Squarc just off Fleet Street are the head-quarters of the
Church Missionary Socicty, and also the offices of the Times of India.
Until some twenty years ago this latter building was the Salisbury
Hotel, once the great rendezvous of country squires and others con-
cerned in agriculture.

St. Bride’s Church at the back of Fleet Street was rebuilt by Sir
Christopher Wren in the Italian stylc in 1680, and completed in 1703 at
a cost of £11,400. The steeple, which was originally 234 feet high, was
struck by lightning in 1764, and so damaged that it was deemed advisable
to reduce its elevation by 8 feet. Bride Lane contains the St. Bride’s
Institute, consisting of a free library, reading and lecture rooms, a
gymnasium, swimming bath, and class-rooms for technical instruction.

The large block of offices now called the Ludgate House at the north-
west corner of Fleet Street and Ludgate Circus was until 1926 the head
officcs of Messrs. Thomas Cook and Sons, the well-known firm of
tourist agents, who have since removed to Berkeley Strect in the
West End.

On the cast side of Bouverie Street is the handsome new building of
the News of the World, the central portion of which is crowned by a
square stonc tower. Whilst the rebuilding of these premises was in
progress, a perfectly formed crypt was discovered scveral feet below
the ground level, which is supposed to have formed part of the old
Whitefriars Monastery.

Our return journey from this point to the Mansion House is by way
of Ludgate Hill and Cannon Street, which we have already dealt with
in our previous chapter.



SIXTH WALK

PRINCES STREET, MOORGATE, LONDON WALL, FINS-

BURY CIRCUS, FINSBURY SQUARE, BUNHILL FIELDS

CHISWELL STREET, FORE STREET, BARBICAN
ALDERSGATE STREET, AND GRESHAM STREET

E now take the last of our walks from the Mansion House. We
‘; V have taken in turn each road leading from the hub of London,
and we now turn into the last of these, Princes Street. Here, facing the
west side of the Bank of England, are the National Provincial Bank and
the huge new head offices of the Midland Bank, two of the so-called
‘big five’. That situated on the corner of Princes Street and the Poultry,
facing the Mansion House, is the newly crected nine-story building of
the National Provincial Bank of England. On the site now covered by
these two latter banks stood a four-story row of houscs and offices
crected about a century ago, and faced with stucco. Until 1928 those
corresponding to the site of the present Midland Bank in Princes Street
were still standing, but the other portion of these houses, extending to
the corner of the Poultry, were pulled down at least fifty years ago to
make way for the handsome offices of the Union Bank of London, now
merged into the National Provincial Bank.

A survey of the foundations of this building, carried out in 1928 as
a precaution against the possibility of their collapse, resulted in a
decision to pull it down and crect the present modern building on this
site. It was feared that the extensive cxcavations taking place on the
adjoining site and at the Bank of England might otherwise result in
this finc building sharing the fate of the Commercial Union Assurance
Company in Cornhill by falling down.

On that portion of the site of the former Union Bank of London
which faced Mansion House Street stood previously a very popular
tavern known as the European. It was one of a row of brown-brick
Georgian houses, and so brisk was business during the entire day at this
establishment that freshly drawn glasses of ale and stout stood ready on
the counters for immediate consumption. There was also a huge de-
mand for food snacks and sausage rolls, and one went in at one door
and out at the other to avoid the crush of people.

In 1928 the City Corporation availed themselves of the opportunity
thus afforded of purchasing a few feet of ground from the National
Provincial Bank of England, to round oft the sharp corner of the
Poultry and Princes Street, at a cost of £78,000, a startling indication of
the value of land to-day in the heart of the metropolis.

The stately head offices of the Midland Bank, designed by Sir Edwin
Lutyens, are not yet entircly completed, though they have been six
years in course of construction. The building is nine stories high, with
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the upper floors zoned back from the street, like Lloyds Bank and other
recently constructed buildings in the City and elsewhere. The greater
portion of the frontage to the Poultry was occupied until 1925 by the
handsome building of the Gresham Life Assurance Company. This
building was not more than half a century old at the time of its demoli-
tion, but as the Midland Bank was particularly anxious to obtain this
valuable site, it not only paid handsome compensation, but erected
a new building for the Gresham Life Assurance Company in Fleet
Street. St. Mildred’s Church, Poultry, one of the many which were
rebuilt by Wren after the Great Fire of London, had previously stood
on the site of the building of the Gresham Life Assurance Company.
and was demolished in 1872.

Adjoining the Midland Bank in Princes Street is a block of red-brick
buildings faced with stone dressings, containing bank premises and
also giving access to the courtyard of the Grocers’ Hall. These buildings,
although comparatively modern, are now so dwarfed by their tall
neighbours as to appear positively suburban by comparison.

At the corner of Gresham Street is an clegant building now occupicd
by the Royal Bank of Canada. It curves round from Princes Street into
Gresham Street and Old Jewry and was originally built in 1901 for the
Governors of the Bank of England and is crowned with two stone
towers. Until 1901 the roadway in Gresham Strect was very narrow at
these cross roads, but in that ycar an extensive widening was carricd out
by the City Corporation at this corner, previously occupiced by a block
of dark and gloomy houses.

At the junction of Princes Street and Gresham Street begins Moor-
gate. This very important thoroughfare, constructed between 1835
and 1840, is a quarter of a mile long and about so feet in width, and
connects Moorfields with the Bank of England. The construction of
Moorgate followed upon that of King William Street as a matter of
course, in order that a new direct thoroughfare could be opened from
north to south connecting London Bridge with Islington, without
passing by the narrow and inconvenient Coleman Strect. It involved
the clearance of dense masses of houses across Bell Alley and Swan
Alley, which at that time extended through to Coleman Street. Already
in 1740 Mr. Robert Dingley, who designed the City Road, had planned
a new street from Moorfields to the Bank, but was prevented by strong
opposition from carrying out this improvement.

For such an important undertaking the construction of Moorgate
Street, like that of King William Street, appears to have excited little
or no interest, and the multitude of historians and writers of London
books have nothing to tell us on this subject. Yet strange to relate, there
existed less than a century ago slum property within a stone’s throw of
the Bank of England, relics of which continued to exist for some time
after the construction of Moorgate Street. In September 1856 two houses
in Little Swan Alley running out of Coleman Street collapsed, burying
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the inmates and killing four persons. The floors of these houses were
dilapidated and overcrowded with several families living in each room.

After the late war, Moorgate Street was renamed Moorgate, and a
similar alteration was made in the casc of Bishopsgate Strect. One
wonders why the City Corporation did not also include Aldersgate
Strect and Newgate Street in this list of abbreviated names, or can it
be that Newgate is too suggestive of unpleasant happenings to be
included in the list?

Moorgate, which formerly consisted of four-story buildings fronted
with stucco, has been rebuilt to such an extent since the late war that,
like King William Street, it can now almost be described as a new
thoroughfare. Some of the buildings on the west side were destroyed
in one of the German air raids over London in 1917, and these have
been rebuilt with their upper stories zoned back from the strect. Others
on both sides of the street are of more recent construction, such as the
National House which has been erccted on the site of the old offices of
the Royal Mail Stcam Packet Company at the corner of Telegraph
Street on the east side, and the Lloyds Bank Buildings on the west side.
Other new buildings on the cast side are the National Bank of New
Zealand at the corner of King’s Arms Yard, the offices of the Licences
and General Insurance Company, and the Bank for Russian Trade
farther along on the same side of the road. On the westside, at the corner
of Gresham Street, are the offices of the Northern Assurance Company,
and adjoining them is Basildon House, once the home of the ill-fated
London and Paris Exchange, which became known as the Vampire of
Basildon House. Farther along are the new offices of the Provident
Mutual Life Assurance Association.

Coleman Street, running parallel to Moorgate on the west side, was
so named from Coleman, the first builder of that strect. Tokenhouse
Yard, the head-quarters of the estate market, is situated on the cast side
of Moorgate, and leads into Lothbury. It derives its name from the
manufacture of tokens, which were the copper coinage of England
prior to the reign of James L

We direct our attention next to London Wall, named from the wall
which originally denoted the northern boundary of the City. A few
words regarding the carlier history of this locality may prove of
interest to our readers. The land immediately to the north of London
Wall was originally a marsh or fen, and it is from this circumstance
that the district received the name of Finsbury or Fensbury. This marsh
appears to have acted as an obstacle to the movement of London
towards the north, and thus largely accounts for the constant develop-
ment of the Metropolis towards the west on a scale out of all proportion
to the rate of expansion towards the north.

Only 150 years ago, when the population of this great metropolis was
approaching a million inhabitants, and its houses already extended in an
unbroken line from Hyde Park in the West to Mile End and Limehouse
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A present-day view of Londoun Wall, looking west.
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in the East, the district immediately north of London Wall was still
very suburban, and large stretches of open ficlds were still to be seen no
farther than half a mile from the Bank of England. The boundaries of
the Fen or Great Moor were the City Wall on the south and the high
ground near Islington on the north, and in olden times the young men
of the City used to play on the ice when the Great Fen or Moor which
watered the walls of the City was frozen. But according to Stow, the
Lord Mayor caused the walls of the City to be broken towards the
moor, and built the postern called Moorgate for the convenience of
the citizens, to enable them to walk that way upon the causeways
towards Isledon (Islington). Rubbish brought from the City through
the nearest gates and posterns by degrees raised the surface, at all evenes
of thosc parts next the City. From then onwards untl the reign of
Charles II, Finsbury Fields, as they were then called, were rescrved as
a grand arena for the use of the London archers. In 1512 Roger Ardley,
Mayor, made an attempt to drain the Fen, and in 1527 another Mayor
continued the good work by conveying the water over the City moat
into the channel of the Walbrook, and thence to the Thames, so that
by degrees the Fen was drained and made into hard ground.

But this handicap from which the City suffered in former times was
destined in our own day to prove of inestimable advantage to its more
recent development, for had there been no marsh or natural barrier in
the past to check the growth of the City in this particular direction, this
quarter of the town would have probably been covered with narrow
strects and lanes in harmony with those of the neighbouring locality
of an carlier age, instcad of the existing wide streets and squares
constructed in the early part of the ninetcenth century. This has re-
sulted in the erection of a large number of tall and very handsome office
buildings, amidst surroundings of plenty of light and fresh air, on a scale
which would never have been permitted in narrow streets. Moorficlds
or Finsbury, once a barren region, was first buile on after the Great
Fire of London, when all the City was topsy-turvy, and the poor
homeless inhabitants were scattered bioadcast from here as far as High-
gate, some under tents and some in miserable huts and hovels, many
without rag, bed, or board. Before that time Moorficlds had been the
drying-ground of London’s laundresses, where acres of old linen were
displayed.

The Great Fire of London was one such as had not been known in
Europe since the conflagration of ancient Rome in the days of Nero.
Nothing remained but stones and rubbish, all exposcd to the open air,
so that you could see from one end of the City almost to the other, and
London for the time being was almost comparable to Ypres after the
Great War of 1914-18. Some 373 acres were burnt within the walls,
including 87 parish churches and 13,200 houscs, contained in some 400
streets and courts. Roughly, the flames destroyed an oblong arca with
its greatest length a mile and a half, and a depth of half a mile. The total
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value of property destroyed by the Fire was estimated at £10,000,000.
It started on Sunday, 2 September 1666, in Pudding Lane near the
Monument, and ended on Wednesday, 5 September, at Pie Corner near
Smithficld, as we have alrcady noted. _

Although not cast in the heroic mould, King Charles II and his
brother the Duke of York rendered great personal service on the day of
London’s tragedy, which could not be too highly valued. The supreme
peril to the capital brought out in both of them a display of courage
which intensificd the loyalty towards the sovercign. The King, who was
insensible to peril, paraded the City on horseback all day long, praying
the populace not to resort to vengeful measures, and did much to calm
them after the Fire was over. He and the Duke of York stood ankle
deep in water for many hours together, while they handled buckets
with as much diligence as the poorest man, thus creating a good moral
cffect on the people, and causing them to work steadily with such good
fellow labourers.

The rush of people after the Fire was chiefly into Moorficlds and Fins-
bury Ficlds. London resembled a city which had been sacked by some
conqueror and left burning, and the rough camp of refugees extended
as far as Islington and Highgate on the north and to St. Giles’s Fields
and Soho on the west. Fortunately the weather at the time was warm
and fine, otherwise the distress would have been very much greater
than it was.

After the Fire the damage was so quickly repaired that Burnct said
that to ‘the amazement of all Europc London was in four years rebuilt
with so much beauty and magnificence, that he who saw it in both
states before and after the Fire cannot reflect on it without wondering
where the wealth could be found to bear so vast a loss as was made by
the Fire, and so prodigious an expensc as was laid out in the rebuilding
of the City’.

Before the Great Fire the houses were mostly of wood, with their
upper stories projecting in overhanging floors in such a way as to
impede the free circulation of air in the narrow streets except when
high winds prevailed. People in the garrets could almost shake hands
across from window to window, and so low were the rooms that a
tall man with his hat on could hardly stand upright. In the reign of
James I the precincts of the Court were so filthy that the ladies attending
it complained of bringing away licc with them.

But it is time to procced on our walk. The south side of London
Wall contains the Carpenters’ Hall, adjoining Throgmorton Avenue,
which was rebuilt in 1876, the Talbot Tavern, and several good office
buildings. Until the dawn of the present century, the buildings lining
the south side were greatly superior to those on the north side, and could
properly be regarded as the boundary line between wealth and poverty.
Those on the north side of London Wall replaced the old Bethlchem
Hospital pulled down in 1814 and removed to St. George’s Fields,
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Lambeth, in 1815. They were originally private houses which in course
of time had been converted into shops with a raised pavement ap-
proached by steps.

In front of the old Bethlchem Hospital, overlooking Moorficlds, was
an open space divided by gravel paths into four quadrangles planted
with elm trecs. It was so much frequented by fashionable citizens as to
obtain the appellation of the City Mall. After the removal of Bethlchem
Hospital the squarc garden was converted into a circular one and laid
out as Finsbury Circus in 1819. A short strect opening into London
Wall was constructed across the centre of the ground occupied by the
Bethlehem Hospital. It was not until several years later that the wholc
of the land fronting Finsbury Circus was let for building purposes, but
afterwards it became a good-class residential centre, and likewise
Finsbury Square, which was then the fashionable medical quarter of
London.

By the end of the nineteenth century the north side of London Wall
had become occupied by traders of a humble kind, and when the City
Corporation decided to develop this property, there was a great uproar
and many heated debates took place at the Guildhall. It was contended
by those who opposed the scheme that if carried out it would bring
widespread ruin and deal a death-blow to the trade of the district. But
instead of this happening, the Corporation obtained for the estate a
ground-rent far exceeding even their most sanguine expectations. The
City was ready to expand and absorb additional office accommoda-
tion, and far from bringing ruin, the development of London Wall
placed it on a level with Threadneedle Street and Broad Street. Huge
new buildings were erected and occupied by some of the largest
financial companics in the City, with frontages to both London Wall
and Finsbury Circus, which have given to this district an architectural
dignity second to that of no other quarter of the city.

The huge island block of buildings comprising Salisbury House and
Electra House, erected between 1899 and 1901, is enclosed by London
Wall, Moorgate, and the south-west corner of Finsbury Circus. The
south-eastern corner, also forming an island site with frontages to Lon-
don Wall and Blomficld Street, is covered by the equally imposing
London Wall Buildings, crcected in 1901 and 1902, thus completing the
reconstruction of the whole of the south side of Finsbury Circus and the
greater part of the north side of London Wall. East of Blomficld Street,
in London Wall, is the church of All Hallows in the Wall, buile by
Dance in 1765 in place of an earlier one which escaped the Great Fire
and was pulled down in 1764.

In 1901 the City Corporation availed themsclves of the opportunity
of widening London Wall, which was set back about ten feet on the
north side. They also acquired the gardens of Finsbury Circus as an
open space for the general public, a boon which has been very much
appreciated by City toilers.
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The large block of buildings on the north-east side of Finsbury Circus
was constructed in 1920 and extends through into Eldon Street. On the
north-west corner is the Britannic House, erected in 19224, an elegant
building extending through to Moorgate, and including the site above
the Metropolitan Railway Station of the tube between Moorgate and
Finsbury Park. Itis the head-quarters of the Anglo-Persian Oil Company,
and was designed by Sir Edwin Lutyens, R.A. Adjoining the Britannic
House is the River Plate House, containing the London offices of the
Buenos Ayres and Great Southern Railway, which also extends through
into Eldon Street.

Next to the River Plate House is the London Institution, erected in
1819 by Mr. William Brooks, and containing a double tier of Doric
columns. It was originally built to provide an extensive library and a
reading-rooin where foreign and domestic periodicals could be obtained
by subscribers, and for the diffusion of knowledge by means of lectures.
It is now the only surviving building of the original Finsbury Circus,
and accommodates the School of Oriental Studies, affiliated to London
University.

Returning to Moorgate, which was formerly known as Finsbury
Pavement from London Wall as far as City Road, the east side contains
the Electra House and the Britannic House already noted, and another
large building called Finsbury Pavement House. On the west side is the
Moorgate Station of the Metropolitan Railway, opened in December
1865, and an exceedingly handsome block of buildings called Moorgate
Hall, erected in 1914. These buildings extend through into Moorficlds,
a short thoroughfare at the back of Moorgate. Farther along on the
same side of Moorgate is another large modern block of buildings
known as Finsbury Court.

At the northern end of Moorgate is Finsbury Square, the west side of
which comprises a row of four-story houses built in 1777, and formerly
known as Moore Place, after Mr. Moore, a manufacturer who lived
in one of them. The other three sides of the square were built in 1789,
1790, and 1791, and Mr. George Augustus Toole, writing in the New
British Traveller, published about 1790, states that Finsbury Square
when completed will form with Moore Place one of the noblest squares
in or out of the metropolis. About the commencement of the nine-
teenth century Malcolm vaunts Finsbury Square as a modern con-
centration of City opulence quite equal to the West End of the town in
the splendour of its houses and furniture. It was the last relic of the
ancient Finsbury Ficlds to be covered with buildings, and during the
prelsent century the greater part of it has been rebuilt on a sumptuous
scale.

One wonders what Mr. Malcolm and Mr. Toole would say to Royal
London House, the stately edifice of the London Friendly Society,
which now adorns the north side of the square, with its lofty tower,
220 feet high and surmounted by a life-sized figure of Mercury as a
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symbol of progress, forming a prominent landmark when viewed from
Moorgate, and the imposing building of the London and Manchester
Assurance Company and the City Gate Housc on the south side.
Perhaps they might comment unfavourably upon the shabby appear-
ance of Moore Place, which still survives in the midst of the new sur-
rounding splendour, and remark that here is a valuable site for the
erection of a noble pile of offices to adorn the west side of Finsbury
Square. The east side contains the new offices of the Maypole Dairy
Company, and doubtless in a few years’ time the entire square will
be rcbuilt.

It is interesting to reflect that only thirty years ago the district north
of London Wall was the Cinderclla quarter of the City, whereas to-day
it may justly claim to be ranked s its finest quarter, and that this ‘new
City’ which has since arisen can by virtue of its statcly office buildings,
its open spaces, and its wide strects be regarded as a model of what a
really fine business quarter should be, and morcover as a great credit
to the metropolis. Some day perhaps Finsbury Square, like Finsbury
Circus, will be acquired as a public garden. :

At the back of the west sidc of Finsbury Square are the head-quarters
and drill-ground of the Honourable Artillery Company, the oldest
military body in the Kingdom, formed in 1537 under the tite of the
Guild or Fraternity of St. George. The grounds are concealed from the
public view by houses which surround them on every side. Close by in
City Road arc the head-quarters of the London Rifle Brigade. At the
junction of City Road and Tabernacle Street, near Finsbury Square,
a magnificent new building has just been erected by Messrs. Singer, the
well-known sewing-machine firm.

On the west side of City Road, just beyond the barracks of the London
Rifle Brigade, is Bunhill Fields (a contraction of bone hill), once the
chief burial-placc of Nonconformists. Near the central walk is the
recently restored tomb of John Bunyan, with a recumbent figure
erected in 1862. It also contains an obelisk to Daniel Defoe. Bunhill
Fields was used as a plague pit after the Great Plague of 1665, and in
1549 it had served as a place of deposit for a thousand cartloads of human
bodies brought here from the charnel house of St. Paul’s. When the
Great Plaguc was over, the ‘great pit in Finsbury’ of Defoe’s narrative
was enclosed with a brick wall at the sole charge of the City of London,
and subsequently leased to several of the great Dissenting sects who
objected to the burial-service in the Book of Common Prayer. After
1867 all further burials were prohibited here by Act of Parliament and
this graveyard was then set in order and handed over to the Corpora-
tion of London as an open space for the public.

On the cast side of the burial ground is Bunhill Row, which connects
Old Street with Chiswell Street. It consists principally of warchouses
and contains the offices of the Bovril Company at the west corner
of Old Street. A warchouse stands on the site of a house No. 124



90 ST. GILES’S, CRIPPLEGATE, CHURCH

where Milton wrote a part of Paradise Lost, and here also he died
in 1674.

St. Luke’s Hospital in Old Street, nearly opposite Bunhill Row, was
established in 1732 by voluntary contributions, and was intended as an
asylum for lunatics unable to obtain admission to Bethlehem Hospital.
The existing building, which is no longer used for that purpose, was
commenced in 1751, but not completed until 1786. It is now occupied
by a firm of printers. A walk through Chiswell Street will bring us to
Whitecross Street, close to which is Whitbread’s Brewery. Whitecross
Street formerly contained a Debtors’ Prison, on the site of which now
stands a goods depot of the London, Midland and Scottish Railway. The
continuation of Chiswell Strect goes under the name of Beech Strect,
and leads to the Barbican, so called from a watch-tower for the defence
of London, the remains of which still existed until towards the end of
the cightecnth century. Here also Milton resided between 1645 and 1647,
and published his English and Latin poems. The strects in this locality
arc fairly wide and principally covered with warchouses, but reveal
little of interest to the visitor.

Bridgewater Square to the north of the Barbican is a tiny open space
with a small public garden in the centre. It commemorates the residence
of the Earls of Bridgewater. The two clder sons of the third Earl were
burnt to death here with their tutor in 1687. Golden Lanc runs north-
wards from the Barbican and Redcross Strcet southwards to Fore
Street and St. Giles, Cripplegate, Church. Fore Street was the birthplace
of Danicl Defoe in 1660, and to-day consists principally of warchouses.

St. Giles’s, Cripplegate, is the church dedicated to the Hermit of the
Rhone, who was the especial saint of cripples and lepers. The church
was damaged in 1545, and contains the burial place of Milton. It escaped
the Great Fire of 1666, but was very nearly involved in that which
occurred in Jewin Street in 1897. It contains a very pleasant and Icafy
churchyard, which is not open to the public but through the centre
of which is a public footway railed in on both sides. In recent years
the church has been restored. At the western end of London Wall is the
disused churchyard of St. Alphage, situated on the north side of the
road, and here a section of the original London Wall is still revealed to
the passer by. This church was demolished in 1919.

Jewin Street, which leads from Redcross Strect into Aldersgate Strect,
was the scene of what was perhaps the greatest fire which had occurred
in the City of London proper since 1666. This occurred in November
1897, causing damage to the extent of £ 1,000,000. The fire, which
started about one o’clock in the afternoon, consumed most of the
buildings in Jewin Strcet, Jewin Crescent, Hamsell Street, and Australian
Avenue, and was not got under control until nearly midnight.

We pass next into Aldersgate Strect. This thoroughfare is so named
from the northern gate of the City, the name of which in turn is derived
trom the alder trees which once grew around the gate. Aldersgate, which
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resembled Temple Bar, was removed in 1761, and two pillars erected
here in 1874 denote the northern limit of the City, at the junction with
Goswell Road. Here the roadway is very narrow, and a scheme to
widen it to 80 feet from St. Martin’s le Grand to Goswell Road at a cost
of £1,500,000 is receiving the consideration of the City Corporation.
Thirty years ago Aldersgate Street was a shabby thoroughfarc, but
during our own century it has greatly increased in importance. On the
west side, at the corner of Long Lane, is the Manchester Hotel, and next
door is the Metropolitan Railway station, which was opened for traffic
in 1865. Farther south on the same side of the street stood, until 1902, the
Albion Tavern, once a famous rendezvous for City Company dinners,
and now supplanted by a modern block of shops and offices.

At the northern end of Aldersgate Street is Carthusian Strect, lead-
ing to Chartcrhouse Square, on the north side of which is the entrance
to the Merchant Taylors” School. The present buildings were erected in
1874~5. The Charterhousc itself wasfounded on 22 June 1611 by Thomas
Sutton of Camps Castle, Cambridgeshire, as a hospital, a chapel, and a
school, and was so named from a monastery of Carthusian Monks
founded in 1371. The school was removed in 1872 to Godalming, and
the place is now occupied by the Merchant Taylors’ School. The latter
school is shortly to be removed to Moor Park, near Rickmansworth.

Returning to Aldersgate Street, on the east side in Shaftesbury Place
is the splendid new hall of the Ironmongers’ Company, and at the north
corner of Gresham Street close to St. Martin’s le Grand is an imposing
new block of buildings called the Alder House and Falcon House crected
in 1923. Until 1845 Gresham Street was called Maiden Lane as far as
Wood Street, Lad Lane farther east, and Cateaton Street at the end
ncarest to Lothbury. It has been considerably widened both at the
western end as a result of the rebuilding of St. Martin’s le Grand, and at
the castern end opposite Old Jewry and Lothbury.

Wood Street, the principal thoroughfarce leading out of Cheapside,
is a narrow but smart-looking street mainly housing the leading whole-
salc dry-goods establishments. On the east side is that of Messts. Rylands,
the well-known Manchester house, and on the west side those of
Messrs. Vyse and Sons, and Messrs. Thomas Taplin and Company Ltd.
On the same side of the street is one of the largest telephone exchanges
in London, for the accommodation of 30,000 subscribers. Wood Street
also contains the church of St. Alban Wood on the cast side, with a
Gothic tower built by Inigo Jones in 1634, and afterwards repaired by
Sir Christopher Wren. Not far from the corner of Wood Street and
Gresham Street is a huge new building called Leith House, containing
a branch of Barclays Bank, and the offices of several dry-goods firms.
On the opposite corner is the London establishment of I. and R. Morley,
the wholesale hosiers. On the west corner of Wood Street and Gresham
Street is the Haberdashers’ Hall, rebuilt in 1862-4 at a cost of £ 30,000.

Running parallel to Wood Street is Aldermanbury, so called from
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the ancient court or burg of the Aldermen, and in a quict trec-shaded
corner in this street is the Church of St. Mary Aldermanbury, erected
by Sir Christopher Wren in 1677.

Farther east, at the corner of Gresham Street and Basinghall Street, is
the Gresham College founded under the will of Sir Thomas Gresham.
It was rcbuilt in 1913 at a cost of £ 34,000. Basinghall Street, the centre
of the wool market, is named, together with Bassishaw Ward, after the
Bassings who resided close by in the reign of King Edward IIL Between
Coleman Strcet and Moorgate a considerable widening of Gresham
Street has recently been carried out by the City Corporation, and
amongst other new buildings erected on this site is the Swiss Bank. Our
route from here back to the Mansion House is the same as that already
described, cither by way of Princes Street or through Old Jewry and
Cheapside.

The cast side of Old Jewry is now adorned by a fine new building
crected in 1932 for the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. It is faced
with stone and contains a row of columns cxtending from the third to
the fifth story. Owing, however, to the narrowness of the strect, these
can scarcely be scen to great advantage.

In Aldersgate Street, which has already been noted in this walk, the
National Provincial Bank arc erecting a handsome stone-fronted build-
ing, on the west side, at the corner of Little Britain opposite the church
of St. Botolph.



SEVENTH WALK

FROM TEMPLE BAR TO THE LAW COURTS, STRAND

ALDWYCH, KINGSWAY, LINCOLN’S INN, GREAT

QUEEN STREET, DRURY LANE, AND CATHERINE
STREET

WE have completed our walks along the spokes radiating from the
central hub of the City, and we shall now have to begin our
walks from various points. That quarter of the metropolis which we
first propose to explore, situated between Temple Bar and Wellington
Street, has been so completely transformed during the past century that
with the cxception of the two surviving churches of St. Clements
Dane and St. Mary lc Strand, not a trace remains to show the present-
day Londoncr what this quarter was like in the time of Dr. Johnson, or
even eighty years ago.

At the beginning of the nineteenth century a big clearance had been
made in the immediate vicinity of Temple Bar by the removal of
Butchers Row, a street of tenements at the back of St. Clements Dane
Church and the Strand, so named from the butchers’ shambles located
there. In its carlier history it had cven been celebrated as the residence
of ambassadors and other eminent persons. These slums were removed
through the efforts of Alderman Pickett, and on account of their narrow-
ness were nicknamed the Straits of St. Clements. They were the bane of
ancient London, and here the Plague once frowned destruction on the
miserable inhabitants and reserved its force for the renewed attacks of
cach returning summer.

The site of Butchers Row is now the cast side of the Strand opposite
St. Clements Dane Church, but was originally called Pickett Street
after the Alderman. The improvements carried out by Alderman Pickett
between 1790 and 1815 included the removal of a block of buildings
which occupied the site now forming the wide opening on the west
side of the old Temple Bar. The north side consisted of shops with wide
extended fronts, and the western side was bounded by the vestry room
and almshouses of St. Clements Dane parish. At that time the view of
St. Clements Danc’s Church was almost conccaled, but the churchyard
is now surrounded by an oval railing. In connexion with this improve-
ment the south side of this part of the Strand was rebuilt and considerably
widened.

Until April 1846 a relic of old London stood in the Strand, adjoining
the west side of the Temple Bar. When Alderman Pickett did away
with Butchers Row and other adjoining tenements, this vencrable
domicile, consisting of a fried-fish shop, was left as the solc representa-
tive of their decayed glories. It was without decoration, but was
noticeable because it displayed the last of the open projecting stalls
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which were a feature of the better class shops of 300 years ago. The
neighbouring Temple Bar was said to have been a full century younger,
having been erected in 1672.

The Law Courts, situated on the north side of the Strand opposite
the Temple, occupy a spacc of eight acres, in the clearance of which some
thirty-three strects, courts; and alleys containing 343 dwelling-houses,
chambers, and lodging-houses were demolished in 1866-8; also some
warchouses, stables, and printing offices, making a total of 400 buildings
of all kinds. During the course of the work one of the houses scheduled
for demolition in the Strand, occupied by Professor Holloway and his
patent pills, fell down of its own accord. But as a wooden hoarding had
already been erected nobody was injured, and the police, observing a
crack in the wall, stopped the traffic until the danger was past.

The total resident population of the cleared arca was stated to be
4,125, and this colony presented a picture of the misery of an over-
crowdcd district filled with human beings huddled together in houses
in the last stages of neglect and decay. One contributing cause of this
deplorable overcrowding was the dispensing of charity in the shape of
coals, tca, bread, sugar, and other general necessitics for the poor. No
sooner were these charitics distributed, usually at Christmas time, than
there would follow an exodus of about onc half of the population, many of
whom came from St. Giles’s and took a room here solely for the purpose
of obtaining coals. Finally it was resolved to restrict the charity tickets
to pcople who had resided for not less than twelve months in the parish.

The Law Courts, which have a frontage of 483 fcet to the Strand and
a depth of 470 feet from north to south, were built between 1874 and
1882 in the decorated Gothic style by G. E. Strect, R.A., who ncver
lived to sce the completion of this his greatest work. It was finished by
his son, A. E. Street, assisted by Sir Arthur Blomficld. Previous to the
construction of the present buildings, the Law Courts were divided
between Lincoln’s Inn and Westminster.

The actual buildings cover a site of s} acres and the architecture is
mainly Gothic. Notable features are the clock tower, 160 feet high, and
the screen of arches fronting the Strand, but this otherwise noble pile
of buildings is spoiled by the abscnce of the western extension and tower
to balance that of the castern side. It is obvious that the architect in-
tended this to be built, and space was reserved to meet that future
requirement. In its present form the building presents an uncompleted
appearance comparable to that of the new London County Hall before
its completion. Instcad of the Law Courts being entirely completed,
the ground on the west side was laid out as a public garden on the
understanding that should it be required at some future date for the
completion of the Law Courts, it was to be surrendered for that
purpose. In 1911 a considerable portion of this ground was appropriated
for the construction of four additional courts, and what still remains of
this open space is now used as a parking ground for motor—cars and is so
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The original City of London School in Milk Strect, Cheapside.

The Strand prior to the improvements carried out between 1790 and 1815
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small and inconsequential that it might just as well be surrendered also
for all the loss which would be felt by those few individuals who ever
trouble to use it. This would enable the Law Courts to be completed
by the construction of the western wing and the missing tower.

The main building, which encloses two quadrangles, was begun in
1874 and was opened by Queen Victoria in great statc in 1882. It is
bounded on the cast by Bell Court, on the west by Clement’s Inn, and
on the north by Carey Street. The four additional courts werc added by
Sir H. Tanner, so that there are now 23 courts in all and 1,100 rooms.
The main frontage of the building is of stonc, but the part fronting the
quadrangle and Bell Yard is a mixture of red brick and stone. At first
the space acquired was deemed insufficient, and notice was given by the
Commissioners of their intention to take 267,800 squarc feet of addi-
tional ground on the sitc of Clement’s Inn, Dane’s Inn, Chancery Lanc,
and New Square, Lincoln’s Inn, and Portugal Stree, all to the north of
Carey Street, but this extra ground was never purchased.

Mcanwhile, an entircly diffcrentsite, on the newly constructed Thames
Embankment, had been proposed in 1869 by Sir Charles Trevelyan for
the new Law Courts. This scheme involved the appropriation of the
ground between the Temple and Somerset House, so that all the princi-
pal Inns of Court should be located near the new Palace of Justice. The
spacc already cleared on the north side of the Strand was to have been
covered with quadrangles of buildings devoted to offices for solicitors,
which it was contended would have been an enormous convenience to
them. At that time the site between the Strand and the Embankment
was occupied by inferior houses, including those formerly existing in
Essex Street, Arundcl Strect, and Norfolk Street, with their adjacent
squalid courts and alleys, long since rebuilt and converted into a first-
class neighbourhood by the Duke of Norfolk.

No finer site could well have been selected in all London for the new
Law Courts, and the fact that the greater part of the land required
belonged to the Duke of Norfolk would have facilitated its purchase.
The transfer of the Society of Lincoln’s Lin to Somerset Housc was re-
garded as quite feasible, and King’s College was to have been removed
to Lincoln’s Inn. Thus all the various courts and offices of law would
have overlooked the Thames.

Finally, the Chancellor of thc Exchequer, whilst admitting the
superiority of the Embankment site from a purcly architectural point
of view, considered nevertheless that its adoption would have created
an intolerable congestion of traffic in Fleet Street and the Strand, then
much narrower than at present, by vehicles crossing from Holborn to
the Law Courts, and that on the whole he regarded the Carcy Strect
site as the most suitablc of the two. As a result of the delay in arriving at
a decision regarding the choice between these two rival sites for the
new Law Courts, the ground which had been cleared for that purpose
in the Strand remaincd derelict from 1868 until 1874.
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Until 18 April 1853, when it was closed as a burial ground under the
Nuisance Removal Act, the churchyard of St. Clements Danc and
others in the centre of London were still being used almost daily for
burials. During the epidemic of cholera in 1849, strong complaints had
been raised against this practice. At St. Clements Dane was a vault
called the Rectors’ vault, the descent to which was in the aisle of the
church near the Communion table, and when open, the stench from the
decomposition of animal matter was so powerful that lighted candles
passed through the opening into the vault were instantly extinguished.
The men employed at various times dared not descend into the vault
until two or three days after it had been opened, during which period
the windows of the church were kept open to admit fresh air and
neutralize the cfiects of the gases emitted. The graveyards in the centre
of London were so overcrowded with coffins in the forties of the last
century that frequently space could be found only by forcing them into
very tight enclosures, to the great indignation of the familics concerned.
Some of the bodics had to be removed in 1902 when a portion of the
west side of the churchyard was required for the widening of the
Strand by the London County Council. The churchyard of St. Mary le
Strand was abolished in August 1872 for the widening of the roadway
in the Strand and the footpath constructed alongside the church.

On the cast side of St. Clements Danc Church, which was crected in
1682 by Edward Picree, isastatuc of Dr. Johnson, who regularly attended
service here, and on the west side is the memorial to Mr. Gladstone,
designed by Hamo Thornycroft, R.A.

Esscx Street, leading to the Outer Temple, derives its name from
Robert Devercux, Earl of Essex and favourite of Queen Elizabeth.
Some good modern buildings have recently been crected on the east
side of this street. The Outer Temple is so called to distinguish it from
the Inner Temple, inside the City boundary. Situated between the two
is the Middle Temple. Some of the buildings at the corner of Essex
Strect, overlooking the churchyard of St. Clements Dane, arc dis-
figured by unsightly advertisement hoardings which have been crected
in front of the upper stories. Between Milford Lane and Arundel Street,
also overlooking the churchyard, is a handsome stone building crected
in 1905 by the United Kingdom Provident Institution.

The large building at the west corner of the Strand and Arundel
Street, now occupiced by Kelly’s Directories, was crected in 1856 by
Messrs. W. H. Smith and Sons, the well-known firm of booksellers
and newsagents, who have since removed to their large new establish-
ment in Portugal Street. It stands on the site of the old Arundel House,
famous in the annals of art and science, and is built in the Italian style.
Eight houses previously stood on this piece of ground, four of which
were in the Strand and four in Arundel Strect, and this site is also interest-
ing because on the occasion of the funeral of the Duke of Wellington a
temporary building was crected here to accommodate 2,000 persons.
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Numbers 188 to 191 of the Strand, on the opposite corner, were
pulled down and rebuilt in 1852~3. Here formerly stood the Crown and
Anchor Hotel, afterwards the Whittington Club, and here Dr. Johnson
occasionally supped with Boswell. These buildings, together with those
at the corner of Arundel Street, were also crected by Messrs. W. H.
Smith and Sons, at a cost of £9,000. About that time, the objectionable
tax on windows had just been abolished, and this was the first building
containing large window space to be crected in the Strand. This re-
sulted in the adoption of a greatly improved style of architecture which
enhanced the appcarance of the Norfolk estate. The Whittington Club
house which cxtended from Arundel Street to Milford Lane was burnt
to the ground on 3 December 1854. Six picturesque tenement houscs
in Milfo.d Lane, cach possessing a bay on which werc timber-framed
windows, were also pulled down in 1852. The handsome buildings
occupying the cast and west corners of Norfolk Street and the Strand
arc not much more than thirty years old.

The construction of Kingsway and Aldwych, together with the
widening of the Strand from the Law Courts to Wellington Strect, was
carricd out between 1900 and 1905, and with the possible exception of
that of Queen Victoria Strect and the Thames Embankment, is the
greatest London improvement which has been carried out since the
construction of Regent Street in 1820. Previously the Strand, one of
the most important thoroughfares in Europe, had possessed no direct
communication with Holborn, and Kingsway has provided a connexion
between north and south London at that part of the west central district
which needed it the most. It has also solved the problem of connecting
north and south London by mcans of a through tramway system. The
total length of Kingsway is 1,800 feet, and that of Aldwych 1,500 feet,
with a uniform width of 100 feet in both thoroughfares.

The new street from Holborn to the Strand was planned in 1898, but
the question of the formation of some such a thoroughfare had actually
been under consideration for more than sixty years. More pressing
needs for other new arteries caused the fermer Metropolitan Board of
Works to refrain from asking Parliament to sanction such a costly
undertaking, but one of the first acts of the newly created London
County Council in 1889 was to refer the matter to its Improvements
Committce for a gencral report on the matter. The formation of the
new street was equally desirable because it cut through a large amount
of slum property only fit to be demolished.

One scheme for the construction of a new street from the Strand to
Holborn was planned about 1874 at the time of the construction of the
new Law Courts, in which it was proposed to connect the Strand with
the eastern side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields by a new street running parallel
to Chancery Lane, and from the north-east corner of Lincoln’s Inn
Ficlds by a short street leading into High Holborn necar Great Turnstile.
Another scheme planned in 1883 was for the construction of a street
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6o feet wide commencing at Little Turnstile, High Holborn, thence
through Gate Street to the western side of Lincoln’s Inn Ficlds, then
curving castwards and entering the Strand near St. Clements Dane
Church. The scheme finally adopted for the construction of Aldwych
and Kingsway was devised in 1892 by Mr. Frederic Harrison, Chair-
man of the Improvements Committee of the London County Council.
The central idea of this scheme was to provide direct access to Holborn
both from Wellington Street on the west and Flect Street and the
Thames Embankment on the east, by means of the Aldwych Crescent
leading into the southern end of Kingsway.

The long delay which occurred in carrying out this much nceded
improvement nevertheless proved a great blessing in disguise, because
instead of a strcet only 6o feet wide, involving the demolition of only
a portion of the insanitary property between the Strand and Holborn,
London has been provided with the magnificent Kingsway and
Aldwych, both 100 feet wide. Thus London has also bencfited through
the disappearance of Clarc Market and the whole of the slums formerly
centred round Drury Lane and Sardinia Street.

To a Londoner revisiting his native city after an absence of thirty
years in some forcign land, the tremendous changes which have taken
place in this part of London since 1901 can scarcely fail to command
admiration. Well might he ask what has become of the narrow and dark
Holywell Street and Wych Strect, of the squalid Clare Market, and of
the innumerable gin palaces of Drury Lane and its adjacent strcets. As
a picce of urban scenery, the Aldwych crescent, lined on both sides
with stone fronted buildings 100 feet high, is unsurpassed in beauty
when seen from cither St. Clements Dane Church or Wellington Street,
and nothing of the same kind is to be scen in Paris, Berlin, or New York.
With theexception of the twin Strand and Aldwych theatres on eitherside
of the Waldorf Hotel, which in no wayspoil the harmony of the crescent,
all the buildings are more or less of the same elevation, and form a vista
quite as impressive as that of the celebrated Regent Strect Quadrant.

The demolition of Holywell Street, together with the houses facing
the north side of the Strand between the churches of St. Clements Dane
and St. Mary le Strand, was commenced in August 1900. At first this
end of the Strand was only widened to 70 feet, and a huge hoarding was
erected here, which remained for over twelve months. In 1901 the long
row of houses between St. Mary le Strand Church and Catherine Street
was demolished, after which the whole of the eastern end of the Strand
was sct back to a uniform width of 100 feet. The church of St. Mary
le Strand, designed by Gibbs in 1717, was the first of the fifty new
churches projected in the reign of Queen Anne.

Holywell Street, which ran parallel to the Strand, was also known as
Booksellers’ Row, and, like Middle Row in Holborn, was a great hind-
rance to traffic at the eastern end of the Strand between the two island
churches. Wych Street, immediately north of Holywell Strect, was



The Priuce and Princess of Wales driving through Temple Bar
) on March 7, 1863.

Aldwych, looking east from Kingsway. Bush House on the right.
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practically the continuation of Drury Lane, and contained the old Globe
Theatre erccted in 1862 at the corner of Newecastle Street on the site
of Lyons Inn, which had once been an Inn of Chancery attached to the
present inn of the Inner Temple. In the same street was the Olympic
Theatre, built in 1805, which was destroyed by firc in 1849 and rebuilt
shortly afterwards. Both of thesc playhouses were swallowed up in the
great Strand to Holborn improvement. Newcastle Street, on the north
side of the Strand, extended from St. Mary le Strand Church to the
southern end of Drury Lane, and close by was the Coach and Horses
Hotel, which also fronted the north sidc of the Strand.

Farther west, between Catherine Strect and Wellington Strect, stood
the old Gaicty Theatre and Restaurant and the offices of the Merning
Post. Parliament obliged the London County Council to reinstate these
two concerns, and the present Gaiety Theatre was buile at the castern
corner of Aldwych in 1903. A new building was crected for the Morn-
ing Post at the western corner of Aldwych, adjoining Wellington Street,
approximately on the same site as the former building. The old Gaicty
Theatre, built in 1864 for Mr. Lioncl Lawson, was originally called the
Strand Music Hall. It was taken over in 1868 by Mr. J. Hollingshcad as
a home of musical comedy and farce, and afterwards came into the
posscssion of Mr. George Edwardes. It had a side entrance in Catherine
Strect and stood on the ground now covered by the roadway of Ald-
wych. When this theatre was demolished in 1903, swarms of rats were
disturbed, causing a general invasion of the Gaicty Restaurant next door
by these rodents, and much damage was done before they could be
driven back into the sewers.

By this time the construction of both the new Gaiety Theatre and the
Restaurant was well advanced, and the following year the latter was
removed to its new quarters. It was on a much grander scale than the
old restaurant, but unfortunately it never enjoyed the same popularity
and was therefore closed down altogether in 1908. This building is now
the head-quarters of the Marconi Wircless Telegraph Company and is
known as Marconi House. A small portion of the ground floor is
occupied by Short’s, the well-known wine house.

Upon the occasion of the farewell performance at the old Gaicty
Theatre in July 1903, there was keen competition among its patrons to
secure admission, and the same cagerness was shown by these people to
obtain admission to the opening performance of the Orchid at the
new Gaicty Theatre on the 26th of the following October.

The handsome columns which adorn the exterior of the present
Gaiety Theatre were not originally included in the design of Mr.
Norman Shaw, the architect, but the London County Council, wishing
to make this corner building worthy of such a great London improve-
ment, invited its proprietors to include these extra columns for the sake
of effect, and agreed themselves to meet the extra expense which would
be thus incurred. But when the formal claim for the cost of this work
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was presented to the London County Counc:il_, th'cy regarded it as
excessive and disputed the amount claimed. Litigation followed, as a
result of which the Council had to pay the full sum claimed by the
Gaicty Theatre Company.

TIEZ fine building alz th}; junction of Wellington Strcet and Aldwych,
erccted for the Morning Post, has recently been remodelled and is now
Inveresk House, the hcad-quarters of Ilustrated Newspapers Ltd. The
Morning Post has removed its offices to Bouverie Street.

Australia House, an imposing building in Doric style, occupies the
island site at the castern corner of the Strand and Aldwych and is one of
the finest buildings erected in this new quarter of London. It was built
by the Commonwealth to serve as offices for the various States and was
opened by King George V in 1918, who had also laid the foundation-
stonc in 1913. The large sitc, comprising the central island now covered
by the Bush Housc and its two extensions, remained more or less
derclict for ncarly twenty years, and during the Great War temporary
buildings were crected here for the American branch of the Young
Men’s Christian Association. The centre section of the Bush House,
designed by Mr. Harvey Corbett, was crected between 1920 and 1923.
The castern extension was completed in 1930, but the western wing
still remains to be built. A portion of this island site, adjoining the
western wing of Bush House, contains the newly erccted India House,
opened by King George on 8 July 1930, and comprising the London
head-quarters of the Indian Government.

Some time after the widening of this section of the Strand had been
completed, a suggestion was made by Mr. Hamo Thornycroft, R.A.,
and others, that the northern frontage of the Strand between the two
churches should be amended in order to sccure a good view of the Law
Courts when approached from the Strand on the west. However, the
London County Council were not convinced that by throwing open
the vista of the Law Courts the architectural effect on the Strand would
be greatly enhanced, and therefore they declined to incur the large
additional expenditure which would have resulted from the sacrifice of
the extra ground required for that purpose.

The handsome row of buildings which now lines the north side of the
Strand from Wellington Street to the Law Courts, is largely offset by
the mean row of houses plastered over with advertisement hoardings on
the opposite side of the street between Somerset House and Wellington
Street. That our finest thoroughfares should be thus disfigured is a
burning shame, and a thing which would not be tolerated in any well-
ordered Continental city, where the owners of property can very
properly be compelled to keep their buildings in a state of repair com-
mensurate with the dignity of the neighbourhood in which they are
situated. Indeed, some time ago Professor Reilly, F.R.LB.A., remarked
at a public dinner that the new buildings in the Strand made the old
ones look as though they wanted a shave.
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Returning once more to Aldwych, on the north side, between
Catherine Street and Drury Lane, is the imposing Waldorf Hotel,
erccted in 1906 and containing a row of Doric columns, and which,
together with the twin Strand and Aldwyck theatres on cither side,
forms an island site. The Strand Theatre, at the corner of Catherine
Street, was formerly known as the Waldorf Theatre, and was opened in
1905. The Aldwych Theatre, at the corner of Drury Lane, was originally
built in 1906 for Mr. Seymour Hicks and was opened in 1906. The first
Strand Theatre, erected about 1826 by Mr. Rayner, a comedian, stood in
the Strand itself on the site now covered by the Underground Railway
Station at the corner of Surrey Street. Many successful musical plays
were staged here, notably the Chinese Honeymoon in 1901, which enjoyed
the longest run till then of any play in London.

The two fine blocks of buildings which form the entrance to Kings-
way arc designed in a uniform style, and are the work of Messrs. Norman
and Trehearne, architects. That on the cast corner is the head-quarters of
the Air Ministry, and that on the west corner, known as Crown House,
is mainly devoted to shops and offices. In Houghton Street is the new
building of the London School of Economics, one of the ncwest
colleges of London University, opened by the King in 1923.

The castern section of Aldwych contains the Columbia House, of
Messrs. Johnson and Phillips Ltd., the electrical engineers, at the corner
of Houghton Street, and next door, Aldwych House, the huge building
of the Agricultural and General Engineers Company, with a row of
Doric columns and of similar appcarance to the Waldorf Hotel at the
other end of the crescent. Other buildings on the north side of Aldwych
are the Astor House, the General Assurance Corporation Buildings, and
the Danc’s Inn House, on the corner adjoining Clement’s Inn.

Passing next into Kingsway, the first scction to be completed was
that between High Holborn and Great Queen Street. This portion of
the new street practically followed the line of the former Little Queen
Street which was swallowed up in this great improvement, and was in
fact a setting-back of the cast side of that street. The extension from
Great Queen Street to Aldwych was a much greater undertaking and
involved the clearance of acres of streets and buildings, some of them
quite modern, such as those which fronted the south side of Great
Queen Street. Amongst the obstacles which had to be removed was
a great chimney stack, and this was done by the simple method of
blowing it up.

The subway for the London County Council’s tramways running
under Kingsway was of course constructed at the same time as the new
street, but it originally terminated at the Aldwych station. It was
extended some two years later, in 1907, to the Thames Embankment.
Having been designed in the first place to accommodate only single-
deck cars, the Council, wishing to remedy this defect, reconstructed
the subway in 1929-31 at a cost of £300,000, to provide room for the
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double-deck cars, in general use throughout the system. The northern
end of the subway emerges in Southampton Row, which was widened
in 1904 between High Holborn and Theobald’s Road, thus forming an
essential part of this great metropolitan improvement.

Kingsway and Aldwych were opened by King Edward VII and
Queen Alexandra on Wednesday, 18 October 1905, assisted by the
Chairman, Sir Edwin Cornwall, J.P., and members of the London
County Council. The weather was fine, and the King and Queen drove
from Aldwych to the end of the improvement through Kingsway and
along Southampton Row. The opening ccremony was apparently
fixed for a date which did not allow sufficient time to complcte the work
properly, with the result that Kingsway was closed again for a few days
to vehicular traffic after the formal opening ceremony. The total length
of the new thoroughfares, including Southampton Row and the side
streets constructed, was 4,200 feet, or just over three-quarters of a mile.
Aldwych owes its name to the fact that the district was in Saxon times
the site of a Danish scttlement, and Kingsway was so named in order to
associate the new thoroughfare with the ruling monarch. The total cost
of this great metropolitan improvement was close upon five million
pounds.

Like Regent Street and Victoria Street, Kingsway failed to prove an
immediate success, but to-day it is one of the most prosperous streets in
London. For the first scven years after it was opened, its building sites
were only let very slowly, but those in Drury Lane and the side streets
were disposed of more rapidly. The first building to be erected between
Great Queen Street and Aldwych was that of Messrs. W. H. Smith
and Sons, the bookscllers, and for a long time this building stood in
solitary glory.

The London Opcra House, now the Stoll Picture Theatre, on the east
side, was erected by Mr. Oscar Hammerstein of New York in 1910 at
a cost of £200,000. This venture proved a failure, but in its present
capacity as a picturc theatre since 1917, it has cnjoyed a brighter career
than when it was an opera house. The fine premises of Kodak Ltd., on
the west side, were also erected in 1910, and after 1912 the remaining
Kingsway sites were disposed of more rapidly, so that by 1916 almost
the cntire street had become lined with stately buildings.

Onc of the finest of these is the Sardinia House, the offices of the
Public Trustec erccted in 191415 at the north corner of Kingsway and
Sardinia Street. The last building to be crected in Kingsway was the
huge Africa Housc at the corner of Gate Street, completed in 1922, so
that from start to finish it had taken scventeen years since 1905 for the
new street to become completely lined with buildings.

From Great Queen Street to Aldwych, Kingsway is a noble thorough-
fare, sccond only perhaps to Regent Street in the splendour of its
buildings, which are of fairly uniform clevation, but the section from
Great Queen Street to High Holborn has been badly disfigured by
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Work on the construction of Kingswav. View, looking east from Aldwych, in 1905.

Kingsway as seen from Bush House.
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several small buildings of low elevation erected on shallow sites next
door to huge structures like the Africa House and the Craven House.

The Roman Catholic Church of SS. Anselm and Cecilia, at the corner
of Kingsway and Twyford Court, was opened in 1909 and replaced the
historic Sardinian Chapel which stood close to Lincoln’s Inn Ficlds, and
which was demolished for the Kingsway improvement. Holy Trinity
Church, on the opposite side of the road, is the successor to a building
crected in 1831, which was condemned as unsafe and demolished in
1912. This misfortunc was variously attributed to the construction of
the subway for the London County Council tramways on the once hand
and that of the Tube railway on the other. When a claim for com-
pensation was made, each of the parties concerned blamed the other and
disclaimed all liability for thc damage, and that was all the satisfaction
the church authoritics were able to obtain in the matter. It was originally
proposed to add a tower to this church, but as no funds could be raised
for that purpose, the tower remains a pious hope for the future. Another
important building on the west side of Kingsway is Wesley House,
containing the head-quarters of the West London Mission.

Some of the magnificence of Kingsway cxtends to the western side of
Lincoln’s Inn Fields, where several of its new buildings, such as the
Sardinia House and the adjoining Queen’s House, have asecond frontage.
Lincoln’s Inn Ficlds is twelve acres in extent and was purchased in the
ninetics by the London County Council as a public open space. It is the
largest and best modern square in London, and boasts some magnificent
plane trees. It was laid out by Inigo Jones and was first railed off in 1735,
but before that time it bore an evil reputation. Here Babington and
other conspirators for Mary Queen of Scots were hanged and quartered
for their sins, and in 1683 William Lord Russell was beheaded here for
alleged high treason, after being led down the now defunct Little
Queen Street on his way to execution. Lincoln’s Inn Ficlds was likewise
a noted resort for duellists.

On the south side of the square is the Royal College of Surgcons,
crected in 1835, and also the offices of the Land Registry. On the north
side the principal object of interest is Sir John Soanc’s Muscum, con-
taining books, manuscripts, and Egyptian and Oriental antiquitics. Here
also is the Institute of Auctioneers and Estate Agents. Lincoln’s Inn
itself, situated on the east side of the square, is one of the four great Inns
of Court, and is approached by a picturesque gateway from Lincoln’s
Inn Ficlds. It contains a hall and library of red brick built in 1845, and
a chapel crected from the designs of Inigo Jones in 1620. On the
northern side is a quadrangle containing the so-called Stone buildings,
begun in 1780 from the designs of Sir R. Taylor, but not actually
completed until 1845. New Square lics immediately to the south, but
does not form a part of Lincoln’s Inn. The old Gatchouse opening into
Chancery Lane from Lincoln’s Inn was built in 1518 by Sir Thomas
Lovell and was restored in 1899.
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In 1843 Sir Charles Barry designed new Law Courts yvlu'ch he pro-
posed should be erccted in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, but this sch§lr}e was
vetoed because of the opposition to the suggested appropriation of
Lincoln’s Inn Fields itsclf for that purpose. In Portsmouth Street, leading
out of the south-west corner of Lincoln’s Inn Fields, is a picturesque
house which claims to be the ‘Old Curiosity Shop” of Charles Dickens,
but the validity of this claim is not generally conceded by competent
authoritics.

Crossing over to the opposite side of Kingsway, we next direct our
attention to Great Queen Street, leading into Drury Lane, in which are
now the head-quarters of the Masonic Institutions of London. The new
grandeur of Kingsway has spread in a westerly direction, so that to-day
the whole of the south side of Grecat Queen Street has become lined
with handsome modern buildings. About half~way along is the Free-
masons” Hall, designed by Mr. F. Cockerell and opened in May 1869,
adjoining which are the Connaught Rooms, famous for public dinners
and mectings, and the Mark Masons’ Hall, another important building.

The last remnant of squalor and poverty has recently been removed
from this side of the strect by the construction of the magnificent new
Masonic Temple, now approaching completion and erected at a cost of
about £1,000,000. It covers a huge triangular site, previously occupied
by some of the worst slums in London, and when the buildings on the
cast side of Drury Lane which back on to Great Wild Strect have been
cleared away, Great Queen Street is to be brought into alinement
with Long Acre, and the new Masonic Temple will then have an
unobstructed view down Long Acre.

On the north side of Great Queen Street is the Kingsway Theatre,
formerly the Novelty owned by Penley, the comedian, and several
modern buildings devoted to Masonic institutions and offices, sand-
wiched in between ugly old houses. These will doubtless give way in
course of time to new buildings more suitable to the dignity of this
improving ncighbourhood.

The large Winter Garden Theatre at the corner of Parker Street and
Drury Lane, now a house of musical comedy and revue, was formerly
the New Middlesex. It was built in 1910 on the site of the Old Middlesex
Music Hall. Extensive improvements and alterations to this theatre
were carried out in 1919 by Messrs. Grossmith and Laurillard at a cost
of about £20,000. The Old Middlesex was itself rebuile by a Mr.
Winder in the carly fifties, and was regularly patronized by the butchers
and other tradesmen of Clarc Market. A good cvening’s entertainment
could be enjoyed at the ‘Old Mo’, as the place was then familiarly
termed, but upon occasion disappointed patrons in the gallery were
said to have showered empty beer bottles on to the stage. The writer is
unfortunately unable to vouch for the literal truth of this statement, as
he was never present upon those auspicious occasions.

A few yards north of the present Winter Garden Theatre once stood
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the Coal Yard, the birthplace of Nell Gwyn, and close by was the
Cock and Magpie, alongside Drury Court, where in later years she had
her lodgings.

Eighty years ago Drury Lane contained numberless blind alleys,
courts, and passages on cither side, and gin was sold in public houses
which from their size and splendour might almost have been mistaken
for thc mansions of noblemen, and this in ncighbourhoods where
poverty and misery abounded. They stood mostly in conspicuous places
such as the corners and crossings of the various streets, and here mothers
would leave their children to play whilst they went into the gin-palaces
to cnjoy a farthingsworth of gin. They could be seen from afar, and
could properly be termed the lighthouses which guided the thirsty soul
on the road to ruin, for not only were they resplendent with plate glass
and gilt cornices, but each house displayed signs informing you that it
sold the only real brandy in London, or that it offered the famous cordial
medicated gin strongly recommended by the faculty.

Externally these public houses were most magnificent, but inside they
were extremely dismal and uncomfortable, and always crowded with
people standing, staggering, or lying down groaning and raving under
the influence of drink. The first and second floors of the narrow houscs
in this locality were occupied by small tradesmen and mechanics, some
of them usurers preying upon poverty and coining gold from its vices
and morbid cravings. But even here misery was less conspicuous than in
St. Giles’s and Spitalficlds. Saturday nights and Sunday after church
hours were the times when Drury Lane appeared in all its characteristic
‘glory’.

To the present generation, with its vastly improved standard of
education and living, the conditions prevailing in those days must appear
almost incredible. The sole place of relaxation for the poor man was the
gin-palace, for churches and parks in those days held no attraction for
the overcrowded and underfed artisans. Steamer, rail, or omnibus outings
were too expensive, and of course there were no such attractions as
tea-rooms or cinemas. There were penny theatres in those days where
melodrama was played, and these contained a buffet with soda-water,
lemonade, apples, and cakes. As a general rule the pit of the theatre
would accommodate fifty persons, and there were galleries and wooden
benches rising nearly to the ceiling. Strange to relate, the gentlemen sat
on one side and the ladics on the other, this separation of the sexes being
prompted by a fecling of refinement. The gentlemen consisted princi-
pally of labourers and apprentices.

Most of the slums centred round Drury Lane were swept away in the
construction of Aldwych and Kingsway, but somc of the worst of them,
situated between Great Wild Street and Drury Lane, had alrcady been
demolished many years previously, in order to make way for the large
blocks of Peabody dwellings which now cover that ground. Others,
situated at the northern end of Drury Lane, have not yet enirely dis-
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appeared in the tide of modern progress, but the whole of the southern
end is now lined by respectable blocks of artisans’ dwellings and busi-
ness premises. Prominent amongst these is Bruce House, a large hostgl
containing nearly 700 cubicles, erected by the London County Council
in 1906, at the south-cast corner of Drury Lane and Kemble Strect.
This hostel has been popularly termed the ‘“Poor Man’s Carlton’, and
here accommodation can be sccured for thirteen pence a night or
7s. od. a week for a stay of not less than seven days.

The famous Drury Lane Theatre, at the opposite corner of Russell
Street, with its main frontage in Catherine Street, has been reconstructed
several times on the existing site, the last occasion being in 1921, and
before that in 7812. The portico was added some years later, but in 1921,
when the interior of the theatre was razed to the ground and recon-
structed on a very sumptuous scale, the outer walls and the colonnade in
Catherine Strect were preserved for reasons of scntiment. To-day
Drury Lane is internally onc of the finest theatres in the world, but the
old outer walls are so ugly that it would have been a greater ornament
it a fine ncw fagade could have been erected in keeping with the
internal magnificence and dignity of the new theatre. The newly
erected Duchess Theatre on the opposite side of Catherine Street was
opened in 1929, and the Fortune Theatre in Russell Street was completed
in 1925.

The year 1933 has witnessed the completion of the improvements
carricd out beeween Drury Lane, Great Queen Street, and Great Wild
Street in connexion with the building of the new Masonic Temple. The
Prince of Wales tavern has been rebuilt on a new site a few paces farther
south which brings it into alincment wich the south side of Drury Lane.
This new building, which is faced with white stone, and immediately
adjoins the premises of Messrs. Lambert and Butler, the wholesale
tobacconists, presents together with the Masonic Temple a vista of
almost Eastern splendour when seen from Long Acre. A sort of a square
has been formed at the western end of Great Queen Strect by this
extensive road widening opposite the Masonic Temple.



EIGHTH WALK

FROM BLACKFRIARS ALONG THE VICTORIA EM-
BANKMENT, NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE, AND
THE STRAND TO WELLINGTON STREET

E now start from Blackfriars Bridge, alrcady described in our

Q V Fourth Walk, and proceced along the Victoria Embankment.
This very handsome thoroughfare, cxtending from Blackfriars to
Westminster Bridge, is one mile and a third in length and 100 feet wide,
and was formally opened on 13 July 1870 by the late King Edward VII,
when Prince of Wales, accompan‘cd by Princess Louise. Its magnificent
sweep from the Houses of Parliament to St. Paul’s is onc of the fmes:
vistas in London, notwithstanding the cffect produced by the unsightly
buildings and wharves which still line the opposite bank of the Thames,
and quitc surpasses anything that can be seen beside the Secine, the
Tiber, or any other river in Europe.

Londoners have never been sutficiently grateful to the late Metro-
politan Board of Works for this wonderful improvement. The firse
idea of embanking the Thames originated with Sir Christopher Wren
upon the occasion of the rebuilding of London after the Great Fire of
1666. Various previous attempts to secure the construction of the Thames
Embankment had been prevented by strong opposition from vested
interests. A Bill for that purpose was lodged in Parliament by Mr.
Cowper, First Commissioner of Works to the Metropolitan Board,
and passed in 1862, after which plans for the Victoria and also for the
Albert Embankment were prepared by Sir Joseph Bazalgette, engineer
to the Board, to whom the Victoria Embankment is a monument of
enduring fame. It is a piece of engincering sccond to none of the great
achievements which marked the Mid-Victorian period.

Work on the construction of the Victoria Embankment was com-
menced in February 1864 and on 20 July the first stone was laid by Sir
John Thwaites, Chairman of the Metropolitan Board of Works,
assisted by Sir Joseph Bazalgette. The river footway between West-
minster Bridge and the Temple was opened to the public on 30 July
1868, but the completion of the roadway was delayed by the unfinished
condition of the Metropolitan District Underground Railway between
Woestminster and Blackfriars, and this obstacle was not removed until
the end of May 1870. The first passenger train passed under the Embank-
ment to the temporary terminus at Blackfriars on 30 May 1870, and
within six weeks from that time the roadway of the Embankment was
completed and the northern footway had been paved. In 1862 it was
proposed to construct a new street to connect the cast side of Charing
Cross Railway Bridge with Wellington Street, Strand, but this plan
failed to mature.
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The trees which adorn the Embankment are planted at intervals of
20 feet apart. They have now almost reached maturity, but when they
were first planted, in February 1872, strong complaints were made to
the Metropolitan Board of Works that the public had cut and injured
them, as a result of which a reward of 20 was offered for information
leading to the conviction of any person thus damaging the trees.

The retaining wall is a work of extraordinary strength and is carried
down to a depth of 323 fect below high-water mark and 14 feet belqw
the low-water mark. It is built throughout of brick faced with granite
founded in concrete and Portland cement, and its uniformity is relieved
at intervals by massive picrs of granite with recesses partly occupied by
stairs leading to the river. The process of narrowing the channel of the
river led to the reclamation of some thirty-seven acres of waste ground,
formerly comprising mud banks at low tide, of which ninetcen are
occupicd by the roadway and the footpaths, and the rest partly con-
verted into public gardens and partly given over to new buildings.

Some idea of the magnitude of the Victoria Embankment may be
gathered from the following quantitics of materials employed in its
construction:

Granite . . ) . . 650,000 cub. ft.
Brickwork . . ) ) ) 80,000 ,,

Concrete . . . . . 140,000 ,,

Timber for coffer-dam, &c. . . 500,000 ,,

Caissons . . ) . . 2,500 ,,

Earth filling . . . . - 1,000,000 cub. yds.
Excavation . . . . . 144,000 ,,

York paving - -+ . 125,000 superficial ft.
Broken granite . : : - 50,000 ,,  yds.

The total cost of the work was £1,250,000, and for compensation re-
lating to the purchase of the property, £450,000.

For the opening ceremony a pavilion ‘was erected near Charing Cross
Railway Bridge, which had its main entrance in Whitchall Place, and
a sccond stand was erected nearer Charing Cross, the two together
accommodating 15,000 people. Naturally the bridges also provided
excellent points of view and were crowded from an carly hour, as were
also the various river-boats. At ten o’clock the temporary barricades at
Westminster and Blackfriars were removed and the Embankmence
thrown open to the public. Altogether 1,400 police were stationed at
various points along the Royal Route from Marlborough House to the
Victoria Embankment and the line of the Embankment itsclf was kept
by the first battalions of the Grenadicr and the Coldstream Guards.
Visitors arriving in their carriages were admitted up to cleven o’clock
and their Royal Highnesses arrived at twelve o’clock.

Upon entering the Embankment at Westminster Bridge the pro-
cession was met by Sir John Thwaites, Chairman of the Metropolitan
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Board of Works, accompanied by other members, who proceeded in
advance of their Royal Highnesses to the pavilion. Sir John Thwaites
presented the Prince of Wales with an address explaining the construction
of the Embankment, to which the Prince briefly replied, commending
the Embankment for its beauty and convenience and referring to the
great benefits derived from the recently constructed main drainage works
connected therewith. At the same time he paid a warm tribute to the
enterprising spirit of this great city and to the genius of its civil engincers.

The Royal Procession then proceeded along the Embankment to
Blackfriars, recciving a great ovation as it passed King’s College and
the Temple Pier, after which it retraced its steps and returned to West-
minster Bridge. Here it reccived another great ovation, then the
Prince of Wales formally declared the Embankment open to the public
and a Royal Salute was fired to announce the event. By one o’clock the
Royal party had left the ground, the entire proceedings, including the
drive along the Embankment, having occupied scarcely an hour. On
9 November 1870 the Lord Mayor’s Show passed along the new
Victoria Embankment for the first time and rcturned by the Strand and
Fleet Street.

The Thames was not always the fine health-giving river it is to-day,
for in 1859, only a few years before the construction of the Victoria
Embankment, it was still at times little better than an open sewer, and
it was rapidly becoming worsc and worse. After the compulsory
abolition of cesspools in 1847, when the drainage of houses into the
sewers had been made obligatory, upwards of 30,000 cesspools were
abolished in six years. But the cvil was not thus removed, but only
transferred, as all of the sewers which superseded these cesspools flowed
directly into the Thames.

The construction of the ncw main drainage system in 1859 was
preceded by ten years of rival schemes and debates between successive
commissioncrs of sewers, followed by those of the newly constituted
Metropolitan Board of Works and various Parliamentary Commis-
sions. In 1858 vigorous mcasures had to be taken to check the smells
arising from the Thames, and the Government directed that 250 tons
of lime should be discharged into the river near the outlets of the sewers
at a cost of £ 1,500 a week, and the Metropolitan Board of Works also
undertook dcodorizing measurcs as a temporary cxpedient. In 1859,
when Father Thames was in a particularly argumentative mood, Sir
Joseph Bazalgette reported that, during the hot weather of that year,
4,281 tons of chalk lime, 478 tons of chloride of lime, and 5o tons of
carbolic acid were used to keep the Thames quiet at a cost of no less
than £17,733.

Owing to the fact that the sewers emptied themsclves into the Thames
at various levels, when the tide rose above the outlets of these scwers
the entire draining of the district was stopped until the tide again receded,
thus rendering the riverside a succession of cesspools. This state of
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affairs often created an unbearable stench in the vicinity of the Houses
of Parliament, which upon occasion compclled the adjournment of the
Housc of Commons for the day, and thus members found themselves
driven from home. -

Fifty years carlicr, the Thames was still a limpid stream on which
it was a pleasurc to go rowing and which was delightful for bathing.
But, owing to sheer indifference both on the part of the Government and
the people, it had become a foul sewer and a stream of death recking
with abominable smells and threatening an epidemic to London’s three
million inhabitants as the price of their ignorance and apathy.

The difficulty in remedying this great evil sooner lay in the fact that
London at that time possessed no central government and that not only
was the City itself interested in this question, but likewise the growing
towns, boroughs, and villages which had sprung up around it, some of
them being much larger than the City itself. The Government merely
looked on and did nothing, so that year after year the evil went on
increasing and was only checked by the fear of an epidemic, which
frightened both the people and the Government,

Parliament itsclf could no longer sit in its own house without the fear
of being poisoned, so that the transmission of the sewage to a place far
down the river, where it could casily be carried out to sea by the force
of the tides and the current, had become imperative. London had
not forgotten the Great Plague of 1665, and in 18 59 the Ilustrated
London News remarked that the British people, who had made and paid
for so many thousands of miles of railways in their own and other
countrics,would not be frightened at the cost, if necessary, of constructing
a subterrancan canal to Brighton or the Nore, or any other point on the
sca-shore if it should prove that the Thames was not the proper place
tor the reception of the sewage of this vast mctropolis.

Starting on our walk from Blackfriars Bridge, the first notable build-
ing is the Lever House, now in course of rebuilding on a more magni-
ficent scale than the former De Keyser's Royal Hotel, which we
noticed in our FourthWalk. Next door is the City of London School,
which was moved here from Milk Streetin 188 3. Itisa handsome stone-
fronted building with a tall roof, worthy of the commanding situation
which it occupies on the Embankment. In John Carpenter Street,
immediately adjoining the City of London School, is the Guildhall
School of Music, erected in 1886 by the Corporation of London in the
Italian style ata cost of 422,000, to provide high-class musical instruction
at moderate fees, Sion house, a club house for clergymen, at the west
corner of John Carpenter Street, was founded in 1630 and contains
a library of 110,000 volumes rich in theological works. The present
building was erected in 1886, and is in the Gothic style of architecture.
Beyond Sion House are the Reuter Tclcgraph Company’s offices, the
Metropolitan Asylums Board, the Audit House, occupied by the Com-
mittee of Imperial Defence, and Hamilton House, the head office of the
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Employers’ Liability Assurance Company, together forming a fine range
of buildings extending as far as the Temple. Some of this ground remaincd
waste for many years after the opening of the Victoria Embankment.

The Temple Gardens once reached right down to the river but of
course are now scparated from it by the Embankment. High railings
enclose these pleasant gardens, which can be entered only from the
Temple and are not accessible from the Embankment. In the gardens,
standing some distance back from the river-front, is an exceedingly
handsome block of buildings fronted with Portland stone. It was erected
in 1880 by the two Societies of the Inner and the Middle Temple and
consists principally of barristers’ chambers. As a piece of urban scenery
the combined cffect of these gardens and the buildings centred round
them within the Temple is most pleasing and restful when seen from
the Victoria Embankment. Nearly opposite the western boundary of
the City is moored H.M.S. President, the head-quarters of the London
Division of the Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve.

The former offices of the London School Board, erected in 1874,
which stood until recently near the Temple Underground Railway
Station, have been demolished, and on this extensive site a tall new
building is nearing completion for Cables and Wircless Communica-
tions, Ltd. A few paces farther west is the Norfolk estate, containing
several handsome red-brick buildings dressed with stone, which overlook
the Embankment Gardens. One of these is the Arundel Hotel, at the west
corner of Arundel Screet. Until January 1871 iron railings and a brick
wall stood at the bottom of Norfolk Street, but these were removed in
order to provide direct access between the Strand and the Temple
Station of the Underground Railway.

After passing through the eastern scction of the Embankment
Gardens we come next to Somersct House, occupying the site of the
Palace of the Protector Somerset, maternal uncle to Edward VI. It
was begun in 1547, but Somersct never lived to see the completion,
having been meanwhile executed in the Tower. After his death the
palace became royal property and here lived the Queens of Charles I
and IL Hcre also Inigo Jones, the famous architect, died in 1652.
Towards the end of the cighteenth century it was decided to rebuild
the palace and devotc it to public uses, and in 1774 Sir William Chambers
was appointed as the architect. The river frontage is 800 feet long with
a noble fagade in the Palladian style, and before the construction of the
Victoria Embankment it was lapped by the waters of the Thames.

The castern wing was added in 1824 and the western wing, with its
handsome frontage to Wellington Street, in 1854-6. The building con-
tains 3,600 windows and houses an entirc army of civil scrvants, in-
cluding those of the Audit Office, Inland Revenue Office, Wills Office,
and those of the Registrar-General of Births, Marriages, and Deaths.
The east wing of Somerset House is occupied by King’s College, founded
in 1828 and now affiliated to the London University, but King’s College
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School for Boys was removed to Wimbledon Common about thirty
years ago. The northern front of Somerset House is too narrow and
confined to excite much admiration, and is spoiled by the row of mean
houses covered with advertisement hoardings, which in the natural
coursc of events ought to provide a site for the extension of the Strand
frontage of Somerset Housc.

Waterloo Bridge, once considered by Canova to be the finest in
Europe, was designed by George Dodd and built by a private com-
pany, the cngineer being John Rennie. The first stone was laid on
11 October 1811 and the bridge was opencd on 18 June 1817, the
anniversary of the battle of Waterloo. But for this historical event it was
originally intended to call it the Strand Bridge. The Bill for its con-
struction was strongly opposed during its progress through Parliament,
opposition being particularly raised to its being built with stone, a thing
which scems difficult to understand. The plans and estimate fora wooden
bridge were laid before the Commissioners and favourably received,
but, when the architect wasurged to name a sum for keeping it in repair
during a ccrtain number of years, he declined to make any proposals.
Notwithstanding this the wooden project had many friends, and in the
House of Lords the design for a stone bridge was carried only by a small
majority. On this occasion the minority obtained the ironical and
punning nickname of “Wooden Pecrs’.

In May 1924, owing to the foundation of one of the main arches
having become weakened, causing a sinking of a portion of the road-
way, Waterloo Bridge had to be closed to vehicular traffic for several
months until the necessary strengthening of the foundations had been
carricd out. A contract for the construction of a temporary bridge
was immediately placed with Sir William Errol and Company, Ltd., of
Glasgow, in case the old one should prove unfit for any further service,
and this was completed within twelve months. In order to lessen the
weight of the old bridge, the concrete roadway was taken up and wood
substituted. At first it was intended that the old Waterloo Bridge should
be replaced by a handsome new structure capable of taking six lines of
vchicles, but, thanks to the opposition of short-sighted fanatics, the fate
of Waterloo Bridge is still in the balance. The present intention is to
spend upwards of /800,000 by building out brackets on both sides of
the bridge and increasing its width from 28 feet to no more than
35 fect. An equally fine bridge could well be designed by present-day
architects at a cost of little more than /1,000,000 and the existing plan
of repairing the old bridge is therefore an indefensible and wanton piece
of extravagance.

Nevertheless the fates scem to be working against the retention of the
old Waterloo Bridge in the recent rejection of the Bill for the con-
struction of the new Charing Cross Bridge, and one may even dare to
hope that wiser counscls will be allowed to prevail in the end. (New
plans for the Charing Cross Bridge are, however, under discussion.)
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Our grandfathers were too wise in their day to allow fanatics to prevent
the rebuilding of London, Blackfriars, and Westminster Bridges, not-
withstanding the bitter opposition with which they had to contend, and
therefore let us devoutly hope that our own London County Councillors
will prove equally wise, and refuse to commit such a colossal error of
judgement in the case of Waterloo Bridge.

A century ago London, Blackfriars, and Westminster Bridges were
the only oncs open to the general public free of toll, the others being
owned by private companics. Waterloo Bridge and the Charing Cross
Railway footbridge were freed of tolls in 1878 and, in accordance with
an Act of Parliament passed in July 1877 for that purpose, five more
bridges were freed to the public on 24 May 1879. These were Lambeth,
Vauxhall, Chelsea, the Albert, and Battersca Bridges.

On Saturday, 24 May 1879, Quecen Victoria's birthday, an opening
ceremony was performed by the Prince and Princess of Walcs, after-
wards King Edward VII and Queen Alexandra, and thus the tolls were
removed from all the bridges below Battersea. Those of Wandsworth,
Putney, and Hammersmith were freed a short time later. Their Royal
Highnesses drove over Lambeth Bridge, thence along the Albert
Embankment, returning by Vauxhall Bridge, then along Grosvenor
Road to Chelsea Bridge, along the Chelsca Embankment, over the
Albert Bridge, along Albert Road and back again by Battersea Bridge
and through Oakley Strect to King’s Road.

Proceeding beyond Waterloo Bridge, through the Embankment
Gardens, which were opened in July 1872, we first pass the Institution
of Electrical Engincers at the corner of Savoy Street, a red-brick build-
ing with stone dressings, and then the famous Savoy Hotel, opened in
October 1889, covering nearly an acre of ground. It originally had
terraced balconies on every floor; they overlooked the Embankment
and were supported by granite columns and coloured pillars, but these
were removed in 1912 when two additional stories were added to the
river frontage. It was the first great hotel in London to provide private
bathrooms to cach bedroom. In 1904 the Savoy Hotel was greatly
enlarged and extended to the Strand.

Next door to the Savoy Hotel, also overlooking the Embankment,
stood until 1930 the Hotel Cecil, since acquired by the Shell Mex
Company for their London Offices at a cost of upwards of £ 1,000,000.
Opened in January 1896 the Cecil was at that time considered the most
magnificent hotel in Europe, and was named after Salisbury House,
the residence of Lord Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury and Lord High
Treasurer to James I. The ex-Maharajah of Indore was a frequent visitor
to this hotel. From 1917 to 1920 this hotel was requisitioned by the Air
Board, for which the Government paid the Hotel Company £ 150,000
compensation. It was erected by the Liberator Permancnt Building and
Investment Society in 1892, in connexion with which concern Jabez
Balfour failed for /8,000,000 and was sentenced in 1895 to fourteen
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years’ penal scrvitude. The Hotel Cecil closed its doors to visitors on
23 February 1930, and the building was demolished in the record time
of sixtcen weeks between September and December. A magnificent
new twelvestory building crowned by a massive stone clock tower has
now been crecred on this site by the Shell Mex Company.

West of the Cecil building lies Adelphi Terrace, a handsome row of
houses overlooking the Embankment Gardens, built by the brothers
Adam in 1770. It has always been a favourite abode of actors, artists, and
litcrary men. David Garrick died at No. s in 1779 and No. 7 houses the
famous Savage Club. Also in Adelphi Terrace is the Dramatic Library
of the British Drama League. The collection of buildings and strects,
raised by the architects, John, Robert, James, and William Adam, on the
sitc of Durham Yard at the south side of the Strand, are all named after
the members of that distinguished family, and the term Adelphi also
alludes to these talented brothers. In John Street is the Royal Society
of Arts, established in 1754, and next door is the Little Theatre, origin-
ally a concert hall.

Cleopatra’s Needle, which stands on the Embankment, was brought
from Alexandria at a cost of £ 10,000, which was defrayed by Sir
Erasmus Wilson, the eminent surgeon. This famous Egyptian obelisk,
68 fect high and weighing 180 tons, was erected herc in 1878, and
originally stood in front of the great temple of Heliopolis. At its foot arc
two large sphinxes. The original site sclected for it was in Parliament
Square, but this was abandoned owing to the directors of the Metro-
politan District Railway intimating that they would require a guarantce
against the risk of accident. A wooden model had previously been
crected in Parliament Square to ascertain the effect. Cleopatra’s Needle
was shipped from Alexandria by the s.s. Cleopatra, which was wrecked
inastorm off the Spanish coast in October 1877. Here it was left until the
following January, when it was towed from the Spanish port of Ferrol
by the stcam tug Anglia in six days, and arrived safely in London on
Monday, 21 January 1878. Across the roadway is the Belgian monu-
ment commemorating the hospitality of the people of this country to
Belgians during the war.

Already a century ago the Thames was a great centre of local stcam-
boat trathic and in 1831 stcamers were running daily during the season
from the City to Richmond and from St. Katherine’s Docks to the
various scaside resorts. As carly as 1815 Mr. George Dodd purchased
and fitted up a stcam vessel at Glasgow, brought it to London in 121
hours, and started running pleasure trips on the Thames. As time went
on the number of stcamboats running a regular service up and down the
river multiplicd enormously and this led to the most iniquitous com-
petition between the rival companies, who carried passengers at fares
which werc incompatible with rcasonable safety and efficiency for those
clecting to travel to and from the city by river. The stcamboat companies
on the Thames, owing to the absence of any control, did exactly as they
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liked in those days, although omnibus proprietors and owners of cabs
were numbered and licensed. Thus what was punishable in the Strand
was permitted on the river, though in practice the river was a hundred
times more dangerous. In the absence of any proper landing-places the
companies erected long lines of rickety piers made of dirty barges
planked over, at any spot that suited their convenience. Somectimes two
rival companies placed their piers side by side, so that the public were
constantly deluded into taking wrong tickets for the boat which never
came along. All along the river the picrs were an eyesore, a public
nuisance, and an obstruction.

Things reached a climax when on 27 August 1847 a steamboat called
the Cricket, running between the City and the West End at a fare of
only one halfpenny, was on the point of leaving the Adelphi pier for
London Bridge. It had on board about 150 passengers, all quictly seated,
when suddenly a loud report was heard, followed by a violent explosion.
The vessel was immediately cleared, some of the passengers having
actually been blown into the air, whilst others jumped over the sides
and struggled in the mud that lined the shore. Only a few dumbfounded
persons remained in the uninjured part of the boat, and about forty
persons were seen at one time ﬂoating in the water, which fortunately
happened to be at low tide, but some of them perished before assistance
could be rendered. At the time of the accident the Cricket was aground
ncar the shore and the explosion occurred during the attempt to get
her off. One part of the boiler was hurled 100 feet towards the Adelphi
pier and another portion in the opposite direction towards Waterloo
Bridge. Thirty people were in the cabin of the boat at the time of the
accident, all of whom perished, and their bodies could not be recovered
until the tide had receded.

To-day, except for pleasure trips in the summer-time, the river is
entirely out of favour as a means of transport with the average Londoner,
who prefers the more rapid transit afforded by the motor omnibuses
and the Underground Railway. However, a strong movement is on
foot to reinstate the Thames as a thoroughfare. At one time bathing in
the Thames was a popular pastime, and in July 1875 a floating bath was
opened on the Embankment near the Underground Railway station at
Charing Cross. It was 135 fect long by 30 feet wide and contained good
dressing-rooms and a saloon intended for use as a lounge.

The Victoria Embankment is now brilliantly illuminated at night-
time by a double row of arc lamps suspended on wires extended across
the roadway, and the effect is very impressive. A proposal as long ago
as 1879 to light the Embankment by clectricity was opposed by Sir
Joseph Bazalgette, Engineer to the Metropolitan Board of Works, who
maintained that this system of lighting still had defects which prevented
its adoption as a serious competitor with gas lighting.

In 1906 the London County Council extended their tramway system
across Westminster and Blackfriars Bridges along the Victoria Embank-
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ment, thus enabling the tram~cars to follow a circular route instead of
coming to a dead end as hitherto on the Surrey side of the river. Scveral
attempts to bring about this improvement in previous years had proved
unsuccessful, but in 1905 the necessary Bill was passed in the House of
Commons by Mr. Balfour’s Government, though it was once again
rejected in the House of Lords. With the advent of the Liberal Govern-
ment in 1906 the Bill for extending the tramways passed both Houses
without any further opposition and so rapidly was the work carried
out that by December of that year they were already established along
the Victoria Embankment.

Charing Cross Railway Bridge, which is an affront to the appearance
of the Thames Embankment, was crected in 1860. It is the successor of
the Hungerford Suspension Bridge designed by Mr. I K. Bruncl and
opened to the public on 1 May 1845. The latter is said to have cost
/100,000 and has been removed to Clifton near Bristol. Permission to
ercct their Charing Cross Station on the north side of the river was
granted to the former South Eastern Railway by Parliament at a time
when a similar concession had been granted to the London, Brighton
and South Coast Railway and the London, Chatham and Dover Rail-
way to extend their lines to Victoria. The construction of the Victoria
Embankment had not then been decided upon, or in all probability
Charing Cross Station would never have been allowed to be con-
structed in its present position.

By universal consent Charing Cross Bridge is now doomed and,
whatever the present difficultics, its destruction will play a most im-
portant part in the reconstruction of London. In the words of onc of our
lcading London newspapers, ‘No visitor to the metropolis can fail to be
distressed by the affront which Charing Cross Bridge offers to the view
from Westminster Bridge and by the contrast between the stately
buildings which line the north bank of the river and the wharves and
sheds which so disfigure the south bank as to suggest Lazarus in his
rags and sores at the gate of the rich man’s palace across the way.” But
cven wharves need not necessarily disfigure the river-front, and a notable
exception is the new one recently erected by the Oxo Company between
Waterloo and Blackfriars Bridges, containing a tall, handsome clock
tower which looks well from the opposite side of the river and suggests
the Campanile of Venice.

On the site now occupicd by Charing Cross Station and Hotel
formerly stood Hungerford Market, alarge two-storied building opened
in 1833 for the sale of meat, fish, fruit, and vegetables, which replaced
an carlier market built in 1680 by Sir E. Hungerford. The hall posscssed
stalls for the sale of cheap prints, picture frames, walking-sticks, shells,
and sweetmeats, and a large exhibition hall and bazaar gallery were
added to the building in 1851, beneach the upper portion of the
structure. This was afterwards appropriated by Messts. Gatti and
Morico for the sale of ices and coffee and fitted up as a small foreign



Old Hungerford Suspension Bridge, opened in 1845 and now
removed to Clifton, near Bristol.






CHARING CROSS STATION 117

café with an orchestra, and when this building was pulled down in
August 1862 for the construction of Charing Cross Station, this firm
received £ 7,750 compensation. Hungerford Market was never a success.
The quadrangle overlooked the Strand and was a convenient starting-
place for the Paddington and Camden Town omnibuses.

Charing Cross Station was opencd to the public on 11 January 1864,
but the hotel was not opened until 15 May 1865. Being one of the first
of the large modern hotels to be erected in London it was an immediate
success and on the opening evening was already more than half occupied.
The restored Eleanor Cross, 70 feet high, which stands in front of the
Charing Cross Hotel, was erected in 1865 by the Charing Cross Hotcl
Company; the restoration of this monument was carried out by Sir
Edward M. Barry, A.R.A., who also designed the hotel.

In November 1905, whilst some twenty men were at work repairing
the lofry semicircular roof of Charing Cross Station, a tie-rod snapped,
thereby causing the entire structure to collapse. Fortunately no lives
were lost, but some of the wreckage fell on to the roof of the adjoining
Avenuc Theatre, opened in March 1882 and now renamed the Play-
house, which was almost completcly destroyed. The theatre had to be
entircly rebuilt, and Mr. Cyril Maude, the lessee, received /30,000
compensation from the former South Eastern Railway for the damage
causcd. The collapse of the roof of Charing Cross Station proved a
blessing in disguisc, as it led to the disappearance of a hidecous eyesore
from the Thames Embankment and the construction of a new flat roof
in its place, more in harmony with the surrounding buildings.

Beyond Charing Cross Station, overlooking the Embankment
Gardens, is Whitehall Court, another noble pile of buildings crected
in 1887 by the Liberator Permanent Building and Investment Society
and designed by Sir Alfred Waterhouse, R.A. It houscs the National
Liberal Club and various other London clubs.

We now leave the Victoria Embankment at Charing Cross and
procced up Northumberland Avenue. This exceedingly handsome
thoroughfare, constructed across the grounds of Northumberland
House at a total cost of £650,000, was opened to the public without
ceremony on 18 March 1876. Northumberland House, built in the
reign of James I in 1605 for Henry Howard, Earl of Northampton,
was then known as Northampton House. It was purchased in 1874 from
the Duke of Northumberland and his son Earl Percy for £ 525,000,
under a special Act of Parliament for the purpose of constructing a new
street to connect Charing Cross with the Victoria Embankment.

As early as 1865 it was proposed to purchase Northumberland House
for the new street, and the Duke of Northumberland was served with
a notice in December of that ycar by the Metropolitan Board of Works,
but he was successful on that occasion in resisting compulsory purchase.
There was much controversy at the time as to the necessity for destroy-
ing Northumberland House, and an alternative scheme was propounded



18 NORTHUMBERLAND HOUSE

by Sir James Penncthorne which would have avoided the necessity for
so doing, by taking a slightly curved line opposite the King Charles
statuc to the Victoria Embankment, leaving the house intact by
passing it on the west side, but shaving off a slice of the garden. It
was urged that not only would Northumberland House have been
sparcd under this plan, but that this alternative scheme would have
concealed the ugly view of the Charing Cross Railway Bridge over
the river.

Finally, at a meeting of the Mctropolitan Board of Works held in
July 1872, it was again decided to make an application for the purchase
of Northumberland House with a view to obtaining the direct approach
to the Victoria Embankment, which by that time had become im-
perative. It was said at the time that the ratepayers would be recouped
by the purchase to the extent of /300,000 on the sale of the surplus
land overlooking the new street.

A part of Northumberland House, including the ball-room, was
destroyed by fire on the night of 19 August 1868. During its last days
prior to demolition it was thronged with people in July 1874, who were
furnished with tickets of admission by the Metropolitan Board of
Works. Several adjoining houses in Charing Cross, at the entrance to
the Strand, were also purchased for the construction of the new
thoroughfare.

It was some years before the whole of the building sites in Northum-
berland Avenuc were disposed of. The first building to be erected here
was the Grand Hotel at the corner of the Strand, which was opened in
June 1880 by the Gordon Hotcls Company. It is built in the later Italian
style, with a mansard roof, and was designed on the lincs of the most
modern French and American hotels of that period. Until the ercction
of other buildings in Northumberland Avenuc it enjoyed a fine outlook
over the Thames Embankment and the new Charing Cross Gardens.
The hotel had 300 rooms, and even in its earlicst days was greatly
frequented by non-residents for table d’héte dinner. In 1928 the Grand
Hotel was sold by the Gordon Hotels Company to Messrs. McNish, the
whisky manufacturers, for their London offices, and an arcade was then
constructed between the Strand and Northumberland Avenue contain-
ing shops on the ground floor. Commenting upon their decision to sell
the Grand Hotel in 1928, Sir Francis Towle, Chairman of the Gordon
Hotcls Company, expressed the opinion that nowadays a great hotel
resembled a battleship inasmuch as it tended to become obsolete after
twenty years of existence and that visitors now preferred the newer
hotels in the West End.

The Hotel Metropole, opened in 1885, and the Hotel Victoria,
opened in 1890, are both situated in Northumberland Avenue, and
when first built by the Gordon Hotels Company were considered
amongst the finest in the world. During the late war practically the
whole of Northumberland Avenue was requisitioned by the Govern-
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ment and the Ministry of Munitions, including the three great hotels,
the Constitutional Club and, ironically enough, the offices of the Socicty
for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge.

Passing next into the Strand, we miss Trafalgar Square, to which we
shall come during another walk. Nearly all the old houses which had
previously lined the north side of the Strand from Charing Cross to
Wellington Strcet were pulled down between 1821 and 1831, and
during the present century the majority of these have been rebuilt a
second time. The range of stuccoed buildings extending from Trafalgar
Square to King William Street are Crown property and include Dun-
cannon Street and Adelaide Street. They are quite as pleasing to the eye
as those which lined the old Regent Street until a few years ago, and
the terrace between Adclaide Strect and King William Street is adorned
at the west corner by two small rowers of quite an imposing appearance.
Duncannon Street was named after Lord Duncannon, who was Chief
Commissioner in 1837, and King William Street, running diagonally
from the Strand to St. Martin’s Lane, was also constructed in the reign
of William 1V, when a considerable widening of this portion of the
Strand was carried out.

In the centre of the long terrace between Adclaide Street and King
William Street is the West End Branch of Coutts’ Bank, erected in 1902
on the site of the former Lowther Arcade, so named as a compliment to
Lord Lowther, the First Commissioncr to H.M. Office of Woods and
Forests. The arcade, which was 245 fect long and 20 feet wide, mostly
contained toy shops, forming a children’s paradise at Christmas-time,
and together with the adjoining houses was designed in 1828 by a
Mr. Herbert. Coutts’s Bank, in turn, is also threatened with demoli-
tion in order to make way for the new approach to the proposed
Charing Cross Bridge over the Thames, should this great improve-
ment ever become an accomplished fact. Charing Cross Hospital, at
the corner of King William Street, was founded in 1818, and the present
building was erected in 1831 and greatly enlarged in 1904.

East of Agar Street the widening of the <o-called West Strand, carried
out a century ago, comes to an end, and here the building line on the
north side of the Strand comes forward a considerable distance and
denotes the original width of the street before these improvements were
carricd out. The present-day widening of the Strand from Charing
Cross to Wellington Street is confined to the south side of the street,
and up to the present time has been completed from oppositc Agar
Strect as far as Wellington Street.

Begun already in 1899, the widening of the south side of the Strand
is proving such a tedious affair that after an interval of thirty-three ycars
onc wonders whether this improvement will ever be completed within
a normal lifetime. For the past five years several of the shops in the
Strand opposite Agar Street have been advertising their coming demoli-
tion for the road-widening, and for a long time past their upper floors
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have been disfigured by unsightly hoardings, and yet they are sl
waiting to be pulled down.

A start was made on the widening of the south side of the Strand in
1809 when the Hotel Cecil extended its frontage from the Embank-
ment. It had previously possessed a small frontage to the Strand, but
this entrance was almost concealed from view and, to make room for
the imposing new building now fronting the Strand, something like a
dozen houses were pulled down and the roadway set back to a width of
80 feet. In 1902 the Savoy Hotel decided to follow in the footsteps of
its neighbour, and like the Hotel Cecil extended its building from the
Embankment Gardens to thc new line of frontage in the Strand.
Amongst other buildings which were swallowed up in this improve-
ment was the former world-famed chop-house of Messrs. Simpson,
which was then rebuilt and incorporated in the new building of the
Savoy Hotel. Two new blocks of buildings were erected, one on each
side of the new courtyard, both of clegant appcarance, that on the east
side forming part of the hotel and that on the west side being utilized
for business premiscs and for many years as the head offices of the
Metropolitan Water Board. The west side of the courtyard also contains
the Savoy Theatre.

For over ten years after the completion of the Savoy Hotel no
further progress was made with the widening of the Strand, but in 1914
the old Tivoli Music Hall was pulled down. It was then to have been
reconstructed, but the outbreak of war led to the abandonment of this
scheme and the sitc remained vacant for the following two ycars. At
first it was used as a recruiting station for Kitchener’s Army, and after
1916 the famous Canadian Y.M.C.A. structure known as the Becaver
Hut was crected on this site. Here it remained until the summer of
1922, when it was removed to make way for the present Tivoli Picture
Theatre, which was set back to the new line of frontage. The new block
of shops and offices immediately west of the Tivoli was erected in 1924-5.
The range of new buildings between the Savoy Hotel and Wellington
Strect, forming a part of the cstate of the Duchy of Lancaster, was also
crected in 1924-5, but one building at the west comer of Savoy Street
still remains to be set back to the amended line of frontage.

One of the buildings which has been swallowed up in this improve-
ment is Terry’s Theatre, which in later years was converted into a
cinema. Closc by were the former head-quarters of the Art Union of
London, a Palladian building crected in 1879, in which Sir Mallaby
Deeley opened a tailor’s shop after the war, for the purpose of defeating
the flagrant profiteering in men’s clothes which was taking place at that
time. In Savoy Strect is the Savoy Chapel Royal, restored at the
expense of Queen Victoria in 1864 after a fire. It stands on part of the
site of the ancient Palace of the Savoy presented by Henry III to his
uncle, the Count of Savoy.

The demolition of the three remaining houses between Adam Strect
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and the Hotel Cecil in 1927 completed the widening of the Strand from
Wellington Street to nearly opposite Agar Strect, and at the same time
opened up a new vista of the Nelson Monument from the eastern end
of the Strand. A start on the widening of the Strand at the Charing Cross
end has been made by setting back the front of Lyons’s Strand Corner
Housce between Northumberland Street and Craven Street.

Turning our attention once more to the north side of the Strand, at
the corner of Agar Strect is a five-story building crected in 1908 for the
British Medical Association and now temporarily occupied by the
Civil Service Stores. It is built of grey granite and when newly crected
created a great stir because of the alleged impropricty of the nude
anatomical figurcs, designed by Epstein, which adorn its exterior, and
which at that time were styled “indecent” by one of our leading London
newspapers. The British Medical Association has now removed to
Bloomsbury. On the adjoining site, extending to Bedford Street, the
Civil Service Stores are erecting a new building with an entrance in the
Strand.

At the cast corner of Bedford Street is a large modern block of
buildings known as Walter House, and next door arc the fine offices of
the New Zealand Government, together occupying a site which had
formerly contained a picturesque row of old houses. Adjoining the
New Zcaland Offices is the Adelphi Theatre, originally built in 1806
by Mr. John Scott, a colour maker. Reconstructed in 1858 it became a
celebrated house for melodrama and here the unfortunate Mr. William
Terriss was stabbed to death outside the theatre on 16 December 1897
by a madman. The Adelphi Theatre was again reconstructed in 1910 and
afterwards became a popular house for musical comedy under the
management of Mr. George Edwardes. In 1930 it was rebuilt for the
third time, and the fagade lined with black imitation marble.

East of Southampton Street extensive rebuilding operations have
been carried out on this side of the Strand in recent years, and veritable
skyscrapers have replaced the four-storied stucco-fronted buildings
erected here slightly over a century ago, which were considered very
fine in their day. Between Southampton Strect and Exeter Street is the
newly crected Manficld House, and on the opposite corner of the
Strand and Excter Street cxtending to Burleigh Street is the huge
Strand Palace Hotel, ninc stories high and containing 9oo rooms.

The greater part of this sitc was formerly occupied by Exeter Hall,
the head-quarters of the Y.M.C.A., now removed to Tottenham Court
Road, but it had only a narrow frontage to the Strand, on both sides
of which stood Haxell’s Hotel, the two sections of which were connected
with each other by a corridor running across the upper floor of Excter
Hall. Erccted in 1831 by Mr. Gandy Deering, Excter Hall was at first
used for mectings of all kinds, cxcepting political gatherings, which
were not permitted there. Later it became the head-quarters of the
Young Men’s Christian Association, and in February 1863 a monster
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anti-slavery meeting was held in this building. In 1907 Exeter Hall was
pulled down and the greater part of the present Strand Palace Hotcl
was erccted on the site, but the extension covering the site of Haxell’s
Hotel was not completed until 1930.

Another building which has been absorbed by the Strand Palace
Hotcl is that of the old Globe newspaper, founded in 1803, and which
received its death-blow during the Great War. For an offence against
the Defence of the Realm Act its offices and machine-room were raided
in 1916 and closed down for several wecks. In 1921 it was absorbed by
the Pall Mall Gazette, which was in turn absorbed in 1923 by the
Evening Standard.

On the adjoining island site covered by the Lycecum Theatre and
several shops fronting the Strand, it was proposed as long ago as 1858 to
crect a huge new hotel which was to have been called the International,
and to have been designed on the lines of the newly erected Hétel du
Louvre in Paris, at an estimated cost of £ 100,000. For some unstated
reason the whole scheme was abandoned, although London at that
time was very badly off for first-class hotel accommodation, and the
opening of the Hdtel du Louvre in Paris had excited great admiration
and causcd a demand for a similar establishment in London.

On this site previously stood the Exeter Exchange, overlooking the
Strand, pulled down about 1820 for the Strand improvements, and
which was crected about 1680 as a rival to Gresham’s Royal Exchange in
the City, but which for many years afterwards was a failure until this
district became more populous. Before the construction of the Exeter
Exchange this ground was occupied by Excter House, the palace of
Walter de Stapeldon (1261-1326), Bishop of Excter and Lord High
Treasurer.

The Lyceum Theatre was first built as an opera house in 1794 but was
destroyed by fire and rebuilt in 1834 by Mr. S. Beazley, an architect.
From 1878 to 1904 it was managed by Sir Henry Irving and then
became for a time a music hall. Shortly before the late war, the Lyceum
Theatre was rebuilt, though the portico in Wellington Street was, like
that of Drury Lanc Theatre, preserved for reasons of sentiment. In 1920,
owing to a quarrel between the brothers Walter and Harry Melville,
lessces of this theatre, it remained closed for two and a half years. Each
of the brothers was willing to buy out the other, but neither of them
would alter his decision to retain control, until eventually they agreed
in 1923 to settle their differences and reopen the Lyceum.

Wellington Street was constructed in conjunction with Waterloo
Bridge, in 1817, from the Thames as far as the Strand, and in 1924 the
building line was set back a considerable distance on the west side at the
corner of the Strand. Stupidly enough, after having carried out this
costly improvement the London County Council and the Westminster
City Council are still in no hurry to reduce the wide stretch of extra
pavement and make up the roadway to its intended increased widch.



LANCASTER TERRACE 123

The northern portion of Wellington Street was not constructed until
several years after the opening of Waterloo Bridge, and until July 1846
was known as Charles Street, Covent Garden. Before that time therc
was still no direct thoroughfare leading to Bow Street and Long Acre.
The houses of Lancaster Terrace, opposite the west front of Somerset
House, have recently been pulled down, and arc in course of rebuilding
at the present time. Here an immense new building called Brettenham
House is ncaring completion. It extends to Savoy Street and has an
clevation of ten storics, with the two upper floors zoned back from the
building linc in Wellington Strect. When viewed from the Victoria
Embankment it forms a prominent landmark, and when scen from
Blackfriars Bridge presents a high background which completely
dwarfs the view of Somerset House. To the Londoner revisiting his
native city after an absence of five years, the unfamiliar sky-linc of the
Victoria Embankment revealed by such new buildings as Unilever
House, that erccted for Cables and Wircless Communications, Ltd., but
never occupicd, Bush House, the Shell Mex Building, and Brettenham
House, which has been crected by the Law Land Company, can
scarcely fail to arouse his astonishment.

In 1933 the widening of the Strand was carricd a stage farther by the
demolition of the houses on the east side of George Court immediately
opposite Agar Street. On this site has been erected Villiers House, a new
building of nine storics faced with stone which so completely dwarfs the
ncighbouring structures as to make it appear a veritable skyscraper. The
new building extends to George Court, which has now been isolated
from the adjacent houses on the west side. This improvement will
relieve the congestion of traffic at the junction of the Strand and King
William Strect.

Having alrcady described the district cast of Wellington Street and
the Strand, we may now conclude the present walk.



NINTH WALK

HIGH HOLBORN, BLOOMSBURY, NEW OXFORD

STREET, TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD, EUSTON

ROAD, ST. PANCRAS, KING'S CROSS, PENTON-
VILLE, AND CLERKENWELL

161 1oLBorN, which will form the starting-point of this walk,
[ _‘chtcnds from the City boundary at Gray’s Inn Road westward to
New Oxford Stecet, or, more correctly speaking, to Broad Street, St.
Giles’s. The name of High Holborn, as distinguished from Holborn
proper, would appear almost superfluous, since most people are in the
habit of referring to the entire thoroughfare as Holborn. In September
1874 it was actually proposed by the Metropolitan Board of Works
that its title should be altered to Holborn simply, but vigorous opposi-
tion was offered by the inhabitants of High Holborn and a memorial
protesting against the proposed change was presented to the Board as
the result of a meeting convened for that purpose.

Gray’s Inn Road, onc of the principal tributary thoroughfares leading
north from High Holborn, contains on the west side Gray’s Inn, one of
the four great Inns of Court, originally founded for the education and
lodging of law students. It occupics an extensive area between Holborn
and Theobalds Road and its buildings, which present an ugly and dingy
appearance when viewed from Gray’s Inn Road, overlook pleasant
gardens with fine planc trees and lawns, laid out by Francis Bacon, who
was admitted as a member in 1576 and held the office of Treasurer for
nine years. The catalpa trees in the centre are supposed to have been
planted by him, and in the South Square is a statuc of Francis Bacon by
F. W. Pomcroy, A.R.A., marking the tercentenary of his clection as
Treasurer in 1608.

Gray’s Inn Road from Holborn to Theobalds Road was considerably
widened in the cighties of last century and thisimprovementis evidenced
by the long row of red brick buildings lining its eastern side. Before
that time it was called Gray’s Inn Lane. At the cast corner of Clerken-
well Road is Holborn Hall, originally the municipal offices of the Hol-
born Borough Council, and opened by the Lord Mayor of London on
18 January 1880. About 1908 the Holborn Borough Council removed
to a new Town Hall erccted in High Holborn close to the junction of
New Oxford Street, and the building in Gray’s Inn Road is now used
tor offices and business premises. The only other building of much
interest in Gray’s Inn Road is the Royal Free Hospital, on the same side
of the road, about half a mile distant from Holborn, and founded
in 1828.

Returning to High Holborn, ncarly opposite Chancery Lane on the
north side is the extensive First Avenue Hotel, formerly owned by the
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Gordon Hotels Company, and now rejuvenated under new pro-
prictors. It is a favourite rendezvous for lunch with solicitors and
barristers. Of late years quitc a number of fine buildings have been
erected in High Holborn, principally on the north side, but the famous
Inns of Court Hotel which, before the late war, stood on the south side,
about midway between Chancery Lane and Kingsway, has been re-
placed by a large new telephone exchange. Here also, in anticipation
of a future widening of High Holborn, the building line has been set
back a short distance. The Inns of Court Hotel, crected at a cost of
£160,000 and opened on 14 June 1866, had a sccond frontage to
Lincoln’s Inn Fields and was, at that time, one of the largest in London.
Only the Holborn portion of the building has becn demolished and the
Lincoln’s Inn frontage, which has been retained, is now devoted to
business premises.

By far the most splendid building in High Holborn is that of the Pearl
Insurance Company, crected on the south side of the street and removed
here in 1913 from Adelaide House, King William Street. It is adorned
by a lofty clock tower, and at the present time a large new wing is
being added to this building on the east side in High Holborn. Farther
west on the same side of the street is the Holborn Empire, formerly
known as the Royal Theatre of Varicties, and opened in June 1867.
A few stages farther along is a building recently erected by Messrs.
Crawford, the advertising specialists. It is a striking example of
modernist architecture. The Holborn Restaurant, at the west corner of
Kingsway, was originally the Holborn Casino, and in the seventies of
last century was the largest and best conducted dance hall in London.
The first extension took place in 1874, the building was further enlarged
in 1896, and to-day it is still most popular amongst the leading London
restaurants for public dinners and various social functions.

On the north side of High Holborn, a considerable widening of the
roadway between Red Lion Street and Southampton Row was carried
out by the London County Council as part of the great Kingsway im-
provement and here a long row of modern buildings has been erected.
On the other hand, private interests have been allowed to hinder the
widening of High Holborn between Southampton Row and its junction
with New Oxford Street, thus leaving a bottle-neck which greatly
interferes with the enormous volume of traffic. The congestion at the
west corner of Southampton Row is as tiresome an obstruction as ever
existed in former times at Middle Row or Holywell Street, and to add
to the trouble the sidewalks have been allotted far more space than is
justified by the narrowness of the roadway. Sinceitis quitc inconceivable
that the London County Council could ever have wilfully committed
this great crror of judgement at the time when this corner was rebuilt
In 1898, one must assume that the pressing requirements of London’s
strect traffic were deliberately sacrificed in this instance to selfish private
opposition to the purchase of the requisite strip of ground.



126 SOUTHAMPTON ROW

Southampton Row, formerly a very narrow strcet between High
Holborn and Great Russell Street, is to-day, in consequence of the
extensive widening carried out here by the London County Council,
one of the fincst thoroughfares in London. The portion between High
Holborn and Theobalds Road was widened in 1904, but the section
between Theobalds Road and Great Russell Street was not widened
until 1915. The east side of Southampton Row contains the Baptist
Church House and the London County Council Central School of
Arts and Crafts, erected between 1906 and 1908, and at this point the
underground tramway comes to the surface. On the opposite side of
the road are two grotesque blocks of buildings separated from one
another by a wide passage known as Sicilian Avenue, containing shops
and offices and leading into Hart Street.

On the large island sitc immediately north, enclosed by the west side
of Southampton Kow, Hart Street, Bloomsbury Square, and Great
Russcll Street, a very magnificent building, which has been ten years
in course of construction, is still in progress. It is the Victoria House of
the Liverpool and Victoria Friendly Society. Designed by Mr. C. W.
Long, it contains a colonnade fronting Southampton Row occupied
by a row of shops, forming a covered walk during the day, and there
is also a large hall for mectings, dances, and social gatherings, which is
approached from Bloomsbury Squarc. The building is seven stories
high, with a tall, sloping roof, and is far more suggestive of some huge
Government office than a private business corporation, and is decidedly
a great credit to the architectural features of the metropolis.

Forming part of the main thoroughfare connecting the Strand with
the northern railway termini, Southampton Row contains a number of
excellent shops and large hotels. The principal hotels are the Bonnington,
the Imperial, and the imposing Hotel Russell on the east side, the last-
named overlooking Russell Square, and the Bedford and West Central
Hortcls on the west side. Close to Russell Square on the east side is
Pitman’s Business School, and farther south is Faraday House, a college
for the study of electrical engineering.

Southampton Row comes to an end at Russell Square, laid out in
1805 and so called after the Russclls, Earls and Dukes of Bedford, and
one of the largest in London. On the other side of Russell Square
Southampton Row is continued under the name of Woburn Place.
Here an extensive widening was carricd out on the west side in 1922. On
this site has been erected the Royal Hotel, with a frontage of about an
cighth of a mile, extending from Russell Square to Tavistock Square,
an cxcessively plain building in external appearance, more suggestive of
a large factory than an hotel. In Tavistock Square is the new building of
the British Medical Association, constructed of red brick with stone
dressings.

Returning to High Holborn and turning to the left, a few paces from
Southampton Row will bring us to New Oxford Street, a compara-
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tively new thoroughfare constructed at a cost of /290,000 and opened
to vehicular traffic on 6 March 1847. It was designed to provide direct
communication between High Holborn and Oxford Street, without
passing by the tortuous route of Broad Street and St. Giles’s Church.
New Oxford Street was driven through the heart of the so-called St.
Giles’s rookery, which contained some of the worst squalor and slums
in London. Of the compensation money, £ 114,000 was awarded to the
Duke of Bedford for tic frechold purchascs of the land required for
the new strect, and in 1846 the whole of the houses facing St. Giles’s
Church were demolished in connexion with this improvement. By
1849 all that remained of the infamous rookery was concentrated in
nincty-five wretched houses in the former Church Lane and Carricr
Street, wherein, incredible though it may appear, no less than 2,850
persons were crammed into a space of ground less than an acre and a
quarter in area. In some of these noisome abodes, shelter could be
obtained at threepence per head nightly. The most amazing fact was
that amidst this great filth the inhabitants of St. Giles’s, who often
slept fifty persons in one room, enjoyed excellent health, except
perhaps in the hot weather, when these dens of misery and filth threw
forth the most offensive smells, which were sometimes overpowering.
In April 1843 a fever epidemic broke out in St. Giles’s and other metro-
politan parishes, claiming more victims than were ever known during
the worst periods of the cholera.

In the squalid back rookeries of St. Giles’s, picturesque scenes could
sometimes be witnessed equal to those seen by tourists and artists who
had travelled extensively in foreign citics. Here the place would be gay
with costermongers’ stalls containing fruit, vegetables, and flowers,
bought in quantitics from Covent Garden to be trimmed up and arranged
for gencral sale. It was difficult for thosc in better circumstanccs to realize
the strength of mind required by these men and women to preserve
their hard-carned savings, tempted as they always were by great poverty
and privation.

In onc of the streets was a large water tank, crected at a time when
water in this densely peopled district was almost as scarce and precious
as in the desert, and this proved a great boon to the ncighbourhood.
In later years the sanitary authorities displayed greater vigilance in
respect of the drainage, water supply, number of beds in aparements,
and the cleanliness of rooms genecrally. In 1846 a model lodging
house, 80 feet long and six stories high, was erccted in George
Street by the Society for Improving the Conditions of the Labouring
Classes.

The church of St. Giles’s in the Fields was so named to distinguish it
from St. Giles’s, Cripplegate. Constructed in 1733, it is the third church
which has been erected on this site, and is built of Portland stone and
has a spire 160 fect high, including the vanc. After 1853, as the
result of a petition to the Home Secretary, the churchyard was closed
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to further burials, as this practice had long since become dangerous to

the health of this crowded neighbourhood. _

The buildings in New Oxford Street exhibited a great advance in
taste at that period, and their elevation was well adapted to the w1d'th
and requirements of the street. Its vacant building sites were soon dis-
posed of, and it became an important shopping street. Looking at New
Oxford Street and its side turnings at the present day, it is difficule to
visualize what this ncighbourhood looked like when it was covered
by the St. Giles’s rookery. The construction of Shaftesbury Avenue in
1885 cffected a further improvement in this locality, causing a number
of houses to be swept away between Broad Street and Hart Street,
Bloomsbury. Close to Shaftesbury Avenue is Christ Church, St. Giles’s,
crected in 1844.

Since 1928 the north side of New Oxford Street from Tottenham
Court Road to Bloomsbury Strect has been nearly all rebuilt, and is now
lined by scveral stately structures. Prominent amongst these are the
new premiscs of Messrs. Burton, the popular tailoring establishment at
the corner of Tottenham Court Road, six stories high, faced with stone,
and crected at a cost of no less than /£ 300,000. At the corner of Bain-
bridge Street is an entrance to the immense new Dominion Theatre
crected on the site of the old Mcux Brewery within the record time of
twelve months, and opened in 1929. The main entrance is in Tottenham
Court Road, adjoining the Horse Shoe Hotel. Other new buildings
which have arisen in New Oxford Street are the Imhof House at the
cast corner of Bainbridge Strect, and the extensive drapery store of
Messrs. Henry Glave and Son, which now invites favourable comparison
with some of the best to be seen in Oxford Street.

The building on the south side of New Oxford Street formerly
occupied by Messrs. A. and F. Pears, the well-known firm of soap
manufacturers, has now been taken over by the Midland Bank, and the
popular Vienna Café which formerly stood at the junction of New
Oxford Street and Hart Street has also been converted into banking
premises. The increased height of the new buildings has in no way
spoiled the appearance of New Oxford Street, although the old four-
story buildings are being replaced by six-story structures.

An cxplosion of gas-main pipes which occurred in December
1928 caused an upheaval in several important thoroughfares in this
district, including New Oxford Street, Broad Street, High Street,
St. Giles’s, and the castern end of Shaftesbury Avenue, all of which
were closed to vehicular traffic for many weeks, whilst the damage was
being repaired. Many small shopkeepers were nearly ruined by this
catastrophe, which led to numerous claims for compensation and loss
of trade, and the Princes Theatre in Shaftesbury Avenue was com-
pelled to close its doors for some weeks owing to the roadway having
become impassable to vehicular traffic. In Broad Street, St. Giles’s, is
the new Westminster Ophthalmic Hospital, which has recently been
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removed here from King William Street, Strand. It is a towering red
brick structure which completely dwarfs every other building in this
street.

On the north side of Hart Street, Bloomsbury, is St. George’s Church,
erected in 1731 by Nicholas Hawksmoor and adorned by a handsome
portico. Nearly opposite is a tall new building of red brick erected by
the Co-operative Permanent Building Society in 1928. Bloomsbury,
the district to the north of High Holborn and New Oxford Street,
mostly buil¢between 1800 and 1830, derivesits name from the Blemunds,
afterwards known as the De Blemontes, and Bloomsbury Squarc on the
north side of Hart Street dates from 1667. Bedford House, which once
formed the north side of the square, was pulled down in 1800, and three
years later Bedford Place and Montague Street were erected on its site
and gardens.

The British Musecum, in Great Russcll Street, to the north of Hart
Street, originated in 1753 with the purchase of the library and collection
of Sir Hans Sloane, the necessary funds having been raised by a public
lottery sct on foot for that purposc. A larger building having become
imperative the present edifice in Great Russell Street was erected by the
brothers Smirke on the site of Montague House between 1823 and 1847
at a cost of £/ 1,000,000. The extension known as the King Edward VII
galleries was erected between 1908 and 1914 at a cost of £200,000, the
foundation stone being laid by King Edward VI in 1908 and the open-
ing ccremony being performed by King George in 1914. Opposite the
extension is a new thoroughfare called British Museum Avenue, but
practically all the land fronting it is still unoccupied. The whole of
this site, together with the adjoining Torrington Square, which is to
be pulled down, will be covered during the next few years by the new
buildings of the University of London. When this is done the Univer-
sity, including University College and Hospital, will stretch from the
British Muscum to Euston Road, and will form the most impressive
University buildings in Europe. As we go to press it is announced that
the work has been entrusted to a single architect, Mr. Charles Holden,
the builder of the St. James’s Underground building. The responsible
authorities are to be congratulated on this wisc and courageous step,
which ensures to London a series of buildings worthy of the opportunity
and the occasion.

In Gower Street is University College, chicfly founded by the exer-
tions of Lord Brougham for the purpose of providing education in
literature, science, and fine arts at moderate cost. The foundation stone
was laid on 30 April 1827 by the Duke of Sussex, and the building was
opened on 1 October 1828, having been designed by W. Wilkins, R.A.,
the architect of the National Gallery. In 1869 it was incorporated by
Royal Charter with additional powers and was divested of its original
proprictary character. The site upon which the University stands was
purchased for £30,000. The new stone building is the Institute of
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Anatomy, opened by King George V in 1923. University College
Hospital, also in Gower Street, in connexion with University College,
was founded in 1833 and rebuilt in the form of a diagonal cross by the
late Sir J. Blundell Maple. Gower Street contains several large boarding
houses which cater specially for foreign and overseas students.

Bloomsbury is also famous as a centre for large temperance hotels and
boarding houses, some of them containing upwards of 200 rooms.
Amongst the largest are the Ivanhoe and the Kenilworth, both of them
in Bloomsbury Street, on the two corners of Great Russell Street, and
the Central Hotel at the corner of Bloomsbury Street and Bedford
Avenue, in addition to thosc already noted in Southampton Row and
Woburn Place. In Great Russell Street, Bedford Avenue, and Ridg-
mount Gardens arc scveral fine blocks of residential flats.

We return to New Oxford Street once more and proceed along
Tottenham Court Road. Thisimportant main north-to-south thorough-
farc commences at St. Giles Circus, as the junction of Oxford Street and
Charing Cross Road is now called, and extends northwards for a good
half-mile as far as Euston Road. Until 1900 a row of old houses known
as Boziers Court extended across what is now a wide approach to
Tottenham Court Road, and like the old Middle Row in Holborn it
constituted a great hindrance to the large volume of traffic at this busy
corner. But cven this improvement has only relieved the congestion of
traffic in this part of London to a very small extent. Here the streets have
been very badly planned in the first place; the southern end of Totten-
ham Court Road is far too narrow to accommodate its traffic, Oxford
Street is also very narrow between St. Giles Circus and Rathbone
Place, and there is no relicf thoroughfare for over a quarter of a mile
to the north until Goodge Street is reached. On the south there is also
no parallel thoroughfare to relieve the enormous traffic of Oxford
Street cast of Wardour Street and Berners Street.

As soon as the vexed question of a suitable site for the new Charing
Cross Station on the south side of the river has been scttled, London is
prepared to spend twelve million pounds on the construction of a new
Charing Cross Bridge, together with the requisitc approaches. Yet for
such badly needed improvements as the widening of the narrow end of
Tottenham Court Road or the climination of the bottle-neck in Oxford
Street between St Giles Circus and Rathbone Place, there is not even
a suggestion of spending a penny. If the new Charing Cross Bridge is
cver built, it must incvitably attract a greatly increased volume of
traftic from north to south which will pass through St. Giles Circus
and the narrow end of Tottenham Court Road. Therefore it can be of
little use embarking upon this costly scheme unless it can be made to
form part of a larger scheme to eliminate these bottle-necks and so
create a reasonably broad line of thoroughfares extending right through
the metropolis. But then, our various municipal authorities are quite
hopeless in realizing the importance of matters of that sort.
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Tottenham Court Road was a favourite resort of Londoners in the
early part of the seventeenth century, because it led to the old Manor
House of Tothnam Court. It was then a country road with hawthorn
hedges and containing good pastures and meadows on both sides, but
occasionally rowdiness and disorders occurred in this locality. Herc
booths were erected and gaming and prize fighting were indulged in,
which culminated in riots and other offences calculated to create a
breach of the peace. This caused the magistrates to issue a proclamation
that such disorders, constituting a violation of the law, were liable to
punishment.

Tottenham Court Road was mostly built between 1770 and 1800
and until the concluding years of the nineteenth century was a shabby
street, but to-day it is the great centre of the London furnishing estab-
lishments and the whole of the east side has been rebuilt during the past
fifty years. At the corner of Great Russcll Street is the magnificent
building of the Central Young Men’s Christian Association, which
removed here from Exeter Hall in the Strand in 1908. It contains two
large halls for meetings, restaurants, a gymnasium, swimming bath,
social rooms, and 200 bedroonis for young men. Farther up the street
on the same side arc the cextensive furnishing emporiums of Messrs.
Wm. Spriggs and Company, Bartholomew and Fletcher, Heal and
Sons, and the world-famous establishment of Messrs. Maple and
Company, Ltd., which has been partly refronted of late years. Among
these firms until lately was the large and old-established store of James
Shoolbred and Company, which has now been wound up. Another
distinctive building on this side of the road is that of the North British
Rubber Company, situated between Chenies Strect and Francis Street.

The west side of Tottenham Court Road from St. Giles Circus to
Goodge Street is still lined by third-rate buildings mostly occupied by
small shops, small cinemas, and night clubs. Many of them are also dis-
figurcd by slovenly advertisement hoardings erected above the ground-
floor shops. Beyond Goodge Street, the buildings on this side of the
road are of a better character and include the tall new building of
Messrs. Catesby and Sons, the linoleum and furnishing firm, and the
Grafton Hotel, close to Euston Road. On this side is also the White-
field Tabernacle, an institutional church of the Congregational body,
rebuilt on the site of an earlicr chapel damaged by fire on 23 February
1857.

Turning next into Euston Road, and passing Gower Street, we come
on the left-hand side to Unity Housc, the head-quarters of the National
Union of Railwaymen. Just beyond is Euston Square, which, together
with Scymour Place, was partly erccted in 1813 but not entirely com-
pleted until 1831. Inasmuch as it actually forms a part of Euston Road
it can hardly be considered a square at all, and morcover the southern
portion, which until recently was still an open garden, is now partly
covered by the handsome new building of the Society of Friends, the
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Weights and Measures office, and a business block, erccted in quite
recent years. Here an cxtensive widening has just been carried out on
the south side of Euston Road, giving it more the appearance of a
boulevard.

Euston Station, the principal tcrminus of the London, Midland and
Scottish Railway Company, occupying an area of twelve acres, is
approached from the centre of the north side of the square by Euston
Grove and thence through an absurd-looking Doric archway which
was built without reference to the courtyard into which it leads. In
front of it is the Euston Square Hotel and behind is an immense entrance
hall to the station, in the centre of which is a waiting-room with a
restaurant on one side and a buffet on the other. Originally designed as
the terminus of the parent London and Birmingham Railway, it was
the first of the larger railway stations to be erected in London. This line
was opened on Monday, 17 September 1838, and, writing in 1839,
Mr. Thomas Faulkner, a great authority on London topography, said
that the London and Birmingham Railway was unquestionably the
greatest public work ever cxccuted in ancient or modern times, and
that, when one considered the immense outlay of capital required,
together with what were in those days regarded as the unprecedented
engincering difficulties, it was evident that such a work could only
have been undertaken in a country like Britain which abounded with
capital and possessed engineering talent of the highest order.

The Act of Parliament for its construction was obtained in 1833
and the work was commenced in 1834 under the supervision of Mr.
Robert Stephenson. The entire line was built within four years at an
average rate of one mile a fortight and the first train conveying the
dircctors to London accomplished the journey in four hours and thirty-
five minutes for a distance of 112 miles. Yet London was slow to realize
the advantages of railroad travelling, since the Liverpool and Manchester
Railway had already been opened seven years earlier, in 1831.

From a present-day standpoint Euston is a shabby, inconvenient, and
straggling terminal station and affords a truly startling contrast to the
magnificence of the newer Waterloo and Victoria Stations, and can
scarcely be considered a credit to Britain’s premier railway. Not only is
it decidedly the Cinderella amongst the great railway stations of the
metropolis but it compares unfavourably with Lime Street, Liverpool,
and New Strect, Birmingham, owned by the same company. The
position of the great entrance hall has the effect of cutting the station
into two separate sections, which is a great disadvantage. True, our
railway companies are now expericncing hard times and are not
perhaps at the present moment in a position to embark upon such
a costly scheme as the reconstruction of Euston station. For that reason
they deserve our deepest sympathy, but then the rebuilding of Euston
Station is long overdue and was projected by the former London and
North Western Railway Company over thirty years ago. At the
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entrance to the station in Euston Square is a monument erccted by the
London and North Western Railway to 3,719 men who fell in the
Great War.

On the opposite side of Euston Road, at the east corner of Woburn
Place, is St. Pancras church, completed in 1822 at a cost of £76,000,
and close to Seymour Street on the north side are the oftices of the
Hearts of Oak Benetit Society, opened by King Edward V11 in 1906.

To-day the road from Paddington to Islington comprises the Maryle-
bone, Euston, and Pentonville Roads, but until the middle of the last
century it was called the New Road, and originated in an Act of Parlia-
ment in 1756 for the construction of an entirely new road beyond what
was then the outer limits of London. It was vigorously opposed by the
Duke of Bedford, who contended that the New Road would interfere
with the privacy of Bedford House and his estate near Bloomsbury
Square, but its advocates said that it would be a means of avoiding the
driving of cattle through the streets to Smithficld Market and that in
case of a threatened foreign invasion the New Road would enable His
Majesty’s Forces to march expeditiously into Essex and defend our
coasts without passing through the cities of London and Westminster.
A clause was inserted in the Act prohibiting the erection of houscs
within so feet of the road, the land in front of the houses to be rescrved
for gardens only, and vesting the authorities of those parishes through
which it passed with power to pull down any such erections and charge
the expense to the offenders” goods and chattels without proceeding in
the usual way of indictment.

For years the New Road remained lonely and pedestrians dared not
traverse it at night time unless accompanied by a watchman, but
unfortunately in many instances the law was cvaded and in course of
time shops of a very inferior character succeeded in coming forward
to the frontage of the road, and what was designed by our grandfathers
to become a magnificent boulevard has been largely spoiled, at any rate
until the expiration of the existing leases.

Beyond Seymour Street, on the north side of Euston Road, is St.
Pancras Station and the stately Midland Hotel which is approached by
a private roadway with an ascent of more than 20 feet. The roof of this
great station, said to be the largest of its kind in the world, is 700 feet
long with a span of 240 fect unbroken by tics or braces and is 100 feet
high. The Midland line from London as far as Bedford was opened on
13 July 1868, but pending the actual completion of St. Pancras Station
in 1870 the trains from the north ran for the time being into King’s
Cross Station. The hotel, which has a frontage to Euston Road of
575 feet, was opened on § May 1873, after having been five years in
course of construction, and at that time was one of the finest in the
world. It contains two lofty towers, both with ornamental turrets, that
at the east end being 270 feet high and the west tower 250 fect high. The
hotel accommodates 600 guests and was erected at a cost of /£ 500,000.
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To make way for St. Pancras Station and the hotel, as well as the
extensive goods depot to the north, comprising altogether some so
acres, no less than 3,000 houses in Somers Town and Agar Town were
demolished, including Skinner Street, King’s Road, and Brill Street,
together with some of the worst slums in London extending more or
less from Euston Road to Camden Square and the North London
Railway. Somers Town was buile after 1790 at the time of the
French Revolution, but Agar Town, commenced about 1840 and
happily wiped out altogether by the Midland Railway, originated in
a very disgraceful incident in the development of London.

The sitc of what was formerly known as Agar Town was meadow
land of comparatively small value at the time it came into the possession
of Mr. Agar about 1815. The Regent’s Canal was then in course of
construction and the Company wanted to carry it through this estate,
but Mr. Agar, who was a Qucen’s Counscllor at the Chancery Bar,
successfully contested their right to do so. Until 1840 Agar’s grounds
retained their park-like appearance and the approach to his private
residence was through a ncat lodge and gate in a road situated not far
from York Road, King’s Cross, then known as Maiden Lane.

In 1841 Mr. Agar sublct the greater part of his estatc on leases of
twenty-one years. Tenements were run up in consequence by any one
disposed to take the land; many of them were hovels erected by journey-
men bricklayers and carpenters on Sundays and in their spare time, and
inhabited cven before the ground flooring had been laid. Hence many
of the first proprictors bitterly regretted the day they ever contemplated
becoming owners of their dwellings in Agar Town or Ague Town as
it was atterwards nicknamed, because of the absence of drainage or
sewerage. The inmatces contracted fevers which in some instances carried
off an industrious father or mother, and sometimes scveral children in
a family.

Of course the conditions of a new town springing up under such
circumstances could not be concealed for long from the outside public,
and in 1851 it attracted the attention of Charles Dickens, after it had
been in existence about ten years. He wrote a graphic description of this
ncighbourhood in Household Words under the title of ‘An English Con-
nemara’. Rows of squalid and makeshift houses were crected opposite
one another without any attempt to make the roadways, and when the
rain came down the ground, strewn with rubbish, was churned up
into a thick paste. Every garden had its nuisance, the one containing
a dung heap, the next a cinder heap, and a third, belonging to the cottage
of a coster, was a pile of periwinkle shells, rotten cabbages, and a
donkey. The inhabitants themselves displayed a genuine Irish apathy,
and as there were no sewers the stench on a rainy morning was enough
to knock an clephant down.

When there was an outbreak of cholera an inspector of nuisances
would appear on the scene, but directly the epidemic was over, his
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vigilance was again relaxed and things reverted to their former con-
dition. In 1840 there was no Metropolitan Board of Works or London
County Council to say no to Mr. Agar, and one of these squalid strects
even rejoiced in the very imposing name of Salisbury Crescent.

By the summer of 1868 the whole of Agar Town had disappearcd,
and thus London owes a debt of gratitude to the coming of the Midland
Railway for a merciful riddance from this disgraccful rookery. But for
this fortunate occurrence a later generation of Londoners would bave
been put to enormous expense in removing this blot upon the metropolis.

Some years after the construction of the New Road in 1756-7 the
adjoining building sites were partly disposed of and eventually Somers
Town was planned and so named after Earl Somers, Lord High
Chancellor in 1695, who received this estate as a gift from Queen Anne
after it Lad reverted to the Crown in 1539. Mr. Jacob Leroux became
the principal landowner under Lord Somers and built himself a hand-
some residence. Later the so-called Polygon and Clarendon Squares were
built. The Polygon comprised a block of rather pleasant houses which
at first overlooked open fields but was afterwards surrounded by the
dingy Clarendon Square. The Polygon has been replaced by several
blocks of artisan dwellings, which now occupy the centre of that
square.

Of late years many slums in Somers Town have been cleared away
by the London County Council, though it still remains an unlovely
district in Stebbington Strcet and Drummond Strect. Here the so-called
St. Mary’s Flats have been erected, and Queen Mary paid a surprise
visit to them in February 1930 and also inspected a new model public
house called the Anchor Inn. The influx of French emigrants contri-
buted to the prosperity of Somers Town by their renting houses which
had previously stood unoccupied, and this in turn created a demand for
ground leases offered by the Duke of Bedford and the trustees of the
late Foundling Hospital, who owned the greater part of the land on the
south side of the New Road.

This resulted in the erection of Guilford Strcet, Brunswick and
Russell Squares, Tavistock Place, Woburn Place, and many other strects
and squarcs. Mr. Burton also leased some of the ground in this imme-
diate locality for building purposes and this is now covered by Judd
Street, Tonbridge Place, and the adjacent streets. Euston Square and
Scymour Place were erected about 1813. The Foundling Hospital,
erected between 1739 and 1747, which has recently been pulled down,
stood all alone at the dawn of the ninetcenth century in Lamb’s Conduit
Ficlds. It was founded by Thomas Coram, a native of Lyme Regis,
born in 1668, the son of a merchant captain. It occupied, together with
its grounds, nearly ten acres, and was opened for the reception of s00
boys and girls in 1743. A proposal in 1926 to remove Covent Garden
Market to this sitc met with such a storm of opposition that it had to
be abandoned. The fate of the vacant site is still undecided, but great
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cfforts are still being made to raise the very large sum necessary for
its purchase for the public. It would be a real misfortune if this open
space were to be built on. A great benefit was confcrred on the neigh-
bourhood even by the few months during which the site was available
as a children’s playing ground.

Between St. Pancras Church and King’s Cross Station, Euston Road
has been partly widened of late years and some of the old houses have
been pulled down. On a portion of this vacant ground the Euston
Market has been erected, which is certainly no ornament to this
thoroughfare. Close by is the Regent Theatre and several other better-
class buildings, which have been erected here more recently, indicating
a gradual improvement of this important main thoroughfare.

King’s Cross Station, which was opencd for traffic on 14 October
1852, replaced the temporary terminus of the former Great Northern
Railway in Maiden Lane, now renamed York Road. To make way
for the new station the old Small-pox Hospital, now removed to High-
gatc Hill, had to be pulled down, together with a number of houses
on the west side of Maiden Lane which was then considerably widencd.
The station and goods yards occupy 45 acres of ground. King’s Cross
Station is approached from Euston Road by a carriage drive and has
two main arches, cach 71 feet span, scparated by a clock tower 112 feet
high, a most dreary-looking building of yellow brick turned black with
the dirt of ages, reminding one of a mausoleum. If only the London and
North Eastern Railway Company would clean it up or front it with a
coat of cement, it would not look so bad, or they might even erect
a block of offices in front. The courtyard of King’s Cross Station is
rendered hideous by several unsightly huts devoted to the sale of
refreshments and to other miscellaneous trades, when it might casily be
transformed into one of the finest squarcs in the metropolis, situated at
a spot where several broad thoroughfares converge. At the side of the
station is the Great Northern Railway Hotel.

This ncighbourhood was formerly known as Battlebridge and under-
went a greae transformation about a century ago. Before 1820 it had
been a filthy and dangerous neighbourhood, and here ¢he dust carts of
London used to be emptied. Aftecrwards all the mean hovels were
removed and decent houses erected in their place. Battlebridge was
renamed King’s Cross after George IV and is supposed to have been
the spot where King Alfred fought the Danes. About 1825 a building
was crected at the junction of Maiden Lane, Gray’s Inn Road, and
Pentonville Road, which was crowned with a statue of George IV and
christened King’s Cross. At first this building was utilized as a place for
cxhibitions, then as a police station, and finally as a beer house until it
was pulled down in February 184s.

East of King’s Cross is Pentonville which was mostly built between
1780 and 1820 and derives its name from Captain Henry Penton, M.P.,
the chief proprictor of the estate, who lived to see the hill-sides all built
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over before his death, which occurred in Italy in 1812. The first houses
of Pentonville were built in 1773 and were called Penton Place. It was
then a beautiful hill-side, from which you could see St. Paul’s Cathedral,
the City of London, and the Surrey hills. Pentonville Prison is not in
Pentonville at all, but in Barnsbury, and it is not clear how it came to be
associated with this immediate locality, although Barnsbury never had
any desire to be associated with that institution.

At the top of Pentonville Road is a lofty hill crest containing a
rescrvoir surrounded by Claremont Square, the east side of which leads
into Myddleton Square, adorned by the handsome Gothic church of
St. Mark in the centre. Between Myddleton Square and Rosebery
Avenue is the New River Head, containing the reservoirs of the former
New River Water Company, now merged into the Metropolitan
Water Board. Pioncer amongst the old water companies of London, the
New River originated in a contract made by Sir Hugh Myddlcton in
1609 with the Corporation of London for making a river to supply the
City with water from the springs of Chadwell and Anwell ncar Ware
in Hertfordshire. This he succeeded in carrying out, but nearly ruined
himself in the undertaking, and for a time the works were stopped at
Enficld for want of capital. Myddleton then applied to the Corporation
for assistance, which was refused, whereupon he appealed to James I, who
obtained payments out of the Treasury amounting to £8,600 on account
of the New River works, in return for which he obtained thirty-six
shares for the Crown. The New River, thirty-cight miles in length,
was thus completed and opened in 1613, and Myddleton was then made
a baronct.

The Metropolitan Water Board was constituted in 1902 and consists
of sixty-six members clected for three years by the various authorities
in the metropolis, including the London County Council and the
various metropolitan borough councils. In Roscbery Avenue, adjoin-
ing the New River Head, arc the extensive new offices of the Metro-
politan Water Board, opened on 24 May 1920 at a cost of £;300,000.

In October 1842 a number of labourers were employed in cleaning
out the immense rescrvoir in Claremont Square, where the sediment
had been allowed to accumulate for cleven years, and in some places it
contained 11 feet of mud. In 1852 an Act was passed requiring all
reservoirs within five miles of St. Paul’s to be roofed in or otherwise
covered, and all water used for domestic purposcs to be filtered.

At the corner of Rosebery Avenue and St. John Street is Sadler’s
Wells Theatre, which has recently been rebuilt and is now a people’s
theatre modelled on the same lines as the Old Vic. in Waterloo
Road. Sadler’s Wells takes its name from a spring of mincral water
once called Islington Spa, rediscovered by a Mr. Sadler in 1683 in the
garden of a house which he had then just opened as a music room. This
spring has been preserved and can be scen in the Theatre.

We retrace our steps down Roscbery Avenue, an important
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thoroughfare connecting Holborn with Islington, constructed in 1892.
The northern end contains the Finsbury Town Hall, adjoining Myddlc-
ton Street, and was carved out of several previously existing streets, but
the southern end is entirely modern and is built on a viaduct containing
fourteen arches spanning the valley of the old Flect river.

King’s Cross Road, running from north to south, which we shall
next pass, is a modern name bestowed upon the former Bagnigge Wells
Road in 1863, and its continuation, then named Coppice Row and
Victoria Street, was altered to Farringdon Road. Bagnigge Wells in the
parish of Holborn stood in the valley between Gray’s Inn Road and
Clerkenwell and was once a noted place of public entertainment. Two
springs were discovercd here in the reign of George III, and Bagnigge
House, which up to then had been a small tavern, was enlarged by its
enterprising landlord. A new, clegant, long room was built and an
organ crected for the amusement of visitors. There was also a good
tca-room and the grounds contained beautiful walks, and in the centre
was a small round fish pond containing a fountain representing Cupid
astride a swan which spouted watcr through its beak to a considerable
height. Close to the pond was the small stream of the Fleet river which
traversed these grounds.

Victoria Strect, now forming a part of Farringdon Road, was com-
menced in 1845. It was 1,450 feet in length and extended from West
St. Holborn to the back of the Sessions House, Clerkenwell. To make
way for this improvement a number of houses which stood in its path
on Holborn Hill cast of Ficld Lane had to be demolished, as well as
Chick Lane and other filthy habitations devoted to offensive trades.
The complete street was opened in 1856 from Holborn Bridgc, including
the extension to Bagnigge Wells Road, for which purposc many other
houses were demolished in Great Saffron Hill and Coppice Row. The
remaining portion of the Fleet Ditch, extending from Peter Street to
Castle Street, which had been open for centuries, was arched over and
converted into a sewer. Various minor thoroughfares, such as Vine
Street, Castle Street, and Peter Strect, were swallowed up in this im-
provement and their site is now covered by Farringdon Street Station.

In 1865 cight large blocks of workmen’s dwellings were crected in
Farringdon Road by the City Corporation, mainly through the exer-
tions of Alderman Sydney Waterlow. Others were erccted in 1874 by
the Metropolitan Association for the Improvement of the Dwellings of
the Industrial Classcs.

In 1865 the extension of the London, Chatham and Dover Railway
trom Blackfriars to Farringdon Road formed a connecting link between
the great railways of the north and south, and at that time it was con-
fidently predicted that the mile of the Metropolitan Railway from
King’s Cross to Farringdon Road would by 1870 become the great
central artery for the internal traffic of the entire metropolis. It was
calculated that since the Metropolitan Railway was already carrying
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100,000 passcngers a day, it would be almost imstible to forecast the
amount of trafhic likely to pass through Farringdon Street in 1870, which
would then become a second Clapham Junction.

But this forecast never came true, and that route was so little used by
the travelling public that since the late war the trains hitherto running
from Blackfriars to Farringdon Road over the Southern Railway track
have been abolished, and to-day only goods traffic passes over this con-
necting link between north and south.

On the site of the old Cold Bath Ficlds House of Correction in
Farringdon Road, at the junction of Roscbery Avenuc, now stand the
modern buildings of the General Post Office, completed in 1900 and
sarcastically renamed Mount Pleasant, where provincial letters and
newspapers are sorted and dispatched. Cold Bath Ficlds derives its
name from a well of cold water formerly situated in ficlds built over
by the House of Correction in 1794. The latter was dismantled in 1887
to make way for the new post office buildings. It was constructed by
a Mr. Howard as an experiment in severe principles of discipline to
correct and reform convicted felons and hardened criminals.

At the junction of Farringdon Road with Clerkenwell Road is the
former Sessions House, now removed to South London, erccted in
1781 from the designs of Mr. Rogers. It has a stone front with columns
and pilasters of the Ionic order and stands on what was formerly a small
green, but is now a paved squarc on the hill slope. This building has
now been converted into offices. Closc by is the church of St. James,
built in 1788-92 on the site of an carlier church which formed the choir
of a Benedictine Nunnery founded in 1100 by Jordan Briset, and from
which Clerkenwell derived its name. Clerkenwell is the especial abode
of London clockmakers, working jewellers, and makers of mecteoro-
logical and mathematical instruments, and work entrusted to West End
jewellers is usually sent here to be exccuted.

In a hollow to the north of the church close to St. John Strect
formerly stood the Clerkenwell House of Detention, which was the
scene of the Fenian explosion of 13 December 1867, an outrage com-
mitted with the object of rescuing the prisoners Burke and Casey, in
which a part of the wall was blown down with a barrel of gunpowder
placed outside the prison. This building, which was first erected in 1775,
was rebuilt in 1847 and finally pulled down in 1890, and its site is now
occupicd by a London County Council School.

Clerkenwell Road, like Farringdon Road, is a modern thoroughfare
designed to provide a direct route from New Oxford Street to Shore-
ditch and the London Docks via Theobalds Road and Old Street. It
starts at Old Street, runs along the northern side of the Charterhouse
Grounds, past St. John Street to Farringdon Road, after which it
crosses a bridge over the Metropolitan Railway and leads thence to
Gray’s Inn Road opposite Theobalds Road. Clerkenwell Road was
opened in April 1878 by Sir J. M. Hogg, Chairman of the Metro-
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politan Board of Works, and the gross cost of this improvement
amounted to £1,600,000. It was cut through some of the worst slums
in London, with which Clerkenwell a century ago appears to have been
richly endowed, and it swallowed up a small thoroughfare running out
of Gray’s Inn Road, called Liquorpond Street.

In St. John’s Lane, south of Clerkenwell Road, stands the old gate-
way of the Knights of St. John. It is in the late Gothic style and was
buile by Prior Doewra in 1504. The rooms over the gate and the
adjoining modern hall are occupied by the St. John Ambulance
Association. In St. John’s Square north of the gate is St. John’s Church,
which was restored in 1901, but the courtyard of the priory was re-
moved in 1877 to make way for the construction of Clerkenwell Road.
In July 1845 St. John’s Gatc was pronounced a dangerous structure under
anew building Act, and notice was then given that unless it was put into
substantial repair it would be pulled down. A public subscription was
then invited to provide for its restoration, but for some time the amount
forthcoming was quite inadequate to meet the cost.

On the south side of Euston Road, between Gordon Street and Tavi-
ton Street, and close to that of the Society of Friends, a very handsome
new building is approaching completion. This is to be the Wellcome
Muscum of Surgery, which is being erected by Mr. Wellcome, of the
well-known firm of chemists Messts. Burroughs Wellcome & Co.
This building, which is faced with Portland stone, is adorned by a
handsome row of Ionic columns situated above the ground floor.

Immediately opposite, at the corner of Euston Square, is the equally
imposing building of the Naticnal Amalgamated Approved Socicety,
with a new extension facing Euston Road, which is also nearing com-
pletion, The changes effected in this part of Euston Road of late years
torm one of the most striking of Metropolitan improvements.

Amongst the latest buildings crected in Bloomsbury between 1931
and 1933 are the Jews’ College on the north-cast corner of Tavistock
Square and Upper Woburn Place, and the Witley Court, a handsome
block of shops and flats situated at the corner of Woburn Place and
Coram Strect.

On the south side of Guildford Street, an immense new building is
being crected for the Children’s Hospital. The adjoining Queen Square
at the back of Southampton Row, erected between 1709 and 1720 and
so named after Queen Anne, contains the London Homocopathic
Hospital, and the National Hospical for Discases of the Nervous System.
On the west side are the offices of the Conjoint Examining Board, and
on the south side is the Italian Hospital.



TENTH WALK

CHARING CROSS, TRAFALGAR SQUARE, HAYMARKET
LEICESTER SQUARE, COVENT GARDEN, LONG ACRE
ST. MARTIN’S LANE, SOHO, AND SHAFTESBURY AVENUE

CHARING cross, bounded on the east by the Strand, on the west by
Cockspur Street, and extending a few paces south into Whitchall,
shares with the Bank and chcadxlly Circus the distinction of being onc of
the threc great traffic centres of the metropolis. In the time of Edward I
it was merely a route hamlet, and heze was crected the last of the chirteen
crosses sct up to mark the resting-places of the body of his beloved
queen Eleanor on the journey to Westminster Abbey, where she was
buried. The bronze statuc of King Chailes I which faces Whitchall was
erected in its present situation at the expense of the Crown in 1676 after
the Restoration.

Trafalgar Square is so intimatcly associated with the everyday life
of the metropolis that it seems difficult to realize that this fine open
space, dcsxgncd between 1829 and 1841 as a kind of War Memorial to
the Nelson victories, is not yet a centuty old, and is some ten years
younger than chcadﬂly Circus. It was laid out on thessite of the King’s
Mews, erected in 1732 and once the Royal stables, together with a slum
arca which surrounded St. Martin’s Church, known as the Bermuda
and Caribbee Islands, and Porridge Island, famous for its cook-shops.
Nearer Charing Cross several mean buildings were also swept away for
the furcher enlargement of the square. It scems that there had previously
been an open space of sorts on this spot, but of very much smaller
dimensions. The fountains in the centre were designed in 1845 by Sir
Charles Barry and the statucs adorning the four corners of the square
arc those of Sir Henry Havelock, Sir Charles James Napier, General
Gordon, and George IV. In 1926 flag paving stones were laid down in
Trafalgar Square, according to the scheme originally planned by
Sit Charles Barry.

The Nelson Column in the centre was crected between 1840 and
1843, and was designed by Mr. William Railton. It is 176 fect high or
16 feet lower than the Monument, and is surmounted by a statue of
Nelson 17 feet high by Mr. E. H. Baily, R.A., which was placed in
position on 3 November 1843, aftcr a somewhat tardy recognition of
Britain’s great naval hero. The square pedestal is 36 feet in height and
contains representations of Nelson’s four great battles, and the four
gigantic lions at the base werc designed by Sir Edwin Landsecer. For
many years these lions, although constantly promised, were not forth-
coming, and they were only set up in 1868. This furnished the news-
papers with a standing jest which took the form of a suggestion that
the old lion which then crowned the top of Northumberland House
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had refused to acknowledge them as brethren. On the east side of the
square arc the offices of the South African Government, formerly
Morley’s Hotel and acquired in 1921. On this island site a magnificent
new building has recently been completed which is some six stories high
and faced with stonc. On the west side are the Canadian Government
offices, remodelled out of the former premises of the Union Club and
refaced with stone. Adjoining is the Royal College of Physicians at the
corner of Pall Mall East.

The National Gallery, fronting the north side of the square, had its
origin in the purchase in 1824 by Lord Liverpool’s Government of
the Angerstein Collection of thirty-eight pictures. The building was

erected berween 1832 and 1838 and has a length of 460 feet, but the
exterior is spoiled by its low clevation together with its insignificant
dome and pepper pots, whatever its claim to interior architectural merit
and appointments. Its Ionic portico was built with the columns removed
from the old Carlton House in Pall Mall. Originally both the National
collection and the Royal Academy were housed here, but in 1869 the
Academy was removed to Burlington House. The building was ex-
tended in 1866-7 on land at the back of the north side of Trafalgar
Square. The west side of the building was formerly joined to the build-
ings in Pall Mall, but in 1903 two of these houses were pulled down for
the purpose of isolating the National Gallery.

St. Martin’s Church, overlooking the north-east corner of Trafalgar
Square, replaced an carlier edifice and is noteworthy on account of its
handsome portico and lofty spire. It was begun in 1721 and completed
in 1726, when George I gave 100 guineas to the workmen in addition
to £;29,000 which he contributed towards the cost of the building and
to the organ. The entire cost was nearly /70,000, of which sum over
430,000 was granted by Parliament, the rest being made up by volun-
tary subscriptions.

By virtue of its size and its prominent situation in the centre of the
metropolis, Trafalgar Square soon became a popular centre for public
meetings and demonstrations, some of which were occasionally held in
defiance of the regulations prohibiting them. Perhaps the most memor-
able instance was that which occurred on Sunday, 13 November 1887,
resulting in a set conflict in which the Metropolitan Police, supported
by the Life Guards and the Grenadier Guards, successtully defended
Trafalgar Square against something like 20,000 men and youths who
had dcfied the legal prohibition to congregate there in processions with
their bands and flags for the purpose of holding a public meeting.

Sir Charles Warren, the Chief Commissioner, had issued a police
regulation, which had been posted up in all parts of the metropolis,
prohibiting any organized procession to approach the square on the
Sunday, and by one o’clock some 1,500 police had taken possession of
the square. In addition there were 300 of the Grenadier Guards behind
the National Gallery until 4 p.m., when they were brought out with
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Trafalgar Square, Sunday, November 13, 1887.

By courlesy of the Government of the Union of South Africa
The proposed offices of the Union of South Africa in Trafalgar Square.
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fixed bayonets to line the parapet adjoining the National Gallery. After
4 p.m. the 1st Life Guards were called out, and altogether Sir Charles
Warren kept the square clear by employing 4,000 constables in addition
to the 300 Grenadiers and the 300 Life Guards, who remained on duty
until past 6 p.m. in the cvening.

This imposing demonstration of force proving too much for the
demonstrators, they hooted and cursed the soldiers, who, nothing
daunted, dropped their rifles on the tocs of all who ventured ncar them
and struck them with their fists. Thus the square was soon cleared, and
by 6 p.m. all further disturbance was at an end, though not before some
1,500 persons had been conducted to the neighbouring hospitals for
surgical treatment. It was then announced that whilst meetings would
be prohibited in Trafalgar Square, they could be held without inter-
ference in Hyde Park, whercupon some 40,000 people, mostly idle
spcc;ators, availed themselves of this opportunity on the following
Sunday.

Trag’algar Square fifty years ago was also an open-air dormitory for
outcasts, who preferred to sleep in the open instcad of secking refuge in
the casual wards. As a general rule between 300 and 400 homeless of
both sexes were disturbed here shortly after midnight by a police
inspector who appeared with tickets for the Endcll Street Casual Ward.
The outcasts were then offercd the tickets with the alternative of being
charged under the Vagrancy Act if they persisted in remaining in the
square.

Some accepted the tickets but some preferred to go to other
quarters. The efforts of the Commissioners were to some extent
thwarted by the benevolent attentions of those persons who brought
tood to the vagrants and thus attracted people who would otherwise
have gone to the casual wards or common lodging houses. Only about
one-third of these people had any regular calling or occupation, and the
rest simply lived from day to day as best they could from childhood, and
could hardly explain how they had managed to exist for so long. About
30 per cent. of these people had come from the country in the hope of
finding employment in London. In the changed order of things pre-
vailing in our own day, coupled with the operation of the Unemployed
Insurance Act and the Labour Exchange, it scems wonderful that con-
ditions have been so greatly improved within the comparatively short
space of thirty years, despite the problems which still confront us in our
own generation.

The Admiralty Archway, giving access to the Mall, is approached by
a wide opening into Charing Cross at the south-west side of Trafalgar
Square, which involved the demolition of five houses. Together with
the Memorial in front of Buckingham Palace it forms part of the
National Memorial to Queen Victoria and was designed by Sir Aston
Webb. The rooms above form part of the premises of the Admiralty.
It was erectced in 1910, but the roadway into Charing Cross was only
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just completed in time for the Coronation Procession of King George V
on 22 June 1911,

On the island formed by Charing Cross, Spring Gardens, and the
Mall are the offices of the Canadian Pacific Railway Company, erected
in 1903, the West End offices of the Sun Insurance Company, and the
building occupicd by the Malay Government. At the opposite corner of
the Mall and Charing Cross is Drummond’s Bank, and the new White-
hall Theatre, erected on the site of the recently demolished Ship Tavern.
Immediately adjoining Martin’s Bank, two doors farther south, is
another large extension of the Admiralty, the ground-floor portion of
which is occupied by the banking premises of Messrs. Glyn Mills and
Company. It was completed in 1930, and replaced an ugly row of old
houscs with steps in front, which formerly contained H.M. Office of
Works. The new building is six storics high and faced with red brick.
In Spring Gardens are the old offices of the Mctropolitan Board of
Works, crected in 1861 and enlarged in 1890 at a cost of /10,000 and
until 1922 the head-quarters of the London County Council. The build-
ing is now uscd partly as offices and partly as a picture gallery.

Cockspur Street, which is the continuation westwards of Charing
Cross, originally consisted of small good-class shops, but since the dawn
of the present century has been almost entirely rebuilt and has become
the head-quarters in the West End of most of the principal stcamship
companies. On the south side are the offices of the Royal Mail, the
Cunard, and the P. and O. Companies, also those of the Compagnic
Générale Transatlantique, the Canadian National Railways, and the
imposing Norway House nine storics high, acquired by the Norwegian
Government as a semi-official centre, and formally opened by King
Haakon in 1911. On the opposite side of the strect, at the junction with
Pall Mall East, is the Occanic House erected in 1903, containing the
oftices of the White Star Line and associated Companies. The magni-
ficent new building next door is that of the Sun Life Insurance Company
of Canada. It was completed in 1929 and adjoins the Canadian Govern-
ment Offices in Trafalgar Squarc.

On the site of the Oceanic House there formerly stood a rather
imposing Nash building called Waterloo House, which fifty years ago,
betore the invasion of this neighbourhood by the various steamship
and railways companics, was occupied by a large drapery emporium,
Messrs. White, Pearce and Stone, which was afterwards merged into
the business of Messrs. Swan and Edgar, of Piccadilly Circus. In Pall
Mall East, next to the National Gallery, is the furniture emporium of
Messts. Hampton and Sons, and in Suffolk Strect is the United Uni-
versity Club, also fronting Pall Mall East. On the castern corner of the
Haymarket and Pall Mall is the Kinnaird House, containing a branch
of Barclays Bank, and on the western corner is the Carlton Hotel, the
two buildings together forming a very handsome approach to the Hay-
market, along which we will next direct our travels.



The Haymarket Opera House, afterwards Her Majesty’s Theatre,
erccted in 1790,

The Carlton Hotel an1 His Majesty’s Theatre, rebuilt in 1895.
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The Carlton Hotel, erected between 1897 and 1899, occupics the site
of the old Her Majesty’s Theatre, now rebuilt on the adjoining site at
the corner of Charles Street. The first theatre erected on this site was
opened as long ago as 1705, but this was destroyed by a fire in 1789, and
was reconstructed in 1790. At that time it was the largest theatre in
England, and together with the adjoining Opera Arcade was designed
by M. Novosielski. The front, which was distinguished on three sides by
a colonnade of the Roman Doric order, was completed in 1820 from
the designs of Mr. Nash and Mr. G. Repton, and the fourth side on the
west was occupicd by the arcade.

On 13 December 1867 Her Majesty’s Theatre was completcly
destroyed in less than an hour by a fire which broke out at cleven
o’clock at night. It scems that the firc-alarm was rather slow in com-
municating with the head-quarters of the brigade, then located in
Watling Street, and it was said that the alarm was not given until
twenty minutes past cleven, by which time the flames had attacked the
roof. By midnight the scene had become one of fearful grandeur, when
the roof collapsed amidst a shower of sparks and burning fragments
which fell like so much hail in front of the clubs in Pall Mall. Scveral
houses round the theatre were gutted, principally the shops in the
adjoining Opera Arcade. The principal sufferer was Mr. Graves, the
well-known engraver and print-scller in Pall Mall, whose spacious
galleries containing ancient and modern works of art collected during
forty years were destroyed.

When the theatre was rebuilt the original fagade was retained until
1895, when the cntire theatre was pulled down, and re-erccted on its
present site at the corner of Charles Strect. The new theatre, which is
faced with Portland stonc and crowned by a dome at the corner of
Charles Strect, is a great improvement on the old building. In carlier
times boxes at Her Majesty’s Theatre were let on lease, and in 1860 one
of those facing the stage, measuring 6 feet 7 inches by 9 feet deep, with
the right of admitting six persons nightly, was sold at the Auction Mart
with an unexpired term of thirty-one years for £44s.

The adjoining Carlton Hotel, opened in 1899, is fronted in the same
style as His Majesty’s Theatre, and is also crowned by a lofty dome at
the corner of the Haymarket and Pall Mall in such a way as to give these
two buildings the appearance of being one. The original Opera Arcade
has been left intact, and still maintains its old-fashioned appearance, but
it contains shops only on its western side. The vacant site of the Carlton
Hotel was utilized on the occasion of the Diamond Jubilee of Queen
Victoria in 1897 for the erection of a large stand to view the procession.

On the opposite side of the Haymarket, facing Charles Street, is the
Theatre Royal, originally built from the designs of Nash and opened
on 4 July 1821. It was completely rebuilt intcrnally about twenty-five
years ago, but the original Corinthian portico of six columns has, like
those of scveral other London theatres, been retained for reasons of
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sentiment. The adjoining well-known Pall Mall Restaurant has recently
been pulled down and is about to be rebuilt.

As its name implies, a market of hay was formerly held in this street,
but this was removed in 1830 to Cumberland Market near Regent’s
Park. Few streets in London have appreciated so much of late years as
the Haymarket. Half a century ago it was a second-rate strect, and in the
sixtics of last century was frequently the scene of drunkenness and dis-
orderly conduct at night time, when the public houses were still per-
mitted to remain open all night. The west side has been almost entirely
rcbuilt during the past thirty years and is now lined with stately
structures, including the Capitol Cinema and the Haymarket Hotel
on the two corners of Jermyn Street, and the Carlton Theatre, opened
in 1927. A new street called St. James’s Market was openced from the
Haymarket into Market Street in 1922 when the Capitol Cinema was
built. Several large modern buildings also adorn the opposite side of the
Haymarket, notably the Dewar House at the corner of Orange Street,
the premiscs of Messrs. Burberry’s, and Barclays Bank at the corner of
Panton Strect.

We now pass Piccadilly Circus on our left, which is fully dealt with
in our next chapter, and turn into Coventry Strect. This thoroughfare
was considerably widened on the south side in 1881, and several im-
portant buildings, such as that of thc Haymarket Stores, the Prince of
Walcs’s Theatre, and the club premises at the corner of Whitcomb Street,
now line this side of Coventry Street. The buildings on the north side
arc of much more recent construction and include Scott’s Restaurant
facing the Haymarket, the immense Lyons Corner House crected in
1908 at the corner of Rupert Strect, and greatly enlarged in 1920-3, the
Rialto Cinema, occupying the site of the old Globe Restaurant, de-
molished in 1911, and a branch of Lloyds Bank at the corner of Wardour
Strect. Rupert Street contains the well-known Florence Restaurant,
and in Wardour Street is Pinoli’s, another popular cating-house.

On the site of the extension of the Lyons Corner House formerly
stood a street called Arundel Place, which ended in a cul-de-sac. The
castern corner was occupied by Messts. Lambert, the silversmiths, now
removed to New Bond Street, and contained an interesting old Georgian
shop-front. At the top of this cul-de-sac were two well-known forcign
hotels called the Previtali and the Mathis, both noted for their excellent
cuisine and very popular with Spanish and South American visitors to
the metropolis. Interpreters on the staff of these two hotels placed them-
sclves at the disposal of forcign visitors unable to spcak English who
required a guide to conduct them round the shops in the West End and
assist them in their purchases.

A century ago there was no proper connecting street between
Coventry Street and St. Martin’s Lane, and although one was already
planned about 1825, it was not until 1845 that it was completed across
Leicester Square. The first section of the new street, 60 feet wide, was
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then named New Coventry Strect, and contained a handsome block of
buildings on the south side which was designed in 1845 by Mr. Charles
Mayhew. This was pulled down in 1926 to make way for the magni-
ficent new premises of the Automobile Association, which alse include
a branch of the Midland Bank on the ground floor. The famous Leicester
Lounge at the corner of Wardour Strcet and Coventry Street has been
abolished, and the premises now form a part of the large drapery estab-
lishment of Messrs. Stagg and Russcll.

On the opposite side of Leicester Square the extension of this new
thoroughfare is 54 feet wide and is called Cranbourn Street, and here the
original houses, many of which are still standing, were erccted from the
designs of Mr. Herbert of Pimlico, and for that period were regarded as
a meritorious specimen of street architecture. According to the Ilus-
trated London News, the Improvement Commissioners in July 1845
originally intended to continue this line of thoroughfare via Long Acre,
starting from the corner of Bow Street diagonally across Drury Lanc,
to Carcy Street, and thence across Chancery Lane through the Rolls
property midway between Holborn and Flect Street to Farringdon
Street, then passing under an arch to the wide part of the Old Bailey.

Leicester Square prior to 1608 was commonly known as Leicester
Ficlds, and was long a favourite resort of duellists. Leicester Housc,
from which it derives its name, stood on the north-east corner of the
square, and was built between 1632 and 1636 by Robert Sidney, Earl
of Leicester. This mansion was purchased by George II when Prince of
Wales after having quarrelled with his father and been ordered to quit
St. James's. It seems that George II had a similar quarrel with his son
Frederick, Prince of Wales, who took up his residence as his father had
done before him at Leicester House, and added another mansion imme-
diatcly westward called Savile House for his children. In 1777 a com-
munication was built between the two houses for the convenience of
the Royal Family. Here also Peter the Great was entertained in 1698.

In 1760 George I was proclaimed King in front of Savile House, and
in 1806 Leicester House was pulled down, and Lisle Street built on the
site of its gardens. Savile House, which occupied the site of the premises
of Messts. Stagg and Russell, was destroyed by fire on Tucsday, 28
February 1865, as the result of an explosion. On that occasion King
Edward VII, then Prince of Wales, accompanied by the Duke of
Sutherland, was present attired in fireman’s uniform.

In 1851 the ground on the square was leased for ten years to Mr.
Wyld, the geographer, for /3,000, who erected here a circular building
9o feet across, enclosing a globe 60 feet in diameter. Some 300 men were
employed on its construction for upwards of three wecks. On the re-
moval of Wyld’s Great Globe, in October 1862, after occupying the
square for ten years, the enclosure became exposed in all its barren
nakedness, and from that time down to 1874 its condition was a disgrace
to the metropolis. It became overgrown with weeds, and covered with

)
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rubbish such as tin pots, kettles, old clothes, cast-off shoes, dead cats and
dogs, and was an eyesore to every one forced to pass by it. Leicester
Square also contained a gilt equestrian statuc of George I, but this also
was neglected and allowed to fall into dccay, so that many pranks were
played upon this ill-fated monument, and even Punch made fun of it.
The statue had been relegated to a temporary retirement inside the
Great Globe of Mr. Wyld, and its reappearance made it the target of
practical jokers. It had even begun to fall to pieces and was kept up by
a wooden prop.

The disgraceful state of Leicester Square attracted the attention of
Parliament, and in November 1867 the Mctropolitan Board of Works
stepped in and obtained the right to take over Leicester Square on the
ground that owing to wilful neglect it had become a kind of ‘No
man’s land’. An action was tried in the Court of Queen’s Bench on
13 November 1867, as to whether the Board of Works had the power
to take charge of the enclosed garden. Unfortunately the decision went
in favour of Mr. Tulk the plaindff, whose family were the owners of
the garden, as well as the houscs fronting three sides, and who had not
only refused to reclaim the square himself, but had resisted every ofter
made by others who were willing to undertake the work.

In May 1872 Leicester Square was about to be sold by auction and it
was supposed that it would be purchased for building purposcs. The
rescrve price was fixed at £30,000 and the remains of the statue of
George I were sold by auction and fetched £16. In 1873 a Mr. Varques
acquired nearly the whole of one side of Leicester Square as a sitc for
a Continental Hotel, but was unable to proceed with its construction,
because in the meantime Chancery suits had been instituted by the
Committee for the Improvement of Leicester Square. Finally it was
restored and beautified by Mr. Albert Grant, M.P., at a cost of /28,000
and opened to the general public in July 1874. Out of this sum /13,000
was paid for the ground.

The principal ornament in the square is a white marble fountain
surmounted by a statuc of Shakespeare, and the trees newly planted in
1874 have now almost reached a state of maturity. The Alhambra
Theatre on the cast side of Leicester Square was built in the Moorish or
Arabesque style and was opened in 1852 as a place of popular instruction
after the style of the Polytechnic, and was first called the ‘Royal
Panopticum of Science and Art’. But this speculation proved a failure,
and the building was closed down for a time, and rcopened as a theatre
and a music hall under the name of the Alhambra. It remained in this
capacity until December 1929, since which time it has been utilized as
a picture theatre. The Cavour Restaurant on the same side of the square,
now rechristened the Café Anglais, enjoyed great fame and popularity
under the management of the late M. Philippe, its former proprietor,
who died about twenty-five years ago, after having amassed a fortune.
The tall building next door to the Alhambra was until very recently a
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picture house, but has now been converted into business premises,
doubtless because of the new competition from the Alhambra.

At the south-eastern corner is Archbishop Tenisen’s Grammar School,
moved from Castle Street at the back of the National Gallery and
erected here in 1872. The school is now closed down and the sice is for
sale, and doubtless a new building will be erected here in the near future.
On this site previously stood the house in which Hogarth settled in
1733, and herc after his dcath his widow lived until 1789. Hogarth’s
house afterwards became the Sablonnier Hotel which was kept by an
Italian named Pagliano and was largely frequented by foreigners until
it was pulled down in 1870.

All three of the other sides of Leicester Square having been practically
rebuilt during the past thirty years, very little remains to indicate what
the squarc looked like at the time when Mr. Albert Grant laid it out as
a public garden. The two handsome buildings situated on the corners of
Leicester Place were both erected in 1898. That on the west corner is the
Queen’s Hotel, and that on the east corner is now the head-quarters of
the National Society for the Prevention of Cruclty to Children, ex-
cepting the ground floor which contains a restaurant. This building was
for many ycars the Hotel and Café de I'Europe, and after the late war
it became the Victory Hotcl owned by Trust Houses, Ltd. This lattcr
venture proved a failure and in 1922 the building was purchased by the
N.S.P.C.C. for £60,000, who removed their offices here from another
building on the opposite side of the square.

Next door to the Queen’s Hotel is the new Empire Cincima, opened
in November 1928, and standing on the site of the former Empire
Theatre crected here in 1887. The final performance at this house took
place on the evening of 21 January 1927 when the popular American
musical comedy called Lady be Good completed its successtul run at the
Empire.

On the two corners of Leicester Street are the reconstructed drapery
premises of Messrs. Stagg and Russell. That on the wese side has
absorbed the old Leicester Lounge, a favourite resort so well known to
Londoners in pre-war days. The west side of the square contains the
St. John’s Hospital, rebuilt some twenty-five years ago, and the com-
modious premises of Messrs. Thurston’s, the billiard table manufacturers,
removed here from Newecastle Street, Strand, in 1901, owing to the
construction of Kingsway and Aldwych. One old house, formerly
the residence of Sir Joshua Reynolds, is still standing, and is now the
famous auction rooms of Messrs. Puttick and Simpson. On the south
side of Leicester Square is the new Dental Hospital at the corner of
St. Martin’s Street, erected about 1906, which replaced an carlier structure
opened in 1874, and opposite is the magnificent new Leicester Square
cinema, which has just been erected on the site of the old premises of
the N.S.P.C.C. Green Street, leading into Charing Cross Road, was
opened in 1860.
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Turning next into Cranbourn Street, on the north side, close to
Leicester Square, is Daly’s Theatre, for many years a centre of musical
comedy under the management of the late Mr. George Ed’wardes, but
now given over to comedy and drama. Just beyond Daly’s Theatre is
the London Hippodrome and the adjoining Cranbourn Mansions,
opened in 1900. .

At the junction of Cranbourn Street, Long Acre, and St. Martin’s
Lanc is Garrick Street, leading to King Strect, Covent Garden, and
opened on 20 February 1861. The construction of this new thoroughfare
involved the removal of a number of wretched hovels in Angel Court
and Rosc Street. Its principal building is the Garrick Club, instituted
in 1831 and removed here from King Street in July 1864. The club is
built in the Italian style and contains an interesting collection of theatri-
cal portraits which may be viewed at specified times on the personal
introduction of a member. At the corner of King Strect are the premises
of Messrs. Debenham and Storr, the auctioneers, erected in 1860.

King Street leads to Covent Garden Market, a corruption of Convent
Garden, and originally a private square formed about 1631 at the
expensc of Francis, Earl of Bedford, fiom the design of Inigo Jones,
though never actually completed or even, perhaps; designed in full. The
Piazza only lines the north and east sides of the square, whereas the west
side contains St. Paul’s Church, also built by Inigo Jones, and the south
side contains modern buildings which occupy the site of Bedford House
pulled down in 1704. The market is devoted to the sale of fruit, flowers,
and vegetables, and the buildings date from 1831, but have since been
much extended and improved. Five years ago it was proposed to move
Covent Garden Market to Bloomsbury, but this scheme was abandoned
owing to widespread opposition.

Some day, no doubt, if property becomes more valuable, Covent
Garden Market may possibly be transferred to another quarter of the
metropolis, but the time for such a change would still appear to be
somewhat remote. Should this removal eventually take place, it might
then be possible to construct a new thoroughfare to run diagonally
from Garrick Strect to the southern end of Wellington Strect, near the
Strand, and thus open up a new direct route from Piccadilly Circus
to the Strand and Waterloo Station without passing by Charing Cross.

The building on the north side of King Strect, overlooking Covent
Garden, until recently the head-quarters of the National Sporting Club,
is a fine old mansion of the Restoration period, which originally be-
longed to Sir Kenelm Digby, an cminent physician. Afterwards it
became the town residence of various notable people, and carly in the
nincteenth century Mr. W. C. Evans converted the dining-room of
this mansion into an attractive concert-hall with a stage and supper
tables. So successtul did this venture prove that Mr. Evans was enabled
to retire in 1844 with an ample fortune. It was afterwards taken over
by Mr. John Green, whose death occurred in the seventies. Several
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clubs then leased the premises after that time until 1892, when the
building became the home of the National Sporting Club. In 1911 the
theatre of the club was rebuilt and enlarged, and in 1929 the building
was disposed of by the National Sporting Club and is now being
converted into business premises.

Before the late war Covent Garden possessed several good hotels,
but most of these have been closed down and converted into business
premises. Prominent amongst these was the Tavistock Hotel, forming
the north-castern building of the Piazza at the corner of James Street,
which was much patronized by the theatrical profession. The former
Covent Garden Hotel on the south side has become a branch of Lloyds
Bank, and Hummums Hotel on the cast side is now Russell Chambers.
Burleigh Street, leading to the Strand, was first opened through from
Exeter Street to Tavistock Street on the south side of Covent Garden
in August 1859.

Passing into Bow Street, we next observe the Royal Opera House
on the west side, the third theatre which has been erected on this same
spot. The sccond theatre was opened in 1809 and was converted into an
Italian Opera House in 1847, but this was destroyed by fire on 5 March
1856. The present building, designed by Sir E. M. Barry, was erccted
in the short space of six months during 1858, and will accommodate
some 2,000 people. Bow Street police court on the opposite side of the
road has been the principal metropolitan station for upwards of a
century. Endell Street, the continuation of Bow Street northwards, was
opened in 1845 and leads to New Oxford Street.

We turn to the left into Long Acre. This busy thoroughfare is
principally occupied by wholesale fruit houses, but it also contains the
extensive building of the Odham Press at the corner of Endell Street,
and several large firms of motor-car dealers. It suffers from the draw-
back of being far too narrow for its requirements and is therefore
scheduled as a onc-way street.

At the southern end of Long Acre is St. Martin’s Lane, leading to
Trafalgar Squarc and containing the New Theatre and the Duke of
York’s Theatre on the west side, and the immense London Coliscum
on the east side, erected in 1905 at a cost of £150,000. At first the
Coliscum proved a failure and in 1907 was closed down for about
cighteen months, but in 1909 it was acquired by Sir Oswald Stoll, and
has since that time enjoyed unbroken popularity as a twice nightly house
of varicty entertainment. Quite recently the Coliseum ceased to be
a music-hall and is used as a theatre for light musical comedy. Upper
St. Martin’s Lanc, where the roadway is of much greater width, was
partly demolished in April 1847 in connexion with the formation of
Cranbourn Strect.

At the foot of St. Martin’s Lane is the Nurse Cavell Memorial,
designed by Sir George Frampton, R.A., and unveiled by Queen
Alexandra on 20 March 1920. Across the roadway bchind the National
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Gallery is a statue of Sir Henry Irving, unveiled in 1910. At the junction
of St. Martin’s Lane and Charing Cross Road is a branch of the West-
minster Bank, which adjoins the Westminster City Hall. The foundation-
stone of this building, which cost /24,000, was laid by King Edward
VII, when Prince of Wales, on 18 March 1890, but since that time it
has been considerably enlarged. The Free Library facing St. Martin’s
Lane was erccted at a cost of £/7,000 but has since been removed to a
ncw building in St. Martin’s Street.

Charing Cross Road, connecting Trafalgar Square with St. Giles’s
Circus, was compicted in 1887, and contains the Garrick Theatre next
door to the Westminster City Hall, opened in 1889, and Wyndham''s
Theatre, adjoining Cranbourn Street, erected in 1900. The majority of
the shops in the southern portion of Charing Cross Road are occupied
by sccondhand booksellers, and prominent amongst these is the estab-
lishment of Messts. Foyle, which claims to be the largest bookshop in
the world. In West Street, between Charing Cross Road and St.
Martin’s Lane, arc the St. Martin’s and the Ambassador’s Theatres,
crected between 1914 and 1916.

At the back of Cambridge Circus, which forms the junction of
Shaftesbury Avenue and Charing Cross Road, is the area known as
the Seven Dials, an unsalubrious but rapidly improving district built
on what was once ‘Cock and Pyc Fields’, from which radiate seven
minor streets, namely, Great Earl Strect, Little Earl Street, Great White
Lion Street, Little White Lion Street, Great St. Andrew’s Street, Little
St. Andrew’s Street, and Queen Street. It was so named because there
was formerly a column in the centre, on the summit of which were
scven sun-dials, onc facing cach of the strects. At the corner of Little
St. Andrew’s Street is the extensive Shaftesbury Hotel for men only,
which caters for people of slender resources, and at the corner of White
Lion Strect the new Cambridge Theatre has just been erccted.

In Cambridge Circus, at the corner of Shaftesbury Avenue, is the
Palace Theatre built for R. D’Oyly Carte by Mr. T. E. Colcutt. It
was opened as the Royal English Opera House on 31 January 1891,
with a great flourish of trumpets, when Sir Arthur Sullivan’s Grand
Opera Ivanhoe was produced for the first time. English people having
very littdde use for operatic performances this scheme failed to enlise
much public support, with the resule that in July of the following year
it was sold to Sir Augustus Harris, and the name of the house was changed
to the Palace Theatre. Since that time it has enjoyed a high reputation
as a varicty theatre, a house of musical comedy, and a cinema.

Shattesbury Avenue, connecting Piccadilly Circus with Hare Street,
Bloomsbury, was opcned in 1886, and together with the construction
of Cambridge Circus, Charing Cross Road, and the enlargement of
Piccadilly Circus formed the last of the great metropolitan street im-
provements carried out by the former Metropolitan Board of Works.
The story of Shaftesbury Avenue reveals a wasted opportunity of
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providing the West End of London with such a thoroughfare as might
have been the pride and glory of her citizens at the present day. Viewed
from that standpoint it was almost a pity that the construction of Shaftes-
bury Avenue was not delayed until after the creation of the London
County Council in 1889, as in that casc it would in all probubility have
taken the form of a noble avenue 100 feet wide, after the pattern of
Kingsway or Regent Street. Running diagonally from Piccadilly
Circus to New Oxford Street, it might have opened up a fine new
vista, resembling that of the superb Avenue de I'Opéra in Paris.

But instead of being planned on a gencrous scale, Shaftesbury Avenue
mercly took the form of a widening of the former King and Dudley
Streets, which were adapted to the width of the neighbouring thorough-
fares. The only portion of Shaftesbury Avenue comprising an entirely
new street is that between Piccadilly Circus and Rupert Street. The
nct result was that Shaftesbury Avenue was concelved on a most
niggardly scale, the north side being lined for many years by the
ragged buildings of King Street and Dudley Street, whilst buildings
of a very second-rate character were erected all along the south side,
the majority of which would look all the better for a cleaning with the
stcam-brush. In course of time the greater part of the buildings on
the north side were rebuilt, and several handsome theatres, notably
the Apollo, and the twin Globe and Queen’s Theatres, between Rupert
Street and Wardour Street, were erccted here, but even now unsightly
buildings covered with advertisement boards still proclaim Shaftes-
bury Avenue as the Cinderella amongst the leading West End thorough-
fares. East of Cambridge Circus the new Saville Theatre has just been
crected on the north side of Shaftesbury Avenue, and has replaced a
row of shabby houses extending to New Compton Street, which had
previously occupied that site.

The south side of Shaftesbury Avenue contains the world-famous
Trocadero Restaurant, openced in 1897 and afterwards greatly enlarged,
and also the Shaftesbury Theatre close to Charing Cross Road. Other-
wise this side of the avenue is almost entirely occupied by milliners’ and
dressmakers’ shops, which are so numerous that one wonders how all
of them can possibly obtain a living in the same street. Charing Cross
Road between Cambridge Circus and Oxford Street is a widening on
the east side of the former Crown Street, but thence to Cranbourn
Street and Trafalgar Square it is a new thoroughfare. Like all the new
London streets built during the past sixty years, Shaftesbury Avenue
and Charing Cross Road are provided with subways to accommodatc
the sewers and the gas and water pipes, thus obviating the necessity of
constantly pulling up the roadway.

Soho, the quarter enclosed by Wardour Street, Shaftesbury Avenue,
Charing Cross Road, and Oxford Street, is supposed by some people
to have derived its name from the watchword of the Duke of Mon-
mouth on the battle-ficld of Sedgemoor, and by others from So Hoe,
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the cry used to call off the harriers in the ficlds where the Lord Mayor
and members of the City Corporation occasionally hunted the hare in
the days when this district lay far beyond the outer limits of London.

To-day Soho is essentially the Italian quarter of London, and is noted
for its many cxccllent restaurants. Wardour Street, formerly known as
Princes Street, is now the principal centre of the film trade, and scveral
handsome buildings have been erected here of late years. On the east
side are the premiscs of Messrs. Novello and Company, dealers in
music, the newly crected Film House, and Abrahamson’s Kosher
Restaurant. On the west side are the premises of Messrs. Pathé Freres,
film dealers. This serect is in process of widening at the present time,
and at the back of Shaftesbury Avenuc a portion of the churchyard
of St. Anne’s, Soho, has been appropriated for that purpose. This hand-
some church, crowned by a tall spire, was erected in 1686, and dedicated
to the mother of the Virgin as a compliment to Princess Anne.

In Dean Street, leading out of Shaftesbury Avenue, is the Royalty
Theatre, formerly the Soho Theatre and built in 1840 as a school for
acting by Mr. F. Kelly. In Old Compton Street, at the corner of Greck
Strect, is the magnificent new Prince Edward Theatre, built of red and
yellow brick with a tall roof, after the style of some Italian palace, and
opened in April 1930. The names of Dean Street and Compton Strect
commemorate Bishop Compton, Dean of the Chapel Royal.

Continuing our travels through cither Greck Street or Frith Street,
running parallel, we shall next come to Soho Square, laid out in the
reign ot Charles IT and originally called Monmouth Square, from the
Duke of Monmouth having resided in a house in this square. In
September 1874 the residents of Soho Square expressed a desire to
throw open the central enclosure to the general public, and Mr. Albert
Grant, who had alrcady laid out Leicester Square, offered to do the
same thing for Soho Square, at an estimated cost of £7,000. He also
oftered to endow it with an annual income of £ 150 for its maintenance,
but how this gencrous offer failed to sccure the square for the public
the writer has not succeeded in finding out.

A similar offer on the part of the inhabitants or owners of Soho
Square in this year of grace 1931 would doubtless be much appreciated,
since there is no other open space available to the general public in this
densely peopled ncighbourhood. It scems inevitable that some day
Soho Square, like Leicester Square, will be destined to form part of a
new chain of thoroughfares running parallel to Oxford Street, in the
dircction of Regent Street. At the present moment, the absence of any
relief thoroughtfare to the narrow eastern end of Oxford Street within
a distance of a quarter of a mile constitutes a strangle-hold on the large
volume of trathc in this part of London. Frequently the traffic block
extends all the way from Tottenham Court Road westwards to Oxford
Circus, and southwards to Cambridge Circus.

The natural method of overcoming this difficulty would be to cut
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a new street from the castern end of Great Marlborough Strect by way
of Nocl Street, across Dcan Street and Carlisle Street, into Soho Square,
and thence to Charing Cross Road by a considerable widening of
Sutton Street. Thecostof thisimprovement mightamountto /1,000,000,
but it would be well worth the money. Since London has no objection
to spending twelve vmes that sum on the spectacular Charing Cross
Bridge, obviously this very badly needed improvementisentitled to the
scrious consideration of the London County Council and the West-
minster City Council. Whilst the construction of the new street would
involve the demolition of some newly erected buildings in Dean Strect
and Wardour Street, much of the cost would be recouped by the sale
of the building sites on the new line of frontage.

On the east side of Soho Square, at the corner of Sutton Street, is
the Romun Catholic Church of St. Patrick, and at the north-west
angle is the French Protestant Church. 